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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements
The information in this Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections
about Travelzoo Inc. and our industry. These forward-looking statements are subject to the many risks and uncertainties that exist in our operations and business
environment that may cause actual results, performance or achievements of Travelzoo to be different from those expected or anticipated in the forward-looking
statements. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as
“may”, “will”, “should”, “estimates”, “predicts”, “potential”, “continue”, “strategy”, “believes”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “expects”, “intends”, and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Travelzoo's actual results and the timing of certain events could differ significantly from those
anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this
Report in Part I Item 1A and the risks discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings. The forward-looking statements included in
this Report reflect the beliefs of our management on the date of this Report. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any
reason, even if new information becomes available or other events or circumstances occur in the future.
Item 1. Business
Overview
Travelzoo Inc. (the “Company” or “Travelzoo”) is a global media commerce company. We inform over 28 million members in Asia Pacific, Europe and
North America, as well as millions of website users, about the best travel, entertainment and local deals available from thousands of companies. Our deal experts
source, research and test-book offers, recommending only those that meet Travelzoo's rigorous quality standards. We provide travel, entertainment, and local
businesses with a fast, flexible, and cost effective way to reach millions of consumers. Our revenues are generated primarily from advertising fees.
We attract a high-quality audience of travel and leisure enthusiasts across multiple digital platforms, including e-mail, web, social media and mobile
applications. Our e-mail newsletters are published in 11 countries worldwide. Travelzoo’s website is visited by 8.4 million unique visitors each month. We reach
an audience of over 60 million Internet users each month via the Travelzoo Network, a network of websites that syndicate our deal content, including The Los
Angeles Times and The Chicago Tribune. We have over 3.2 million followers on Facebook and Twitter. Our mobile applications have been downloaded 4.7
million times.
Our publications and products include the Travelzoo websites (travelzoo.com, travelzoo.ca, travelzoo.co.uk, travelzoo.de, travelzoo.es, travelzoo.fr,
cn.travelzoo.com, travelzoo.co.jp, travelzoo.com.au, travelzoo.com.hk, travelzoo.com.tw, among others), the Travelzoo iPhone and Android applications, the
Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, and the Newsflash e-mail alert service. We operate SuperSearch , a pay-per-click travel search tool, and the Travelzoo
Network , a network of third-party websites that list deals published by Travelzoo. Our Travelzoo websites include Local Deals and Getaway listings that allow our
members to purchase vouchers for deals from local businesses such as spas, hotels and restaurants. We receive a percentage of the face value of the voucher from
the local businesses. We also operate Fly.com , a travel search engine that allows users to quickly and easily find the best prices on flights from hundreds of airlines
and online travel agencies.
On August 20, 2015 we acquired the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business (“Asia Pacific”), which includes the Travelzoo businesses in Australia, China, Hong
Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. This business was independently operated by Azzurro Capital Inc. ("Azzurro") under a licensing agreement with
Travelzoo Inc. Azzurro was the majority stockholder of the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business. Travelzoo Inc. accounted for the acquisition as a common control
transaction and change in reporting entity. The financial results for Travelzoo Inc. have been retrospectively adjusted to include the financial results of Asia Pacific
in the current and prior periods as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of each period presented. The Asia Pacific assets and liabilities have been
combined with Travelzoo Inc. at their carrying values as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of each period presented. The Asia Pacific transaction
proceeds were reflected as an equity transaction, included in retained earnings, during the period the transaction occurred, which was in the year ended
December 31, 2015 . See Note 13 to the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for further information on the acquisition of Asia
Pacific.
More than 2,000 companies use our services, including Air New Zealand, Apple Vacations, British Airways, Cathay Pacific Airways, Expedia, Fairmont
Hotels and Resorts, Hawaiian Airlines, InterContinental Hotels Group, Interstate Hotels & Resorts, Lufthansa, Key Tours International, Liberty Travel, Princess
Cruises, Singapore Airlines, Solar Tours, Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Travelocity, United Airlines, Vacation Express and Virgin America.
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Our revenues are advertising revenues, consisting primarily of listing fees paid by travel, entertainment and local businesses to advertise their offers on
Travelzoo's media properties. Listing fees are based on audience reach, placement, number of listings, number of impressions, number of click-throughs, number
of referrals, or percentage of the face value of vouchers sold. Insertion orders are typically for periods between one month and twelve months and are not
automatically renewed. Merchant agreements for Local Deals and Getaway advertisers are typically for twelve months and are not automatically renewed.
We have three operating segments based on geographic regions: Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. Asia Pacific consists of our operations in
Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. Europe consists of our operations in France, Germany, Spain, and the U.K. North America
consists of our operations in Canada and the U.S. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , Asia Pacific operations were 8% of revenues and European operations
were 30% of revenues. Financial information with respect to our business segments and certain financial information about geographic areas appears in Note 12 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Our principal business office is located at 590 Madison Avenue, 37th Floor, New York, New York 10022.
Ralph Bartel, who founded Travelzoo and who is a Director of the Company, is the sole beneficiary of the Ralph Bartel 2005 Trust, which is the controlling
shareholder of Azzurro Capital Inc. ("Azzurro"). As of December 31, 2015 , Azzurro is the Company's largest stockholder, holding approximately 51.2% of the
Company's outstanding shares.
As of December 31, 2015 , there were 14,518,655 shares of common stock outstanding.
Travelzoo is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “TZOO.”
Our Industry
Our mission is to provide our audience with the highest quality information about the best travel, entertainment and local deals. We believe there is a
sizable travel and entertainment industry that we participate in that provides an opportunity to find high quality deals for our members and users. Direct spending
on leisure travel in the United States by domestic and international travelers is expected to rise by 4.3% per year to $1,027 billion in 2025 and 78% of the domestic
trips were taken for leisure purposes, according to the U.S. Travel Association. Travel & Tourism produced $7.6 trillion in value (10% of global GDP) for the
global economy in 2014. Visitors from emerging economies now represent a 46% share of these international arrivals (up from 38% in 2000), according to the
World Travel & Tourism Council. In addition, we believe that we are well positioned with our operations in Asia, Europe and North America to capture high
quality deals for our members and users.
While our mission is to provide our audience with the highest quality information about the best travel, entertainment and local deals, our revenues are
generated from advertising fees. According to the Kelsey Group's (BIA/Kelsey) new U.S. Local Media Forecast 2016, BIA/Kelsey forecasts total local media
revenues to reach $146.6 billion in 2016. Online/digital will grow to $42.6 billion or 29.1% of total local media revenues in 2016. We believe that traditional media
outlets such as newspapers, television and radio continue to be another medium for travel, entertainment and local businesses to advertise their offers, though the
percentage spent on advertising in these traditional media outlets is decreasing. In addition, the continued rise in smart phones has changed the business rules for
online marketing, with the consumption of online advertising rapidly moving to mobile devices. BIA/Kelsey anticipates that location-targeted mobile advertising
revenues will grow from $8.5 billion in 2015 to $11.3 billion in 2016 and local social media revenues will grow from $2.4 billion in 2015 to $3.3 billion in 2016.
We believe that several factors are causing and will continue to cause travel, entertainment and local businesses to increase their spending on Internet and
mobile advertising of offers:
The Internet Is Consumers' Preferred Information Source. Market research shows that the Internet has become consumers' preferred
information source for travel.
Benefits of Internet Advertising vs. Print, TV and Radio Advertising. Internet advertising provides advertisers advantages compared to
traditional advertising. These advantages include real-time listings, real-time updates, and performance tracking. See “Benefits to Travel,
Entertainment and Local Businesses” below.
New Advertising Opportunities. The Internet allows advertisers to advertise their sales and specials in a fast, flexible, and cost-effective
manner that has not been possible before.
Suppliers Selling Directly. We believe that many travel suppliers prefer to sell directly to consumers through suppliers' websites versus
selling through travel agents. Internet advertising attracts consumers to suppliers' websites.
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Mobile advertising extends our products and services by providing mobile-specific features to mobile device users. Mobile advertising is still
in its early stage, though mobile devices are quickly becoming the world's newest gateway for information. We are focused on developing easy-to-use
mobile applications to help advertisers extend their reach, help create revenue opportunities for our advertisers, and deliver relevant and useful ads to
users on the go. We continue to invest in improving users' access to our services through such devices.
Problems Travel, Entertainment and Local Businesses Face and Limitations of Newspaper, TV and Radio Advertising
We believe that travel, entertainment and local businesses often face the challenge of being able to effectively and quickly market and sell their excess
inventory (i.e. airline seats, hotel rooms, cruise cabins, theater seats, spa appointments or restaurant seats that are likely to be unfilled). The success of marketing
excess inventory can have a substantial impact on a company's profitability. Almost all costs of these services are fixed. That is, the costs do not vary significantly
with sales. A relatively small amount of unsold inventory can have a significant impact on the profitability of a company.
We believe that travel, entertainment and local businesses need a fast, flexible, and cost-effective solution for marketing excess inventory. The solution must
be fast, because services are a quickly expiring commodity. The period between the time when a company realizes that there is excess inventory and the time when
the service has become worthless is very short. The solution must be flexible, because the demand for excess inventory is difficult to forecast. It is difficult for
travel, entertainment and local businesses to price excess inventory and to forecast the marketing effort needed to sell excess inventory. The marketing must be
cost-effective, because excess inventory is often sold at highly discounted prices, which lowers margins.
We believe that newspaper, TV and radio advertising, with respect to advertising excess inventory, suffers from a number of limitations which do not apply
to the Internet:
•

typically, ads must be submitted 2 to 5 days prior to the publication or airing date, which makes it difficult to advertise last-minute inventory;

•

once an ad is published, it cannot be updated or deleted when an offer is sold out;

•

once an ad is published, the company cannot change a price or offer;

•

in many markets, the small number of newspapers, television companies, radio stations and other print media reduces competition, resulting in high
rates for traditional advertising;

•

offline advertising does not allow for detailed performance tracking; and

•

creative content can be very expensive to develop.

Our Products and Services
We provide airlines, hotels, cruise lines, vacation packagers, other travel suppliers, entertainment and local businesses with a fast, flexible, and cost-effective
way to reach millions of Internet users. Our publications include the Travelzoo websites, the Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, the Newsflash e-mail alert
service, and the Local Deals and Getaway e-mail alert services. We operate SuperSearch, a pay-per-click travel search tool and the Travelzoo Network , a network
of third-party websites that list deals published by Travelzoo. We also operate Fly.com , a travel search engine that enables users to find and compare the best flight
options from multiple sources, including airline and online travel agency websites. While our products provide advertising opportunities for travel, entertainment
and local businesses, they also provide Internet users with a free source of information on current sales and specials from thousands of travel, entertainment and
local businesses.
As travel, entertainment and local businesses increasingly utilize the Internet to promote their offers, we believe that our products will enable them to take
advantage of the lower cost and real-time communication enabled by the Internet. Our listing management software allows our advertisers to add, update, and
delete special offer listings on a real-time basis. Our software also provides our advertisers with real-time performance tracking, enabling them to optimize their
marketing campaigns. Mobile advertising extends our products and services by providing mobile-specific features to mobile device users. We are focused on
developing easy-to-use mobile applications to help advertisers extend their reach, help create revenue opportunities for our customers, and deliver relevant and
useful ads to users on the go. We continue to invest in improving users' access to our services through such devices. In addition, we continue to develop our hotel
booking platform, which enables our users to more easily book hotel stays using our hotel deals presented on our website and mobile devices.
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The following table presents an overview of our products:
Publication
Product

Schedule

Content

Reach/Usage*

Advertiser Benefits

Consumer Benefits

Travelzoo websites

Websites in the U.S.,
Canada, France, Germany,
Spain, and the U.K. listing
thousands of outstanding
sales and specials from
more than 2,000 travel,
entertainment and local
businesses

24/7

8.4 million unique visitors
per month

Broad reach, sustained
exposure, targeted
placements by destination
and travel segment

24/7 access to deals,
ability to search and browse
by destination or keyword

Travelzoo Top 20

Popular e-mail newsletter
listing 20 of the week's most
outstanding deals

Weekly

28.0 million members

Mass “push” advertising
vehicle to quickly stimulate
incremental travel and
entertainment purchases

Weekly access to 20
outstanding, handpicked
deals chosen from among
thousands

Newsflash

Regionally-targeted e-mail
alert service with a single
time-sensitive and
newsworthy travel and
entertainment offer

Within two
hours of an
offer being
identified

26.0 million members

Regional targeting, 100%
share of voice for
advertiser, flexible
publication schedule

Breaking news offers
delivered just-in-time

Local Deals and Getaway

Locally-targeted e-mail alert
service with a single timesensitive and newsworthy
offer from local merchants
such as spas and restaurants

Twice per
week in
active
markets

Over 197 local markets

Local targeting by zip
code,100% share of voice
for the local businesses,
flexible publication
schedule

Breaking news offers
delivered just-in-time

Travelzoo Network

A network of third-party
websites that list
outstanding deals published
by Travelzoo

24/7

Over 380 third-party
websites

Drives qualified users with
substantial distribution
beyond the Travelzoo
audience

Contextually relevant travel
deals that have been
handpicked and
professionally reviewed

Travelzoo Mobile
Applications

iPhone and Android
applications that allow users
to discover the best Travel,
Entertainment and Local
Deals.

On-demand

4.7 million downloads

Allows Travel,
Entertainment and Local
Deals advertisers to reach
our audience that is on the
go.

24/7 access to Travel,
entertainment and Local
Deals for consumers that are
on the go.

SuperSearch

Travel search tool using a
proprietary algorithm to
recommend sites and enable
one-click searching

On-demand

3.0 million monthly
searches

Drives qualified traffic
directly to advertiser site on
a pay-per-click basis

Saves time and money by
recommending the sites
most likely to have great
rates for a specific itinerary

Fly.com

Travel search engine that
enables users to find and
compare the best flight,
hotel and rental car options
from multiple sources

On-demand

1.6 million monthly
searches

Provides advertisers a low
cost distribution channel
and retention of the user
engagement on the
advertiser's website

Free access to real-time
price comparisons from
airlines and online travel
agencies

* For Travelzoo websites, reach information is based on data from Google Analytics. For Top 20, Newsflash, Local Deals and Getaway, Travelzoo Network,
SuperSearch, Fly.com and Travelzoo mobile applications, reach/usage information is based on internal Travelzoo statistics as of December 31, 2015 .
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Our Audience
We attract a high-quality audience of travel and leisure enthusiasts across multiple digital platforms, including e-mail, web, social media and mobile apps.
We inform our audience about travel, entertainment and local deals available at over 2,000 companies. Our e-mail newsletters are published in 11 countries
worldwide. Travelzoo’s website is visited by 8.4 million unique visitors each month. We reach an audience of over 60 million Internet users each month via the
Travelzoo Network, a network of websites that syndicate our deal content, including The Los Angeles Times and The Chicago Tribune. We have over 3.2 million
followers on Facebook and Twitter. Our mobile applications have been downloaded 4.7 million times.
Benefits to Travel, Entertainment and Local Businesses
Our advertisers benefit from accessing our large high-quality audience. Due to the nature of our content, we attract an older, wealthier demographic who have a
strong interest in travel and leisure.
Key features of our solution for travel and entertainment companies include:
•

Real-Time Listings of Special Offers. Our technology allows travel and entertainment companies to advertise special offers on a real-time basis.

•

Real-Time Updates. Our technology allows travel and entertainment companies to update their listings on a real-time basis.

•

Real-Time Performance Reports. We provide travel and entertainment companies with real-time tracking of the performance of their advertising
campaigns. Our solution enables travel and entertainment companies to optimize their campaigns by removing or updating unsuccessful listings and
further promote successful listings.

•

Access to Millions of Consumers. We provide travel and entertainment companies fast access to over 28 million travel shoppers.

•

Global Reach. We offer access to Internet users in Australia, Canada, China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan, Southeast Asia, Spain, Taiwan, the
U.K and U.S.

Key features of our solution for local businesses include:
•

Real-Time Listings of Special Offers. Our technology allows local businesses to advertise special offers on a real-time basis.

•

Real-Time Performance Reports. We provide local businesses with real-time tracking of the performance of their advertising campaigns.

•

Access to Local Consumers. Travelzoo members submit their zip code to Travelzoo when they join Travelzoo. As a result, we are able to send Local
Deals to members who live or work near the local businesses.

Benefits to Consumers
Our Travelzoo websites (travelzoo.com, travelzoo.ca, travelzoo.co.uk, travelzoo.de, travelzoo.es, travelzoo.fr, cn.travelzoo.com, travelzoo.co.jp,
travelzoo.com.au, travelzoo.com.hk, travelzoo.com.tw, among others), Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, Newsflash, Local Deals, Getaway, the Travelzoo
Network, SuperSearch search tool, and Fly.com search engine provide consumers information on current offers at no cost to the consumer. Key features of our
products include:
•

Aggregation of Offers from Many Companies. Our Travelzoo websites and our Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter aggregate information on current
offers from more than 2,000 travel, entertainment and local businesses. This saves the consumer time when searching for travel, entertainment and
local deals, sales and specials.

•

Current Information. Compared to newspaper, TV or radio advertisements, we provide consumers more current information, since our technology
enables travel, entertainment and local businesses to update their listings on a real-time basis.

•

Reliable Information. We operate a Test Booking Center to check the availability of travel, entertainment and local deals before publishing.

•

Search Tools. We provide consumers with the ability to search for specific offers.

Growth Strategy
Our growth strategy relies on building a travel and lifestyle brand with a large, high-quality user base and offering our users products that keep pace with
consumer preference and technology, such as the trend towards mobile usage by consumers.
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•

Building a travel and lifestyle brand with a large, high-quality user base. We believe that it is essential to establish a strong brand with a large, highquality user base within the travel, entertainment and local industries we serve. We currently utilize online marketing and direct marketing to promote
our brand to consumers. We utilize sponsorships at industry conferences and public relations to promote our brand. We believe that high-quality
content attracts a high-quality user base.

•

Offering products that keep pace with consumer preference and technology. We believe it is important to grow engagement of our user base, by
offering products that deliver high-quality deals with exceptional value and expanding our product offering over time to address frequent travel and
leisure needs, including the desire to access our content via mobile devices and to search and book hotels via a hotel booking platform.

Advertisers
As of December 31, 2015 , our advertiser base included more than 2,000 travel, entertainment and local businesses, including airlines, hotels, cruise lines,
vacations packagers, tour operators, destinations, car rental companies, travel agents, theater and performing arts groups, restaurants, spas, and activity companies.
Some of our advertisers are:
Ace the Himalaya

Interstate Hotels & Resort

AirAsia

Jet Luxury Resorts

Air New Zealand

Key Tours International

Atlantis, Paradise Island, Bahamas
Liberty Travel
Apple Vacations

Lufthansa

British Airways

Mandalay Bay Resort and Casino

Cathay Pacific Airways

Park Hyatt Siem Reap

Cirque du Soleil

Pleasant Holidays

Delta Air Lines

Priceline

Expedia

Princess Cruises

Fairmont Hotels and Resorts

Singapore Airlines

Fareportal

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide

Hawaiian Airlines

TripAdvisor

Hong Kong Tourism Board

United Airlines

Hotwire

Vacation Express

Iceland Air

Virgin America

InterContinental Hotels Group

Windstar Cruises

As discussed in Note 12 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, we did not have any advertisers that accounted for 10% or more of our total
revenues during the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 . The agreements with certain advertisers are in the form of multiple insertion orders and
merchant agreements from groups of entities under common control. It is possible that we may have an advertiser or advertisers that account for 10% or more of
our total revenues in future years because management believes there is a high concentration in the online travel agency industry.
In 2015 , 8% of our total revenues were generated from our Asia Pacific operations, 30% of our total revenues were generated from our European operations
and 62% of our total revenues were generated from our North America operations. See Note 12 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Sales and Marketing
As of December 31, 2015 , our advertising sales force and sales support staff consisted of 168 employees worldwide. We intend to grow our advertiser base
by expanding over time the size of our sales force.
We currently utilize online marketing and direct marketing to promote our brand to consumers. In addition, we utilize an online marketing program to
acquire new members for our e-mail publications. We believe that we build brand awareness by product excellence that is promoted by word-of-mouth. We utilize
sponsorships at industry conferences and public relations to promote our brands.
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Technology
We have designed our technology to serve a large volume of Web traffic and send a large volume of e-mails in an efficient and scalable manner.
We co-locate our production servers with Equinix, Inc. (“Equinix”), a global provider of hosting, network, and application services. Equinix's facilities
include features such as power redundancy, multiple egress and peering to other ISPs, fire suppression and access to our own separate physical space. We believe
our arrangements with Equinix will allow us to grow without being limited by our own physical and technological capacity, and will also provide us with sufficient
bandwidth for our anticipated needs. Because of the design of our websites, our users are not required to download or upload large files from or to our websites,
which allows us to continue increasing the number of our visitors and page views without adversely affecting our performance or requiring us to make significant
additional capital expenditures.
Competition
We compete for advertising dollars with large Internet portal sites such as MSN and Yahoo! that offer listings or other advertising opportunities to travel,
entertainment and local businesses. We compete with search engines like Google and Bing that offer pay-per-click listings. We compete with travel meta-search
engines like Kayak and online travel and entertainment deal publishers. We compete with large online travel agencies like Expedia, Priceline and TripAdvisor that
also offer advertising placements, airline travel comparisons, hotel booking and capture consumer interest. We compete with companies like Groupon, Amazon,
Gilt City and LivingSocial that sell vouchers for deals from local businesses such as spas, hotels, restaurants and activity companies. We expect to face increased
competition from other Internet and technology-based businesses such as Google and Amazon, each of which has launched initiatives which are directly
competitive to our Local Deals and Getaway products. In addition, we compete with newspapers, magazines and other traditional media companies that operate
websites which provide advertising opportunities. We expect to face additional competition as other established and emerging companies, including print media
companies, enter our market. We believe that the primary competitive factors are price, performance and audience quality.
Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and
larger advertiser bases than we do. In addition, current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships to expand
their businesses or to offer more comprehensive solutions.
New technologies could increase the competitive pressures that we face. The development of competing technologies by market participants or the
emergence of new industry standards may adversely affect our competitive position. Competition could result in reduced margins on our services, loss of market
share or less use of our products by our advertisers and consumers. If we are not able to compete effectively with current or future competitors as a result of these
and other factors, our business could be materially adversely affected.
Government Regulation and Legal Uncertainties
There are increasing numbers of laws and regulations pertaining to the Internet, including laws and regulations relating to user privacy, liability for
information retrieved from or transmitted over the Internet, online content regulation, and domain name registration. Moreover, the applicability to the Internet of
existing laws governing issues such as intellectual property ownership and infringement, copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret, obscenity, libel and personal
privacy is uncertain and developing.
Privacy Concerns. We are subject to a number of privacy and similar laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate and these laws and
regulations will likely continue to evolve over time, both through regulatory and legislative action and judicial decisions. Complying with these varying national
requirements could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business and violations of privacyrelated laws can result in significant penalties. We post on our websites our privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use and disclosure of user
data. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any regulatory requirements or orders or other federal, state or
international privacy laws and regulations could result in proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others, subject us to penalties and negative
publicity, require us to change our business practices, and increase our costs and adversely affect our business.
Anti-Spam Legislation. The CAN-SPAM Act, a federal anti-spam law, pre-empts various state anti-spam laws and establishes a single standard for e-mail
marketing and customer communications. We believe that this law, on an overall basis, benefits our business as we do not use spam techniques or practices and
may benefit now that others are prohibited from doing so.
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Domain Names . Domain names are the user's Internet “addresses.” The current system for registering, allocating and managing domain names has been the
subject of litigation and of proposed regulatory reform. We have registered travelzoo.com, travelzoo.ca, travelzoo.co.jp, travelzoo.com.au, travelzoo.com.tw,
travelzoo.co.uk, travelzoo.de, travelzoo.fr, weekend.com, and weekends.com, among other domain names, and have registered “Travelzoo” as a trademark in the
United States, Canada, and the European Union. In January 2009, we purchased the domain name Fly.com . Because of these protections, it is unlikely, yet
possible, that third parties may bring claims for infringement against us for the use of our domain name and trademark. In the event such claims are successful, we
could lose the ability to use our domain names. There can be no assurance that our domain names will not lose their value, or that we will not have to obtain
entirely new domain names in addition to or in lieu of our current domain names if changes in overall Internet domain name rules result in a restructuring in the
current system of using domain names which include “.com,” “.net,” “.gov,” “.edu” and other extensions.
Jurisdictions. Due to the global nature of the Internet, it is possible that, although our transmissions over the Internet originate primarily in California, the
governments of other states and foreign countries might attempt to regulate our business activities. In addition, because our service is available over the Internet in
multiple states and foreign countries, these jurisdictions may require us to qualify to do business as a foreign corporation in each of these states or foreign
countries, which could subject us to additional taxes and other regulations.
Intellectual Property
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the protection of our brand names, including Travelzoo and Top 20. If we were unable to protect the
Travelzoo and Top 20 brand names, our business could be materially adversely affected. We rely upon a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws
to protect our intellectual property rights. We have registered the Travelzoo and Top 20 trademarks, among others, with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office. We have registered the Travelzoo and Travelzoo Top 20 trademarks with the Office for Harmonization in the Internal Market of the European Community.
We have registered the Travelzoo trademark in Australia, Canada, China, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea, and Taiwan. The steps we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights, however, may not be adequate to deter misappropriation of proprietary information.
We may not be able to detect unauthorized use of our proprietary information or take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. In addition,
the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving. The laws of other countries
in which we may market our services in the future are uncertain and may afford little or no effective protection of our intellectual property.
Employees
As of December 31, 2015 , we had 473 employees in Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. None of our employees are represented under collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relations with our employees to be good.
Internet Access to Other Information
We make available free of charge, on or through our website (www.travelzoo.com), annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and
current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as well
as proxy statements, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Information included on our website
does not constitute part of this report.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Any or all of the risks listed below as well as other variables affecting our operating results
could have a material adverse effect on our business, our quarterly and annual operating results or financial condition, which could cause the market price of our
stock to decline or cause substantial volatility in our stock price, in which event the value of your common stock could decline. You should also keep these risk
factors in mind when you read forward-looking statements.
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Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Business Model
We cannot assure you that we will be profitable.
In the years ended December 31, 2015 , and 2014 , we generated a net income of $10.9 million and $13.1 million, respectively. In the year ended
December 31, 2013 , we incurred a net loss of $6.6 million. Although we were profitable in 2015 and 2014 , there is no assurance that we will continue to be
profitable in the future. We forecast our future expense levels based on our operating plans and our estimates of future revenues. We may find it necessary to
significantly accelerate expenditures relating to our sales and marketing efforts or otherwise increase our financial commitment to creating and maintaining brand
awareness among Internet users and advertisers. We may also make investments in our products as well as develop new products that may impact our profitability.
If our revenues grow at a slower rate than we anticipate, or if our spending levels exceed our expectations or cannot be adjusted to reflect slower revenue growth,
we may not generate sufficient revenues to be profitable. Any of these developments could result in a significant decrease in the trading price of our common
stock.
Fluctuations in our operating results may negatively impact our stock price.
Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a variety of factors that could affect our revenues or our expenses
in any particular period. You should not rely on quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our results of operations as an indication of future performance. Factors that may
affect our quarterly results include:
•

mismatches between resource allocation and client demand due to difficulties in predicting client demand in a new market;

•

changes in general economic conditions that could affect marketing efforts generally and online marketing efforts in particular;

•

the magnitude and timing of marketing initiatives, including our acquisition of new members and our expansion efforts in other regions;

•

the introduction, development, timing, competitive pricing and market acceptance of our products and services and those of our competitors;

•

our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

•

our ability to manage our planned growth;

•

our ability to attract users to our websites, which may be adversely affected by the audience shift to mobile devices;

•

technical difficulties or system downtime affecting the Internet generally or the operation of our products and services specifically; and

•

volatility of our operating results in new markets.

We may significantly increase our operating expenses related to advertising campaigns for the Travelzoo and Fly.com brands, as well as our hotel booking
platform, for a certain period if we see a unique opportunity for a brand marketing campaign, if we find it necessary to respond to increased brand marketing by a
competitor, or if we decide to accelerate our acquisition of new members.
If revenues fall below our expectations in any quarter and we are unable to quickly reduce our operating expenses in response, our operating results would be
lower than expected and our stock price may fall.
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Our expansion of our product offering to include Local Deals and Getaway formats and the addition of a hotel booking platform may result in additional costs
that exceed revenue and may trigger additional stock volatility.
Our Local Deals and Getaway formats of advertising include the sale of vouchers directly to consumers to advertise promotional deals provided by
merchants.
For example, a consumer could buy a voucher for $99 for a dinner for two at a merchant’s restaurant that would normally be valued at $199, representing a
promotional value of $100 to the consumer. This format may require investments to maintain and grow the business including additional sales force hiring,
building a customer service organization, marketing, technology tracking systems and payment processing. This format, introduced to the market in recent years,
has resulted in many competitors entering the marketplace, thereby creating a very competitive marketplace. This competitive landscape along with the required
investments to start, maintain and grow this format create a risk that our costs may exceed our revenues in the short and long term, which may materially impact
our results of operation and financial condition. Operating this format may introduce additional volatility to our stock price due to the performance of this format
by the Company and/or the overall market valuations that are being determined by the market for companies operating this format of advertising. Moreover, the
rate at which our existing customers purchase vouchers has declined, and may continue to decline, given, among other things, increased competition in the
marketplace and the decrease in demand of consumers for voucher deals. Historically, our customers often purchased a voucher when they received our emails,
even though they may not have intended to use the voucher in the near term. The growth in recent periods of competition and the marketplaces of deals has enabled
customers to wait until they are ready to use the related vouchers before making purchases. This shift in purchasing behavior may adversely impact revenues.
While we are continuing to evolve our strategy to address the changing market dynamics, we may not always be successful in doing so.
In addition, we are in the process of expanding our hotel booking platform which may result in an increase in costs to further develop the platform in the
near-term and an increase in cost structure in the long-term, which may be in excess of incremental revenue. If our hotel booking platform is not embraced by our
users or our advertising partners, our business and financial results could be adversely affected. In addition, the hotel booking platform will be sensitive to
fluctuations in hotel supply, occupancy and average daily rates and a fluctuation in any of these factors could negatively impact our hotel booking revenue. We can
give no assurances that the hotel booking platform will yield the benefits we expect and will not result in additional costs or have adverse impacts on our business.
Our business could be negatively affected by changes in search engine algorithms and dynamics or other traffic-generating arrangements.
We utilize Internet search engines such as Google, principally through the purchase of travel-related keywords, to generate additional traffic to our websites.
Search engines, including Google, frequently update and change the logic that determines the placement and display of results of a user’s search, such that the
purchased or algorithmic placement of links to our websites can be negatively affected. In addition, a significant amount of traffic is directed to our websites
through our participation in pay-per-click and display advertising campaigns on search engines, including Google, travel metasearch engines, including Kayak, and
Internet media properties, including TripAdvisor. Pricing and operating dynamics for these traffic sources can experience rapid change, both technically and
competitively. Moreover, a search or metasearch engine could, for competitive or other purposes, alter its search algorithms or results causing a website to place
lower in search query results. If a major search engine changes its algorithms or results in a manner that negatively affects the search engine ranking, paid or
unpaid, of our websites or that of our third-party distribution partners, or if competitive dynamics impact the costs or effectiveness of search engine optimization,
search engine marketing or other traffic-generating arrangements in a negative manner, our business and financial performance would be adversely affected,
potentially to a material extent.
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Recent trends in consumer adoption and use of mobile devices create new challenges.
Widespread adoption of mobile devices, such as the iPhone, Android-enabled smart phones, and tablets such as the iPad, coupled with the improved web
browsing functionality and development of thousands of useful “apps” available on these devices, is driving substantial traffic and commerce activity to mobile
platforms. We have experienced a significant shift of business to mobile platforms and our advertising partners are also seeing a rapid shift of traffic to mobile
platforms. Our major competitors and certain new market entrants are offering mobile applications for travel products and other functionality, including proprietary
last-minute discounts for hotel bookings. Advertising and distribution opportunities may be more limited on mobile devices given their smaller screen sizes. The
gross profit earned on a mobile transaction may be less than that earned from a typical desktop transaction due to different consumer purchasing patterns. For
example, hotel reservations made on a mobile device typically are for shorter lengths of stay and are not made as far in advance as hotel reservations made on
desktop. Further, given the device sizes and technical limitations of tablets and smartphones, mobile consumers may not be willing to download multiple
applications from multiple travel service providers and instead prefer to use one or a limited number of applications for their mobile travel activity. As a result, the
consumer experience with mobile applications, as well as brand recognition and loyalty, are likely to become increasingly important. We have made progress
creating mobile offerings which have received strong reviews and have shown solid download trends. We believe that mobile bookings present an opportunity for
growth. Further development of our mobile offerings is necessary to maintain and grow our business as consumers increasingly turn to mobile devices instead of
personal computers and to mobile applications instead of a web browser. Further, many consumers use a mobile device based web browser instead of an
application. As a result, it is increasingly important for us to develop and maintain effective mobile websites optimized for mobile devices to provide customers
with appealing easy-to-use mobile website functionality. If we are unable to continue to rapidly innovate and create new, user-friendly and differentiated mobile
offerings and efficiently and effectively advertise and distribute on these platforms, or if our mobile applications are not downloaded and used by travel consumers,
we could lose market share to existing competitors or new entrants and our future growth and results of operations could be adversely affected.
We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities .
As a global company, we are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based tax, in both the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable,
there is no assurance that the final determination of tax audits or tax disputes will not be different from what is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and
accruals. Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a significantly adverse impact on our effective tax rate.
We are also subject to non-income based taxes, such as value-added, payroll, sales, use, net worth, property and goods and services taxes, in both the United
States and various foreign jurisdictions. From time to time, we are under audit by tax authorities with respect to these non-income based taxes and may have
exposure to additional non-income based tax liabilities. These examinations may lead to ordinary course adjustments or proposed adjustments to our taxes or our
net operating income. The Company's 2009 federal income return is currently under examination, including a review of the impact of the sale of Asia Pacific
business segment in 2009. In connection with this examination, we have received a Revenue Agent’s Report (RAR) generally issued at the conclusion of an IRS
examination, which was consistent with the Notice of Proposed Adjustment we received earlier from the IRS for the 2009 calendar year related to the sale of our
Asia Pacific business segment with the addition of penalties. The RAR proposes an increase to our U.S. taxable income which would result in additional federal tax
expense, federal penalty and state tax expense totaling approximately $31 million, excluding interest and state penalties, if any. The proposed adjustment is
primarily driven by IRS’s view that the Asia Pacific business segment assets sold by the Company had a significantly higher valuation than the sales proceeds the
Company received upon the sale. The Company disagrees with the proposed adjustments and intends to vigorously contest them. The Company did not make any
adjustments to its liabilities for uncertain tax positions related to the RAR during the year December 31, 2015 because the Company does not believe the IRS’s
valuation of Asia Pacific business segment assets is appropriate. If we are not able to resolve these proposed adjustments at the IRS examination level, we plan to
pursue all available administrative and, if necessary, judicial remedies. The Company is not able to predict the ultimate amount or outcome of this tax audit and we
may incur additional costs in defending any claims that may arise, even if we ultimately are not liable for any additional taxes.
Adverse application of state and local tax laws could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operation.
Our expansion of our product offering to include a hotel booking platform may subject us to state and local tax laws and result in additional tax liabilities. A
number of jurisdictions in the United States have initiated lawsuits against other on-line travel companies, related to, among other things, the payment of hotel
occupancy and other taxes (i.e., state and local sales tax). In addition, a number of municipalities have initiated audit proceedings, issued proposed tax assessments
or started inquiries relating to the payment of hotel occupancy and other taxes.
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Given that we intend for our hotel booking platform to consist of an agency model whereby we will facilitate reservations on behalf of a hotel, the payment
of hotel occupancy taxes and other taxes should be the responsibility of the merchant. The intended business practice for our hotel booking platform will primarily
be for the merchant to be responsible for remitting applicable taxes to the various tax authorities. Nevertheless, to the extent that any tax authority succeeds in
asserting that we have a tax collection responsibility, or we determine that we have one, with respect to future transactions, we may collect any such additional tax
obligation from our customers, which would have the effect of increasing the cost of hotel room reservations to our customers and, consequently, could make our
hotel service less competitive (i.e., versus the websites of other online travel companies or hotel company websites) and reduce hotel reservation transactions.
Either step could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. We will continue to assess the risks of the potential financial impact of
additional tax exposure.
Our business model may not be adaptable to a changing market.
Our current revenue model depends primarily on advertising fees paid by travel and entertainment companies. If current clients decide not to continue
advertising their offers with us and we are unable to replace them with new clients, our business may be adversely affected. To be successful, we must provide
online marketing solutions that achieve broad market acceptance by travel and entertainment companies. In addition, we must attract sufficient Internet users with
attractive demographic characteristics to our products. It is possible that we will be required to further adapt our business model and products in response to
changes in the online advertising market or if our current business model is not successful. For example, the trend toward mobile online traffic will require us to
adapt our product offering to facilitate consumers use of our products. If we do not adapt to this trend fully or quickly enough, we may lose advertising revenue as
consumer usage may decline from our non-mobile traffic. If we are not able to anticipate changes in the online advertising market or if our business model is not
successful, our business could be materially adversely affected.
If we fail to retain existing advertisers or add new advertisers, our revenue and business will be harmed.
We depend on our ability to attract and retain advertisers (hotels, spas, restaurants, vacation packagers, airlines, etc.) that are prepared to offer products or
services on compelling terms to our members. We do not have long-term arrangements to guarantee the availability of deals that offer attractive quality, value and
variety to consumers or favorable payment terms to us. We must continue to attract and retain advertisers in order to increase revenue and maintain profitability. If
new advertisers do not find our marketing and promotional services effective, or if existing advertisers do not believe that utilizing our products provides them with
a long-term increase in customers, revenue or profit, they may stop making offers through our marketplace. In addition, we may experience attrition in our
advertisers in the ordinary course of business resulting from several factors, including losses to competitors and advertiser closures or bankruptcies. If we are
unable to attract new advertisers in numbers sufficient to grow our business, or if too many advertisers are unwilling to offer products or services with compelling
terms to our members or offer favorable payment terms to us, we may sell less advertising, and our operating results will be adversely affected. For example, we
may lose advertisers due to market conditions or performance, such as our recent loss of revenue from certain online booking engines, airlines and vacation
packagers. We may not add enough additional revenue, such as hotel revenue from Getaways or the hotel booking platform, in order to replace the lost revenue.
Furthermore, the new revenue may cost more to generate compared to the costs that the lost revenue required to generate, thereby adversely impacting our
operating results.
Our existing advertisers may shift from one advertising service to another, which may adversely affect our revenue.
Existing advertisers may shift from one advertising service (e.g. Top 20 ) to another (e.g. Local Deals, Getaways or the hotel booking platform). These shifts
between advertising services by advertisers could result in no incremental revenue or less revenue than in previous periods depending on the amount purchased by
the advertisers, and in particular with Local Deals, Getaways and the hotel booking platform, depending on how many vouchers are purchased by members and
how many hotel bookings are made. In addition, we are anticipating a shift from our existing hotel revenue to commission-based revenue in connection with the
continued expansion of our hotel booking platform capabilities, which may result in lower revenue depending on volume of hotel bookings.
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An increase in our refund rates related to our Local Deals and Getaway could reduce our liquidity and profitability.
We provide refunds related to our Local Deals and Getaway voucher sales. As we increase our revenue, our refund rates may exceed our historical levels. A
downturn in general economic conditions may also increase our refund rates. An increase in our refund rates could significantly reduce our liquidity and
profitability.
As we do not have control over our merchants and the quality of products or services they deliver, we rely on a combination of our historical experience with
our merchants over time and the type of refunds provided for development of our estimate for refund claims. Our actual level of refund claims could prove to be
greater than the level of refund claims we estimate. If our refund reserves are not adequate to cover future refund claims, this inadequacy could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity and profitability.
Our standard agreements with our merchants generally limit the time period during which we may seek reimbursement for member refunds or claims. Our
members may make claims for refunds with respect to which we are unable to seek reimbursement from our merchants. Our members could also make false or
fraudulent refund claims. Our inability to seek reimbursement from our merchants for refund claims could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and profitability.
If our advertisers do not meet the needs and expectations of our members, our business could suffer.
Our business depends on our reputation for providing high-quality deals, and our brand and reputation may be harmed by actions taken by advertisers or
merchants that are outside our control. For our Local Deals and Getaway merchants, we are selling vouchers on behalf of the merchants directly to our members
and we face exposures should merchants not fully honor the deals. As for our travel business, we are only collecting an advertising fee from the advertiser and the
members are booking the deal directly with the advertiser. Although the advertiser is responsible to the consumer to provide the consumer the deal it advertised,
our business can be adversely affected should an advertiser fail to comply with the terms of the advertised deal. Any shortcomings of one or more of our
merchants, particularly with respect to an issue affecting the quality of the deal offered or the products or services sold, may be attributed by our members to us,
thus damaging our reputation, brand value and potentially affecting our results of operations. In addition, negative publicity and member sentiment generated as a
result of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by our merchants or advertisers could damage our reputation, reduce our ability to attract new members or retain our
current members, and diminish the value of our brand.
Our business relies heavily on e-mail and other messaging services, and any restrictions on the sending of e-mails or messages or a decrease in member
willingness to receive messages could adversely affect our revenue and business.
Our business is highly dependent upon e-mail and other messaging services. Deals offered through e-mails and other messages sent by us, or on our behalf
by our affiliates, generate a substantial portion of our revenue. Because of the importance of e-mail and other messaging services to our businesses, if we are
unable to successfully deliver e-mails or messages to our members or potential members, or if members decline to open our e-mails or messages, our revenue and
profitability would be adversely affected. New laws and regulations regulating the sending of commercial e-mails, including those enacted in foreign jurisdictions
(such as Canada), may affect our ability to deliver of e-mails or messages to our members or potential members and may also result in increased compliance costs.
Further, actions by third parties to block, impose restrictions on, or charge for the delivery of, e-mails or other messages could also materially and adversely impact
our business. From time to time, Internet service providers block bulk e-mail transmissions or otherwise experience technical difficulties that result in our inability
to successfully deliver e-mails or other messages to third parties. In addition, our use of e-mail and other messaging services to send communications about our
website or other matters may result in legal claims against us, which if successful might limit or prohibit our ability to send e-mails or other messages. Any
disruption or restriction on the distribution of e-mails or other messages or any increase in the associated costs would materially and adversely affect our revenue
and profitability. In addition, the shift in our website traffic originating from mobile devices accessing our services may decrease our members' willingness to use
our services if they are not satisfied with our mobile user experience and could decrease their willingness to be an e-mail member, which could adversely affect our
revenue and profitability.
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Our reported total number of members may be higher than the number of our actual individual members and may not be representative of the number of
persons who are active potential customers.
The total number of members we report may be higher than the number of our actual individual members because some members have multiple registrations,
other members have died or become incapacitated and others may have registered under fictitious names. Given the challenges inherent in identifying these
members, we do not have a reliable system to accurately identify the number of actual individual members, and thus we rely on the number of total members
shown on our records as our measure of the size of our member base. In addition, the number of members we report includes the total number of individuals that
have completed registration through a specific date, less individuals who have unsubscribed. Those numbers may include individuals who do not receive our emails because our e-mails have been blocked or are otherwise undeliverable. As a result, the reported number of members should not be considered as
representative of the number of persons who continue to actively consider our deals by reviewing our e-mail offers.
We may not be able to obtain sufficient funds to grow our business and any additional financing may be on terms adverse to your interests.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 , our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $20.3 million to $35.1 million, of which $22.6 million was held outside
the U.S. in certain of our foreign operations. We intend to continue to grow our business and fund our current operations using cash on hand. However, this may
not be sufficient to meet our needs, including the payments required to settle various commitments and contingencies, as described under Note 5 and 6 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. We may not be able to obtain financing on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
If additional financing is not available when required or is not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our expansion, successfully promote
our brand name, develop or enhance our products and services, take advantage of business opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.
If we choose to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities, existing stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership
interest and holders of the additional equity securities may have rights senior to existing stockholders of our common stock. If we obtain additional financing by
issuing debt securities or bank borrowings, the terms of these arrangements could restrict or prevent us from paying dividends and could limit our flexibility in
making business decisions.
Our business may be sensitive to recessions.
The demand for online advertising may be linked to the level of economic activity and employment in the U.S. and abroad. Specifically, our business is
primarily dependent on the demand for online advertising from travel and entertainment companies. The most recent recession decreased consumer travel and
caused travel and entertainment companies to reduce or postpone their marketing spending generally, and their online marketing spending in particular. Continued
or future recessions could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. Moreover, declines or disruptions in the travel industry could
adversely affect our launch of the hotel booking platform and financial performance.
Our operations could be significantly hindered by the occurrence of a natural disaster or other catastrophic event.
Our operations are susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, unexpected technical problems in the systems that
power our websites and distribute our e-mail newsletters, break-ins and similar events. In addition, a significant portion of our network infrastructure is located in
Northern California, an area susceptible to earthquakes. We do not have multiple site capacity to protect us against any such occurrence. Outages could cause
significant interruptions of our service. In addition, despite our implementation of network security measures, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses,
physical and electronic break-ins, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. We do not carry business interruption insurance
to compensate us for losses that may occur as a result of any of these events.
Technological or other assaults on our service could harm our business.
We are vulnerable to coordinated attempts to overload our systems with data, which could result in denial or reduction of service to some or all of our users
for a period of time. We have experienced denial of service attacks in the past, and may experience such attempts in the future. Any such event could reduce our
revenue and harm our operating results and financial condition. We do not carry business interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur as a
result of any of these events.
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We are subject to payments-related risks.
We accept payments for the sale of vouchers using a variety of methods, including credit cards and debit cards. We pay interchange and other fees, which
may increase over time and raise our operating expenses and lower profitability. We rely on third parties to provide payment processing services, including the
processing of credit cards and debit cards, and it could disrupt our business if these companies become unwilling or unable to provide these services to us. We are
also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be
reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. Moreover, under payment card rules and our contracts with our card processors, if there is a
security breach of payment card information, we could be liable to the payment card issuing banks for their cost of issuing new cards and related expenses. If we
fail to comply with these rules or requirements, we may be subject to fines and higher transaction fees and lose our ability to accept credit and debit card payments,
process electronic funds transfers, or facilitate other types of online payments, and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. If one or
more of these contracts are terminated and we are unable to replace them on similar terms, or at all, it could adversely affect our results of operations.
Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in United States generally accepted accounting principles, and we may incur significant
costs to adjust our accounting systems and processes to comply with significant changes.
United States generally accepted accounting principles are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. In 2014, the FASB
issued a new accounting standard related to revenue recognition which could change the way we account for certain of our sales transactions. The adoption of this
standard and changes in other principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results and could affect the reporting of
transactions completed before the effective dates of the standard. Such change could have a significant effect on our reported financial results. In addition, we may
need to significantly change our accounting systems and processes if we are required to adopt future or proposed changes in accounting principles noted above.
The cost of these changes may negatively impact our results of operations during the periods of transition.
Risks Related to Our Markets and Strategy
Our international expansion may result in operating losses, and is subject to other material risks.
In May 2005, we began operations in the U.K. In 2006, we began operations in Canada, Germany, and Spain. In 2007, we began operations in France. In
addition, from 2007 through 2009, we began operations in Asia Pacific, including in Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia.
Our revenues in Europe decreased 8% in 2015 compared to 2014 , and our operations in Europe generated an operating income before tax of $3.9 million
and $5.8 million in 2015 and 2014 , respectively. We intend to continue adding a significant number of members in selected countries in which we operate as we
believe this is one of the factors that will allow us to increase our advertising rates and increase our revenues in Europe.
If we incur losses from our operations in the future, these losses may not have any recognizable tax benefit, which is the case for Asia Pacific business. We
expect that this would have a material negative impact on our net income and cash flows. Any of these developments could result in a significant decrease in the
trading price of our common stock. In addition to uncertainty about our ability to generate net income from our foreign operations and expand our international
market position, there are certain risks inherent in doing business internationally, including:
•

trade barriers and changes in trade regulations;

•

difficulties in developing, staffing and simultaneously managing foreign operations as a result of distance, language and cultural differences;

•

stringent local labor laws and regulations;

•

currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•

risks related to government regulation; and

•

potentially adverse tax consequences.

Moreover, fluctuations in currency exchange rates can impact our revenues. For example, foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar have
negatively impacted our revenues from our operations in Europe. The uncertainty and volatility
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in foreign exchange rates, which may differ across regions, makes it more difficult to forecast industry and consumer trends and the timing and degree of their
impact on our markets and business, which in turn could adversely affect our ability to effectively manage our business and adversely affect our results of
operations.
In addition, we face risks related to the growth rate and expansion of our international business, including our recent expansion in Asia Pacific. A decline in
the growth rates of our international businesses could have a negative impact on our gross profit and earnings per share growth rates and, as a consequence, our
stock price. Many of these regions have different customs, currencies, levels of consumer acceptance and use of the Internet for commerce, legislation, regulatory
environments, tax laws and levels of political stability. International markets may have strong local competitors with an established brand that may make
expansion in that market difficult and costly and take more time than anticipated. In addition, compliance with legal, regulatory or tax requirements in multiple
jurisdictions places demands on our time and resources, and we may nonetheless experience unforeseen and potentially adverse legal, regulatory or tax
consequences.
Investment in new business strategies and acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business and present risks not originally contemplated.
We have invested, and in the future may invest, in new business strategies and acquisitions. For example, we recently acquired businesses in Asia Pacific,
including Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. If the businesses we have acquired do not perform as expected or we are unable to
effectively integrate acquired businesses, our operating results and prospects could be harmed. Expansions into foreign markets involve risks and uncertainties,
including, among other things, potential distraction of management from operations in North America and Europe, greater than expected liabilities and expenses,
inadequate return on capital, and unidentified issues not discovered in our investigations and evaluations of those strategies and acquisitions. It may take us longer
than expected to fully realize the anticipated benefits of the Asia Pacific transaction, and those benefits may ultimately be smaller than anticipated, which could
adversely affect our business. If we are unsuccessful in expanding in new and existing international markets and effectively managing the increased costs of the
expansion, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected. We are also subject to risks typical of international businesses,
including differing economic conditions, differing customs, languages and consumer expectations, changes in political climate, differing tax structures and other
regulations and restrictions, including labor laws, and foreign exchange rate volatility
We may not be able to continue developing awareness of our brand names.
We believe that continuing to build awareness of the Travelzoo brand name is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our business. Brand recognition
is a key differentiating factor among providers of online advertising opportunities, and we believe it could become more important as competition in our industry
increases. In order to maintain and build brand awareness, we must succeed in our marketing efforts. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brands,
incur significant expenses in promoting our brands and fail to generate a corresponding increase in revenue as a result of our branding efforts, or encounter legal
obstacles which prevent our continued use of our brand names, our business could be materially adversely affected.
If we fail to retain our existing members or acquire new members, our revenue and business will be harmed.
We spent $9.5 million, $7.9 million and $5.6 million on online marketing initiatives relating to member acquisition for years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013 and expect to continue to spend significant amounts to acquire additional members. We must continue to retain and acquire members in order to
maintain or increase revenue. We cannot assure you that the revenue from members we acquire will ultimately exceed the cost of acquiring new members. If
members do not perceive our offers to be of high value and quality or if we fail to introduce new and more relevant deals, we may not be able to acquire or retain
members. If we reduce our member acquisition costs, we cannot assure you that this will not adversely impact our ability to acquire new members. If we are unable
to acquire new members who purchase our deals directly or indirectly in numbers sufficient to grow our business, or if members cease to purchase our deals
directly or indirectly through our advertisers, the revenue we generate may decrease and our operating results will be adversely affected. If the level of usage by
our member base declines or does not grow as expected, we may suffer a decline in member growth or revenue. A significant decrease in the level of usage or
member growth would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, a shift of our audience to mobile devices
and social media channels without corresponding updates of our offerings or marketing activities to address this audience could result in lower revenues.
Our business may be sensitive to events affecting the travel industry in general.
Events like the Middle East conflicts, the global financial crisis that began in 2008 or the recent terrorist attacks in France have a negative impact on the
travel industry. We are not in a position to evaluate the net effect of these circumstances on our
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business. In the longer term, our business might be negatively affected by financial pressures on the travel industry. If such events result in a long-term negative
impact on the travel industry, such impact could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We may not be able to attract travel and entertainment companies or Internet users if we do not continually enhance and develop the content and features of
our products and services.
To remain competitive, we must continually improve the responsiveness, functionality, and features of our products and services. We may not succeed in
developing features, functions, products, or services that travel and entertainment companies and Internet users find attractive. This could reduce the number of
travel and entertainment companies and Internet users using our products and materially adversely affect our business.
We may lose business if we fail to keep pace with rapidly changing technologies and client needs.
Our success is dependent on our ability to develop new and enhanced software, services, and related products to meet rapidly evolving technological
requirements for online advertising. Our current technology may not meet the future technical requirements of travel and entertainment companies. Trends that
could have a critical impact on our success include:
•

rapidly changing technology in online advertising, including a significant shift of business to mobile platforms;

•

evolving industry standards, including both formal and de facto standards relating to online advertising;

•

developments and changes relating to the Internet;

•

competing products and services that offer increased functionality; and

•

changes in travel company, entertainment company, and Internet user requirements.

If we are unable to timely and successfully develop and introduce new products and enhancements to existing products in response to our industry’s
changing technological requirements, our business could be materially adversely affected.
Our business and growth will suffer if we are unable to hire and retain highly skilled personnel.
Our future success depends on our ability to attract, train, motivate, and retain highly skilled employees. We may be unable to retain our skilled employees,
or attract, assimilate, and retain other highly skilled employees in the future. We have from time to time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to
experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. If we are unable to hire and retain skilled
personnel, our growth may be restricted, which could adversely affect our future success.
We may not be able to effectively manage our expanding operations.
Since the commencement of our operations, we have experienced periods of rapid growth. In order to execute our business plan, we must continue to grow
significantly. This growth has placed, and our anticipated future growth will continue to place, a significant strain on our management, systems, and resources. We
expect that we will need to continue to improve our financial and managerial controls and reporting systems and procedures. We will also need to continue to
expand and maintain close coordination among our sales, production, marketing, IT, and finance departments. We may not succeed in these efforts. Our inability to
expand our operations in an efficient manner could cause our expenses to grow disproportionately to revenues, our revenues to decline or grow more slowly than
expected and could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Intense competition may adversely affect our ability to achieve or maintain market share and operate profitably.
We compete for advertising dollars with large Internet portal sites, such as MSN and Yahoo!, that offer listings or other advertising opportunities to travel,
entertainment and local businesses. These companies have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and larger advertiser bases. We
compete with search engines like Google and Bing that offer pay-per-click listings. We compete with travel metasearch engines like Kayak Software Corp. and
online travel and entertainment deal publishers. We compete with large online travel agencies like Expedia, TripAdvisor, and Priceline that also offer advertising
placements and hotel booking platforms and capture consumer interest. As a result of our acquisition of Travelzoo Asia Pacific, we now compete or may compete
in the future with large online travel service providers, like Ctrip and eLong. We compete with companies like Groupon and LivingSocial that sell vouchers for
deals from local businesses such as spas, hotels and restaurants. We expect to face increased competition from other Internet and technology-based businesses such
as Google and Microsoft, each of which has launched initiatives which are directly competitive to our Local Deals and Getaway products. Google has introduced
its hotel search product, which negatively impacted our ability to efficiently purchase Google hotel search traffic to drive our Search product revenues. In addition,
we compete for traffic acquisition with many companies and we are subject to higher prices to acquire this traffic, which drives our Search revenue in particular.
We regularly reduce our traffic acquisition for our Search products if we believe the acquisition costs are too high for us to remain profitable. When we reduce our
traffic acquisition spending it negatively impacts our Search revenue. To the extent that Google, or other leading search or metasearch engines that have a
significant presence in our key markets, offer comprehensive travel planning or shopping capabilities, or refer those leads to suppliers directly, or to other favored
partners, there could be an adverse impact on our business and financial performance. We also have seen that some competitors will accept lower margins, or
negative margins, to attract attention and acquire new members. If competitors engage in group buying initiatives in which merchants receive a higher percentage
of the face value than we currently offer, we may be forced to pay a higher percentage of the face value than we currently offer, which may reduce our revenue. In
addition, we compete with newspapers, magazines and other traditional media companies that operate websites which provide online advertising opportunities. We
expect to face additional competition as other established and emerging companies, including print media companies, enter the online advertising market.
Competition could result in reduced margins on our services, loss of market share or less use of Travelzoo by advertisers and consumers. If we are not able to
compete effectively with current or future competitors as a result of these and other factors, our business could be materially adversely affected.
Loss of any of our key management personnel could negatively impact our business.
Our future success depends to a significant extent on the continued service and coordination of our management team. The loss or departure of any of our
officers or key employees could materially adversely affect our ability to implement our business plan. We do not maintain key person life insurance for any
member of our management team. In addition, we expect new members to join our management team in the future. These individuals will not previously have
worked together and will be required to become integrated into our management team. If our key management personnel are not able to work together effectively
or successfully, our business could be materially adversely affected. During 2015, there were several changes in executive management, as further described in
previously filed 2015 Form 8-Ks, including the resignation of our CEO, Mr. Loughlin, who was replaced in January 2016 by Mr. Holger Bartel as Chairman and
Global CEO, the resignation of Simon Talling-Smith who served as President, Products and Emerging Businesses and the promotion of Mr. Stitt to the role of
President, North America.
We may not be able to access third party technology upon which we depend.
We use data technology and software products from third parties including Microsoft and ITA Software. Technology from our current or other vendors may
not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Moreover, to the extent an airline does not provide content to ITA Software or third
party data providers, or to us, and we cannot obtain the content, we may face additional costs (including legal costs) and the financial results of Fly.com could be
negatively affected. If we are unable to continue to display travel data from multiple airline carriers, it would reduce the breadth of our query results on Fly.com
and the number of travelers using our services could decline, resulting in a loss of revenues and a decline in our operating results. Fly.com depends on access to
information related to airline schedules and fares and, to the extent our travel service providers no longer provide such information, Fly.com’s business and results
of operations could be harmed. Our business will suffer if we are unable to access this technology, to gain access to additional products or to integrate new
technology with our existing systems. This could cause delays in our development and introduction of new services and related products or enhancements of
existing products until equivalent or replacement technology can be accessed, if available, or developed internally, if feasible. If we experience these delays, our
business could be materially adversely affected.
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Acquisitions, investments and joint ventures could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other harmful consequences that may adversely impact our
business and results of operations.
We may evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions as part of our overall business strategy, including business combinations,
acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, technologies, services, and other assets, as well as strategic investments and joint ventures. At any given time we may
be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to one or more of these types of transactions. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial
condition and results of operations.
These transactions involve significant challenges and risks. Some of the areas where we may face risks or difficulties include:
•

Diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration challenges.

•

Implementation or remediation of controls, procedures, and policies at the acquired company.

•

Integration of the acquired company's accounting, human resources, and other administrative systems, and coordination of product, engineering, and sales
and marketing functions.

•

Transition of operations, users, and customers onto our existing platforms.

•

Failure to obtain required approvals on a timely basis, if at all, from governmental authorities, or conditions placed upon approval, under competition and
antitrust laws which could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing a transaction, or otherwise restrict our ability to realize the expected
financial or strategic goals of an acquisition.

•

In the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and to address the particular economic,
currency, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

•

Failure to successfully further develop the acquired business or technology.

•

Cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization, and retention of employees from the
businesses we acquire.

•

Liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement claims, violations of laws,
commercial disputes, tax liabilities, and other known and unknown liabilities.

•

Litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, customers, former stockholders, or
other third parties.

•

Challenges relating to the structure of an investment, such as governance, accountability and decision-making conflicts that may arise in the context of a
joint venture.

•

Expected and unexpected costs incurred in pursuing acquisitions, including identifying and performing due diligence on potential acquisition targets that
may or may not be successful.

•

Entrance into markets in which we have no direct prior experience and increased complexity in our business.
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•

Inability to sell excess assets.

•

Impairment of goodwill and other assets acquired.

•

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions and investments could cause us to fail
to realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions or investments, incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm our business generally.

•

Future acquisitions may also require us to issue additional equity securities, spend our cash, or incur debt (and increased interest expense), liabilities and
amortization expenses related to intangible assets or write-offs of goodwill, which could adversely affect our results of operations and dilute the economic
and voting rights of our stockholders. Also, the anticipated benefit of many of our acquisitions may not materialize.

Risks Related to the Market for our Shares
Our stock price has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile.
The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations. During the twelve months ended March 14, 2016 , the
closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market ranged from $6.71 to $13.96. Our stock price may fluctuate in response to a number of
events and factors, such as quarterly variations in operating results; announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors; changes
in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts; the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem
comparable to us; and news reports relating to trends in our markets or general economic conditions. Our stock price may be volatile given that operating results
may vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors, which are beyond our control. In the event that our operating results fall below the expectations
of securities analysts or investors, the trading price of our common shares may decline significantly. Moreover, fluctuations in our stock price and our price-toearnings multiple may have made our stock attractive to hedge or day-trading investors who often shift funds into and out of stocks rapidly, exacerbating price
fluctuations in either direction, particularly when viewed on a quarterly basis.
In addition, the stock market in general, and the market prices for Internet-related companies in particular, have experienced volatility that often has been
unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the price of our stock, regardless of
our operating performance.
We have a principal stockholder.
Ralph Bartel, who founded Travelzoo and who is a Director of the Company is the sole beneficiary of the Ralph Bartel 2005 Trust, which is the controlling
shareholder of Azzurro Capital Inc. As of December 31, 2015 , Azzurro is the Company's largest stockholder, holding approximately 51.2% of the Company's
outstanding shares.
Risks Related to Legal Uncertainty
We may become subject to shareholder lawsuits over securities violations due to volatile stock price and this can be burdensome to management and costly to
defend.
Shareholder lawsuits for securities violations are often launched against companies whose stock price is volatile. Such lawsuits involving the Company
would require management’s attention to defend, which may distract attention from operating the Company. In addition, even if the lawsuit is meritless, the
Company may incur substantial costs to defend itself and/or settle such claims, to minimize the distraction and costs of defense. Such lawsuits could result in
judgments against the Company requiring substantial payments to claimants. Such costs may materially impact our results of operations and financial condition.
We may become subject to burdensome government regulations and legal uncertainties affecting the Internet which could adversely affect our business.
To date, governmental regulations have not materially restricted use of the Internet in our markets. However, the legal and regulatory environment that
pertains to the Internet is uncertain and may change. Uncertainty and new regulations, including those enacted in foreign jurisdictions, could increase our costs of
doing business, prevent us from delivering our products and services over the Internet, or slow the growth of the Internet. For example, new laws and regulations
regulating online advertisements, including those enacted in foreign jurisdictions, may affect our advertising revenue and may also result in decreased traffic to our
websites. In addition to new laws and regulations being adopted, existing laws may be applied to the Internet. New and existing laws may cover issues which
include:
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•

user privacy;

•

anti-spam legislation;

•

consumer protection;

•

copyright, trademark and patent infringement;

•

pricing controls;

•

characteristics and quality of products and services;

•

sales and other taxes; and

•

other claims based on the nature and content of Internet materials.

We are subject to laws and regulations worldwide, changes to which could increase the Company’s costs and individually or in the aggregate adversely affect
the Company’s business.
The Company is subject to laws and regulations affecting its domestic and international operations in a number of areas. These U.S. and foreign laws and
regulations affect the Company’s activities including, but not limited to, in areas of employment related laws and regulations, advertising, digital content,
consumer protection, real estate, billing, e-commerce, promotions, intellectual property ownership and infringement, tax, anti-corruption, foreign exchange
controls and cash repatriation restrictions, data privacy requirements, anti-competition, health, and safety.
Compliance with these laws, regulations and similar requirements may be onerous and expensive, and they may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction, further increasing the cost of compliance and doing business. Any such costs, which may rise in the future as a result of changes in these laws and
regulations or in their interpretation, could individually or in the aggregate make the Company’s services less attractive to the Company’s customers, delay the
introduction of new products in one or more regions, or cause the Company to change or limit its business practices or incur more costs to comply or defend itself.
The Company has implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, but there can be no assurance that the
Company’s employees, contractors, or agents will not violate such laws and regulations or the Company’s policies and procedures.
The implementation of the CARD Act and similar state and foreign laws may harm our Local Deals business.
Vouchers which are issued under our Local Deals and Getaway may be considered gift cards, gift certificates, stored value cards or prepaid cards and
therefore governed by, among other laws, the Credit Card Act of 2009 (the "CARD Act"), and state laws governing gift cards, stored value cards and coupons.
Other foreign jurisdictions have similar laws in place, in particular European jurisdictions where the European E-Money Directive regulates the business of
electronic money institutions. Many of these laws contain provisions governing the use of gift cards, gift certificates, stored value cards or prepaid cards, including
specific disclosure requirements and prohibitions or limitations on the use of expiration dates and the imposition of certain fees. For example, if the vouchers are
subject to the CARD Act and are not included in the exemption for promotional programs, it is possible that the purchase value, which is the amount equal to the
price paid for the voucher, or the promotional value, which is the add-on value of the voucher in excess of the price paid, or both, may not expire before the later of
(i) five years after the date on which the voucher was issued; (ii) the voucher’s stated expiration date (if any); or (iii) a later date provided by applicable state law.
Purported class actions against other companies have been filed in federal and state court claiming that coupons similar to the vouchers are subject to the CARD
Act and various state laws governing gift cards and that the defendants have violated these laws by issuing the coupons with expiration dates and other restrictions.
In addition, investigations by certain state attorney general offices have been launched against other companies with regards to similar issues. If similar claims are
asserted against the Company in respect of the Local Deals and Getaways vouchers and are successful, we may become subject to fines and penalties and incur
additional costs. In addition, if federal or state laws require that the face value of our vouchers have a minimum expiration period beyond the period desired by a
merchant for its promotional program, or no expiration period, this may affect the willingness of merchants to issue vouchers in jurisdictions where these laws
apply. For unredeemed vouchers, similar laws in other jurisdictions require us or merchants to honor the face value of vouchers sold, after the redemption period.
For example, in Germany, certain consumer protection laws require us to refund consumers for approximately four years after the purchase date for the amount of
the face value of purchased vouchers which remains unredeemed at the end of the redemption period. Therefore, we do not recognize the unredeemed amounts as
revenue until after we are not subject to these laws. There may be similar laws in other countries or provinces that require similar practices. Such developments
may materially and adversely affect the profitability or viability of our Local Deals and Getaways .
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If we are required to materially increase the estimated liability recorded in our financial statements with respect to unredeemed Local Deals and Getaways
vouchers due to application of certain gift card laws, our net income could be materially and adversely affected.
In certain states and foreign jurisdictions, our Local Deals and Getaway vouchers may be considered a gift card. Some of these states and foreign
jurisdictions include gift cards under their unclaimed and abandoned property laws which require companies to remit to the government the value of the
unredeemed balance on the gift cards after a specified period of time (generally between one and five years) and impose certain reporting and recordkeeping
obligations. The analysis of the potential application of the unclaimed and abandoned property laws to our vouchers is complex, involving an analysis of
constitutional and statutory provisions and factual issues, including our relationship with members and merchants and our role as it relates to the issuance and
delivery of a voucher. In the event that one or more states or foreign jurisdictions successfully challenges our position on the application of its unclaimed and
abandoned property laws to vouchers, or if the estimates that we use in projecting the likelihood of vouchers being redeemed prove to be inaccurate, our liabilities
with respect to unredeemed vouchers may be materially higher than the amounts shown in our financial statements. If we are required to materially increase the
estimated liability recorded in our financial statements with respect to unredeemed gift cards, our net income could be materially and adversely affected. Moreover,
a successful challenge to our position could subject us to penalties or interest on unreported and unremitted sums, and any such penalties or interest would have a
further material adverse impact on our net income.
New tax treatment of companies engaged in Internet commerce may adversely affect the commercial use of our services and our financial results.
Due to the global nature of the Internet, it is possible that various states or foreign countries might attempt to regulate our transmissions or levy sales, income
or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of
companies engaged in Internet commerce. New or revised international, federal, state or local tax regulations may subject us or our members to additional sales,
income and other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales, income or other taxes on commerce over the Internet. New or revised
taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, VAT and similar taxes would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of advertising
and selling goods and services over the Internet. New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture data, and collect and remit
taxes. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
We may suffer liability as a result of information retrieved from or transmitted over the Internet and claims related to our service offerings.
We may be sued for defamation, civil rights infringement, negligence, patent, copyright or trademark infringement, invasion of privacy, personal injury,
product liability, breach of contract, unfair competition, discrimination, antitrust or other legal claims relating to information that is published or made available on
our websites or service offerings we make available (including provision of an application programming interface platform for third parties to access our website,
mobile device services and geolocation applications). These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against online services in the past. The
fact that we distribute information via e-mail or text message may subject us to potential risks, such as liabilities or claims resulting from unsolicited e-mail or
spamming, lost or misdirected messages, security breaches, illegal or fraudulent use of e-mail or interruptions or delays in e-mail or mobile service. These risks are
enhanced in certain jurisdictions outside the U.S., where our liability for such third-party actions may be less clear and we may be less protected. In addition, we
could incur significant costs in investigating and defending such claims, even if we ultimately are not found liable. If any of these events occurs, our business could
be materially and adversely affected.
We are subject to risks associated with information disseminated through our websites and applications, including consumer data, content that is produced by
our editorial staff and errors or omissions related to our product offerings. Such information, whether accurate or inaccurate, may result in our being sued by our
advertisers, merchants, members or third parties and as a result our revenue and reputation could be materially and adversely affected.
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In addition, we may acquire personal or confidential information, including credit card information, from users of our websites and mobile applications,
related to our Local Deals, Getaway and planned hotel booking platform. Our existing security measures may not be successful in preventing security breaches.
For example, outside parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees, merchants or customers to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our
secure systems and networks. A party (whether internal, external, an affiliate or unrelated third party) that is able to circumvent our security systems could steal
consumer information or transaction data or other proprietary information. In the last few years, several major companies, such as Target, have experienced highprofile security breaches that exposed their customers' personal information. While we strive to use commercially acceptable means to protect customer personal
information, no method of transmission over the Internet, or method of electronic storage, is 100% secure. Further, because the techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be
unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Security breaches or the unauthorized disclosure of customer personal
information could result in negative publicity, damage our reputation, expose us to risk of loss or litigation and possible liability and subject us to regulatory
penalties and sanctions. Any failure or perceived failure by us, or our service providers, to comply with the privacy policies, privacy-related obligations to users or
other third parties, or privacy related legal obligations, or any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable
information or other user data, may result in governmental enforcement actions, litigation or public statements against the company by consumer advocacy groups
or others and could cause our customers and members to lose trust in the Company, which could have an adverse effect on our business. If our security measures
are breached, or if our services are subject to attacks that degrade or deny the ability of users to access our products and services, our products and services may be
perceived as not being secure, users and customers may curtail or stop using our products and services, and we may incur significant legal and financial exposure.
We could also be adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our business practices or if governing jurisdictions
interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. For example, we, like
many online companies, have been utilizing the U.S.- E.U. Safe Harbor framework and relying on this method to ensure the appropriate transfer of data between
the U.S. and Europe. However, on October 6, 2015, the European Court of Justice ruled that this 15-year old Safe Harbor pact is no longer valid. While we are
evaluating and implementing alternatives, it is difficult at this point to know whether this ruling will have an impact on our business. To the extent that European
regulatory authorities impose fines on the Company or require changes to the Company's business practices, the Company's business and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected. We also could be adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our business
practices or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our business, results of operations or
financial condition.
Claims have been asserted against us relating to shares not issued in our 2002 merger.
The Company was formed as a result of a combination and merger of entities founded by the Company’s principal stockholder, Ralph Bartel. In 2002,
Travelzoo.com Corporation was merged into Travelzoo Inc. Under and subject to the terms of the merger agreement, holders of promotional shares of
Travelzoo.com Corporation (“Netsurfers”) who established that they had satisfied certain prerequisite qualifications were allowed a period of 2 years following the
effective date of the merger to receive one share of Travelzoo Inc. in exchange for each share of common stock of Travelzoo.com Corporation. In 2004, two years
following the effective date of the merger, certain promotional shares remained unexchanged. As the right to exchange these promotional shares expired, no
additional shares were reserved for issuance. Thereafter, the Company began to offer a voluntary cash program for those who established that they had satisfied
certain prerequisite qualifications for Netsurfer promotional shares as further described below.
Beginning in 2010, the Company became subject to unclaimed property audits of various states in the United States related to the above unexchanged
promotional shares. The Company recorded charges for the estimated settlements with these states of $20.0 million , $3.0 million and $22.0 million in 2011, 2012
and 2013, respectively. In 2014, the Company released $7.6 million of the reserve related to the completion of settlements with the states.
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Although the Company has settled the states unclaimed property claims with all states, the Company may still receive inquiries from certain potential
Netsurfer promotional stockholders that had not provided their state of residence to the Company by April 25, 2004. Therefore, the Company is continuing its
voluntary program under which it makes cash payments to individuals related to the promotional shares for individuals whose residence was unknown by the
Company and who establish that they satisfy the original conditions required for them to receive shares of Travelzoo.com Corporation, and who failed to submit
requests to convert their shares into shares of Travelzoo Inc. within the required time period. This voluntary program is not available for individuals whose
promotional shares have been escheated to a state by the Company, except those individuals for which their residence was unknown to the Company. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements include a charge for payments under this voluntary program in general and administrative expenses of $ 1,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2015 .
The total cost of this voluntary program is not reliably estimable because it is based on the ultimate number of valid requests received and future levels of the
Company’s common stock price. The Company’s common stock price affects the potential liability because the amount of cash payments under the program is
based in part on the recent level of the stock price at the date valid requests are received. The Company does not know how many of the requests for shares
originally received by Travelzoo.com Corporation in 1998 were valid, but the Company believes that only a portion of such requests were valid. In order to receive
payment under this voluntary program, a person is required to establish that such person validly held shares in Travelzoo.com Corporation.
Federal laws and regulations, such as the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act and similar foreign laws, could be expanded to include Local Deals
and Getaways vouchers.
Various federal laws, such as the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act and foreign laws and regulations, such as the European Directive on the
prevention of the use of the financial system for the purpose of money laundering and terrorist financing, impose certain anti-money laundering requirements on
companies that are financial institutions or that provide financial products and services. For these purposes, financial institutions are broadly defined to include
money services businesses such as money transmitters, check cashers and providers of prepaid access cards. Examples of anti-money laundering requirements
imposed on financial institutions include customer identification and verification programs, suspicious activity monitoring and reporting, record retention policies
and procedures and transaction reporting. We do not believe that we are a financial institution subject to these laws and regulations based, in part, upon the closed
loop nature and other characteristics of vouchers and our role with respect to the distribution of vouchers to members. However, the Financial Crimes Enforcement
Network, a division of the U.S. Department of the Treasury tasked with implementing the requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act, recently issued final rules
regarding the scope and requirements for non-bank parties involved in stored value or prepaid access cards, including obligations on sellers or providers of
“prepaid access”. Under the final rule, providers or sellers of closed loop vouchers, such as those offered through the Local Deals and Getaways program, would
only be subject to registration if the voucher exceed $2,000 in total value or if they are sold in aggregate amounts exceeding $10,000 to any single person in one
day. Should the $2,000 limit be exceeded or should more than $10,000 in aggregate vouchers be sold to any individual person (sales to businesses for resale or
distribution are excluded) then we may be deemed either a seller or provider of prepaid access subject to regulation. In the event that we become subject to the
requirements of the Bank Secrecy Act or any other anti-money laundering law or regulation imposing obligations on us as a money services business, our
regulatory compliance costs to meet these obligations would likely increase which could reduce our net income. In addition, the costs for third parties to sell
vouchers would increase, which may restrict our ability to enlist third parties to issue vouchers.
Our internal control over financial reporting may not be effective, and our independent auditors may not be able to certify as to the effectiveness of such
internal controls, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business.
We are obligated to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting in order to allow management to report on, and our independent auditors to opine
on, our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations of the SEC, which we
collectively refer to as Section 404. In our Section 404 evaluation, we have identified areas of internal controls that may need improvement and have instituted
remediation efforts where necessary. In addition, the changes in our internal controls related to the Asia Pacific business, which we acquired in August 2015, are
subject to an allowed first-year exemption for acquired businesses. Currently, none of our identified areas that need improvement has been categorized as material
weaknesses. We may identify conditions that may result in significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the future.
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We may be unable to protect our registered trademark or other proprietary intellectual property rights.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the protection of the Travelzoo brand name. We rely upon a combination of copyright, trade secret and
trademark laws, as well as non-disclosure and other contractual arrangements to protect our intellectual property rights. The steps we have taken to protect our
proprietary rights, however, may not always succeed in deterring misappropriation of proprietary information.
We have registered the Travelzoo trademark in the U.S., Australia, Canada, China, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, the European Union and the
U.K. If we are unable to protect our rights in the mark in North America, Europe, and Asia Pacific, where we have licensed the trademark as described above under
“overview”, a key element of our strategy of promoting Travelzoo as a brand could be disrupted and our business could be adversely affected. We may not always
be able to detect unauthorized use of our proprietary information or take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. In addition, the validity,
enforceability, and scope of protection of intellectual property in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving. The laws of countries in which we may
market our services in the future are uncertain and may afford little or no effective protection of our intellectual property. The unauthorized reproduction or other
misappropriation of our proprietary technology could enable third parties to benefit from our technology and brand name without paying us for them. If this were
to occur, our business could be materially adversely affected.
We may face liability from intellectual property litigation that could be costly to prosecute or defend and distract management’s attention with no assurance of
success.
We cannot be certain that our products, content and brand names do not or will not infringe valid patents, copyrights or other intellectual property rights held
by third parties. We expect that infringement claims in our markets will increase in number as more participants enter the markets. We may be subject to legal
proceedings and claims from time to time relating to the intellectual property of others in the ordinary course of our business. We may incur substantial expenses in
defending against these third party infringement claims, regardless of their merit, and such claims could result in a significant diversion of the efforts of our
management personnel. Successful infringement claims against us may result in monetary liability or a material disruption in the conduct of our business. We
endeavor to defend our intellectual property rights diligently, but intellectual property litigation is extremely expensive and time consuming, and has and is likely
to continue to divert managerial attention and resources from our business objectives. Successful infringement claims against us could result in monetary liability
and resolution of claims may require us to obtain licenses to use intellectual property rights belonging to third parties, which may be expensive to procure.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
We are headquartered in New York, New York, where we occupy approximately 13,500 square feet of leased office space. We have leased offices in Asia
Pacific for operations in China, Australia, Hong Kong, Singapore, Japan, and Taiwan, including offices in Beijing, Guangzhou, Hong Kong, Shanghai, Singapore,
Sydney, Taipei, and Tokyo. We also have leased offices for our Europe operations in France, Germany, Spain, and the U.K., including offices in Barcelona, Berlin,
Hamburg, London, Manchester, Munich, and Paris. In addition to our New York office, we have several leased offices throughout the U.S. and Canada for our
North America operations, including offices in Chicago, Illinois; Austin, Texas; Los Angeles, California; Miami, Florida; Mountain View, California; San Diego,
California; San Francisco, California; Toronto, Ontario; and Vancouver, British Columbia.
We believe that our leased facilities are adequate to meet our current needs; however, we intend to expand our operations and therefore may require
additional facilities in the future. We believe that such additional facilities are available.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
The information set forth under “Note 5 - Commitments and Contingencies” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in Part II,
Item 8 of this report is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Since August 18, 2004, our common stock has been trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “TZOO.” The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.
High

Low

Fourth Quarter

$10.10

$7.65

Third Quarter

$12.53

$8.07

Second Quarter

$13.96

$9.39

First Quarter

$12.16

$8.58

Fourth Quarter

$15.86

$12.17

Third Quarter

$19.60

$15.50

Second Quarter

$23.48

$17.09

First Quarter

$24.75

$20.91

2015:

2014:

On March 14, 2016 , the last reported sales price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $8.16 per share.
As of March 14, 2016 , there were approximately 194 stockholders of record of our shares.
Dividend Policy
Travelzoo has not declared or paid any cash dividends since inception and does not expect to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The payment of
dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon factors such as future earnings, capital requirements, our financial condition and
general business conditions.
Sales of Unregistered Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during fiscal year 2015 .
28

Repurchases of Equity Securities
We repurchased 212,000 shares of our equity securities during the three months ended December 31, 2015 .

Period

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly
Announced
Programs

Average Price
Paid
per Share

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased

Maximum Shares
that May Yet
be Purchased Under
the Programs (1)

October 1, 2015 - October 31, 2015

—

—

—

268,000

November 1, 2015 - November 30, 2015

—

$

—

—

268,000

December 1, 2015 - December 31, 2015

212,000

$

8.49

212,000

56,000

212,000

212,000

(1) In July 2012, the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s outstanding common
stock. As of December 31, 2013 , 971,000 shares were repurchased and therefore there were 29,000 shares remaining to be repurchased under this program.
In January 2014 , the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 500,000 shares of the Company’s outstanding
common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company repurchased 261,000 shares of common stock, and therefore there were 268,000
shares remaining to be repurchased under this program as of December 31, 2014 . During the three months ended December 31, 2015 , the Company
repurchased 212,000 shares of common stock and therefore there were 56,000 shares remaining to be repurchased under this program as of December 31,
2015 . In February 2016 , the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s
outstanding common stock.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares, for the dates specified, the cumulative total stockholder return for Travelzoo, the NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S. companies)
Index (the “NASDAQ Market Index”), and the Standard & Poor's 500 Publishing Index (the “S&P 500 Publishing”). Measurement points are the last trading day
of each of the Company's fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 , December 31, 2012 , December 31, 2013 , December 31, 2014 , and December 31, 2015 . The
graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2010 in the Common Stock of the Company, the NASDAQ Market Index and the S&P 500 Publishing and
assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not indicative of future stock price performance.

12/31/2010

Measurement Point

12/31/2011

12/31/2012

12/31/2013

12/31/2014

12/31/2015

Travelzoo Inc.

$

100 $

59.40 $

45.89 $

51.52 $

30.50 $

20.23

NASDAQ Market Index

$

100 $

98.20 $

113.82 $

157.44 $

178.53 $

188.75

S&P 500 Publishing

$

100 $

111.22 $

139.51 $

224.61 $

215.61 $

203.64
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
The selected consolidated financial data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 are derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements. The selected consolidated financial data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 represent unaudited consolidated
financial statements presented on a basis consistent with those for years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. The financial results for Travelzoo Inc. have
been retrospectively adjusted to include the financial results of Asia Pacific in the current and prior periods as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of
each period presented. See Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information related to the acquisition of the Travelzoo Asia
Pacific business. The following selected consolidated financial data is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere
herein.
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues

$

141,716

$

153,240

$

170,633

$

162,159

$

156,032

Income from operations

$

7,146

$

17,810

$

1,161

$

21,843

$

10,256

Net income (loss)

$

10,864

$

13,062

$

(6,582)

$

14,456

$

(1,390)

Net income (loss) per share - basic

$

0.74

$

0.88

$

(0.43)

$

0.91

$

(0.09)

Net income (loss) per share - diluted

$

0.74

$

0.88

$

(0.43)

$

0.91

$

(0.09)

Shares used in per share calculation - basic

14,722

14,768

15,269

15,866

16,315

Shares used in per share calculation - diluted

14,722

14,809

15,269

15,901

16,315

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

$

35,128

$

55,417

$

68,668

$

65,005

$

40,909

Working capital

$

16,046

$

36,259

$

29,194

$

42,358

$

28,824

Total assets

$

68,579

$

93,307

$

119,440

$

103,722

$

72,128

Stockholders' equity

$

21,387

$

35,827

$

30,096

$

43,583

$

35,730
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The information in this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections
about Travelzoo and our industry. These forward-looking statements are subject to the many risks and uncertainties that exist in our operations and business
environment that may cause actual results, performance or achievements of Travelzoo to be different from those expected or anticipated in the forward-looking
statements. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as
“may”, “will”, “should”, “estimates”, “predicts”, “potential”, “continue”, “strategy”, “believes”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “expects”, “intends”, and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Travelzoo’s actual results and the timing of certain events could differ significantly from those
anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed
elsewhere in this report in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. The forward-looking statements included in this
report reflect the beliefs of our management on the date of this report. Travelzoo undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for
any reason, even if new information becomes available or other circumstances occur in the future.
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Overview
Travelzoo Inc. (the “Company”, or “Travelzoo”) is a global media commerce company. We inform over 28 million members in Asia Pacific, Europe and
North America, as well as millions of website users, about the best travel and entertainment deals available from thousands of companies. Our deal experts source,
research and test-book offers, recommending only those that meet Travelzoo’s rigorous quality standards. We provide travel, entertainment and local businesses
with a fast, flexible, and cost-effective way to reach millions of consumers. Our revenues are generated primarily from advertising fees.
Our publications and products include the Travelzoo websites (travelzoo.com, travelzoo.ca, travelzoo.co.uk, travelzoo.de, travelzoo.es, travelzoo.fr,
cn.travelzoo.com, travelzoo.co.jp, travelzoo.com.au, travelzoo.com.hk, travelzoo.com.tw, among others), the Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, and the
Newsflash e-mail alert service. We operate SuperSearch, a pay-per-click travel search tool, and the Travelzoo Network , a network of third-party websites that list
deals published by Travelzoo. Our Travelzoo websites include our Local Deals and Getaway listings that allow our members to purchase vouchers for deals from
local businesses such as spas, hotels and restaurants. We receive a percentage of the face value of the voucher from the local businesses. We also operate Fly.com ,
a travel search engine that allows users to quickly and easily find the best prices on flights from hundreds of airlines and online travel agencies.
On August 20, 2015 we acquired the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business (“Asia Pacific”), which includes the Travelzoo businesses in Australia, China, Hong
Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. This business was independently operated by Azzurro Capital Inc. ("Azzurro"), under a licensing agreement with
Travelzoo Inc. Azzurro was the majority stockholder of the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business. Travelzoo Inc. accounted for this transaction as a common control
transaction and change in reporting entity. The financial results for Travelzoo Inc. have been retrospectively adjusted to include the financial results of Asia Pacific
in the current and prior periods as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of the each period presented. The Asia Pacific assets and liabilities have been
combined with Travelzoo Inc. at their carrying values as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of each period presented. The Asia Pacific transaction
proceeds were reflected as an equity transaction, included in retained earnings, during the period the transaction occurred, which was in the year ended
December 31, 2015 . See Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information on the acquisition of Asia Pacific.
Certain prior period statement of operations amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation primarily due to the Company's
allocation of facilities costs to all of its operating activities and separate disclosure of product development costs. See Note 1 to the accompanying unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements for further information.
More than 2,000 companies use our services, including Air New Zealand, Apple Vacation, British Airways, Cathay Pacific Airways, Expedia, Fairmont
Hotels and Resorts, Hawaiian Airlines, InterContinental Hotels Group, Interstate Hotel & Resorts, Lufthansa, Key Tours International, Liberty Travel, Princess
Cruises, Singapore Airlines, Solar Tours, Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Travelocity, United Airlines, Vacation Express and Virgin Atlantic.
We have three operating segments based on geographic regions: Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. Asia Pacific consists of our operations in
Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. Europe consists of our operations in France, Germany, Spain, and the U.K. North America
consists of our operations in Canada and the U.S. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , Asia Pacific operations were 8% and European operations were 30% of
revenues, respectively. Financial information with respect to our business segments and certain financial information about geographic areas appears in Note 12 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
When evaluating the financial condition and operating performance of the Company, management focuses on financial and non-financial indicators such as
growth in the number of members to the Company’s newsletters, operating margin, growth in revenues in the absolute and relative to the growth in reach of the
Company’s publications measured as revenue per member and revenue per employee as a measure of productivity.
How We Generate Revenues
Our revenues are advertising revenues, consisting primarily of listing fees paid by travel, entertainment and local businesses to advertise their offers on
Travelzoo’s media properties. Listing fees are based on audience reach, placement, number of listings, number of impressions, number of clicks, number of
referrals, or percentage of the face value of vouchers sold. Insertion orders are typically for periods between one month and twelve months and are not
automatically renewed. Merchant agreements for Local Deals and Getaway advertisers are typically for twelve months and are not automatically renewed. We
have three separate groups of our advertising products: Travel, Search and Local.
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Our Travel category of revenue includes the publishing revenue for negotiated high-quality deals from travel companies, such as hotels, airlines, cruises or
car rentals and includes products such as Top 20 , Website, Newsflash, Travelzoo Network as well as Getaway vouchers. The revenues generated from these
products are based upon a fee for number of e-mails delivered to our audience, a fee for clicks delivered to the advertisers, a fee for placement of the advertising on
our website or a fee based on a percentage of the face value of vouchers sold, hotel booking stays or other items sold. We recognize revenue upon delivery of the emails, delivery of the clicks, over the period of placement of the advertising, upon hotel booking stays and upon the sale of the vouchers or other items sold.
Our Search category of revenue includes comparison shopping tools for consumers to quickly and easily compare airfares, hotel and car rental prices and
includes SuperSearch and Fly.com products. The revenues generated from these products are based upon a fee for clicks delivered to the advertisers or a fee for
clicks delivered to advertisers that resulted in revenue for advertisers (i.e. successful clicks). We recognize revenue upon delivery of the clicks or successful clicks.
Our Local category of revenue includes the publishing revenue for negotiated high-quality deals from local businesses, such as restaurants, spas, shows, and
other activities and includes Local Deals vouchers and entertainment offers (vouchers and direct bookings). The revenues generated from these products are based
upon a percentage of the face value of vouchers or items sold or a fee for clicks delivered to the advertisers. We recognize revenue upon the sale of the vouchers,
when we receive notification of the direct bookings or upon delivery of the clicks. The Company earns a fee for acting as an agent in these transactions, which is
recorded on a net basis and is included in revenue upon completion of the voucher sale. Certain merchant contracts in foreign locations allow us to retain fees
related to vouchers sold that are not redeemed by purchasers upon expiration, which we recognize as revenue after the expiration of the redemption period and after
there are no further obligations to provide funds to merchants, members or others.
Trends in Our Business
Our ability to generate revenues in the future depends on numerous factors such as our ability to sell more advertising to existing and new advertisers, our
ability to increase our audience reach and advertising rates, our ability to have sufficient supply of hotels offered at competitive rates, and our ability to develop
and launch new products.
Our current revenue model primarily depends on advertising fees paid primarily by travel, entertainment and local businesses. A number of factors can
influence whether current and new advertisers decide to advertise their offers with us. We have been impacted and expect to continue to be impacted by external
factors such as the shift from offline to online advertising, the relative condition of the economy, competition and the introduction of new methods of advertising,
and the decline in consumer demand for vouchers. The introduction of competing services and changing search algorithms by search engines such as Google,
Yahoo! and Microsoft which may reduce the level or quality of Internet traffic to our services, in particular our Search products, SuperSearch and Fly.com , the
competitive market pricing of voucher-based offerings may lead to us reducing our take rate (i.e., our commission) in order to maintain or grow the number of
quality deals and merchants we are seeking. For example, the consolidation of the airline industry reduced our revenues generated from this sector, the reduction of
capacity in the airline industry reduced demand to advertise for excess capacity, and the introduction of new voucher-based products offered by competitors
impacted our ability to sell our existing advertising products. A number of factors will have impact on our revenue, such as the reduction in spending by travel
intermediaries due to their focus on improving profitability, the trend towards mobile usage by consumers, the willingness of consumers to purchase the deals we
advertise, and the willingness of certain competitors to grow their business unprofitably. In addition, we have been impacted and expect to continue to be impacted
by internal factors such as introduction of new advertising products, hiring and relying on key employees for the continued maintenance and growth of our
business and ensuring our advertising products continue to attract the audience that advertisers desire. In response to declining Search product revenue, which
includes SuperSearch and Fly.com products, the Company is continuously reviewing the performance of these products, which has and will result in reduced traffic
acquisition spend for these products and may result in merging the products, discontinuing or replacing one or both of them. Challenges with traffic acquisition
from search engines and poor monetization on mobile devices have led to continued declines in Search revenue. Given these factors impacting our Search
products, revenue from our Search products are expected to decline.
Existing advertisers may shift from one advertising service (e.g. Top 20 ) to another (e.g. Local Deals and Getaway ). These shifts between advertising
services by advertisers could result in no incremental revenue or less revenue than in previous periods depending on the amount purchased by the advertisers, and
in particular, with Local Deals and Getaway , depending on how many vouchers are purchased by members. In addition, we are anticipating a shift from our
existing hotel revenue to commission-based hotel revenue as we expand the use of our hotel platform, which may result in lower revenue depending on volume of
hotel bookings.
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Local revenues have been and may continue to decline over time due to market conditions driven by competition and declines in consumer demand. In the
last several years, we have seen a decline in the number of vouchers sold and a decrease in the average take rate earned by us from the merchants for voucher sold.
Our ability to continue to generate advertising revenue depends heavily upon our ability to maintain and grow an attractive audience for our publications. We
monitor our members to assess our efforts to maintain and grow our audience reach. We obtain additional members and activity on our websites by acquiring
traffic from Internet search companies. The costs to grow our audience have had, and we expect will to continue to have, a significant impact on our financial
results and can vary from period to period. We may have to increase our expenditures on acquiring traffic to continue to grow or maintain our reach of our
publications due to competition. We continue to see a shift in the audience to accessing our services through mobile devices and social media. We are addressing
this growing channel of our audience through development of our mobile applications and through marketing on social media channels. However, we will need to
keep pace with technological change and this trend to further address this shift in the audience behavior in order to offset any related declines in revenue.
We believe that we can increase our advertising rates only if the reach of our publications increases. We do not know if we will be able to increase the reach
of our publications. If we are able to increase the reach of our publications, we still may not be able to or want to increase rates given market conditions such as
intense competition in our industry. We have not had any significant rate increase in recent years due to intense competition in our industry. Even if we increase
our rates, the increased price may reduce the amount of advertisers willing to advertise with us and, therefore, decrease our revenue. We may need to decrease our
rates based on competitive market conditions and the performance of our audience in order to maintain or grow our revenue.
We do not know what our cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues will be in future periods. Our cost of revenues will increase if the number of searches
performed on Fly.com increases because we pay a fee based on the number of searches performed on Fly.com . Our cost of revenues may increase if the face value
of vouchers that we sell for Local Deals and Getaway increases or the total number of vouchers sold increases because we have credit card fees based upon face
value of vouchers sold, due to customer service costs related to vouchers sold and due to member refunds on vouchers sold. Our cost of revenues are expected to
increase due to our effort to develop our hotel booking platform as well. We expect fluctuations in cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues from quarter to
quarter. Some of the fluctuations may be significant and have a material impact on our results of operations.
We do not know what our sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue will be in future periods. Increased competition in our industry may
require us to increase advertising for our brand and for our products. In order to increase the reach of our publications, we have to acquire a significant number of
new members in every quarter and continue to promote our brand. One significant factor that impacts our advertising expenses is the average cost per acquisition
of a new member. Increases in the average cost of acquiring new members may result in an increase of sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue.
We believe that the average cost per acquisition depends mainly on the advertising rates which we pay for media buys, our ability to manage our member
acquisition efforts successfully, the regions we choose to acquire new members and the relative costs for that region, and the degree of competition in our industry.
We may decide to accelerate our member acquisition for various strategic and tactical reasons and, as a result, increase our marketing expenses. We expect the
average cost per acquisition to increase with our increased expectations for the quality of the members we acquire. We may see an unique opportunity for a brand
marketing campaign that will result in an increase of marketing expenses. In addition, there may be a significant number of members that cancel or we may cancel
their subscription for various reasons, which may drive us to spend more on member acquisition in order to replace the lost members. Further, we expect to
continue our strategy over time to replicate our business model in selected foreign markets to result in a significant increase in our sales and marketing expenses
and have a material adverse impact on our results of operations. For example, we recently acquired our Asia Pacific business, which we intend on increasing our
investment in audience in this region. Due to the continued desire to grow our business in Asia Pacific, Europe and North America, we expect relatively high level
of sales and marketing expenses in the foreseeable future. We expect fluctuations in sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue from year to year and
from quarter to quarter. Some of the fluctuations may be significant and have a material impact on our results of operations. We expect increased marketing
expense to spur continued growth in members and revenue in future periods; however, we cannot be assured of this due to the many factors that impact our growth
in members and revenue. We expect to adjust the level of such incremental spending during any given quarter based upon market conditions as well as our
performance in each quarter. We have increased and may continue to increase our spending on sales and marketing to increase the number of our members and
address the growing audience from mobile and social media channels, as well as to increase our analytic capabilities to continuously improve the presentation of
our offerings to our audience.
We do not know what our product development expenses as a percentage of revenue will be in future periods. There may be fluctuations that have a material
impact on our results of operations. Product development changes may lead to reductions of revenue based on changes in the presentation of our offerings to our
audience. We expect our efforts on developing our product
35

and services will continue to be focus in the future, which may lead to increased product development expenses. This increase in expense may be the result of an
increase in headcount, the compensation related to existing headcount and the increased use of professional services. We expect our continued expansion into
foreign markets and development of new advertising formats to result in a significant additional increase in our product development expenses. We expect to incur
additional costs related to the development of our hotel platform capabilities, which we are developing, in part, to address the shift to mobile devices. We also may
increase our investment in product development to ensure our products are suited for different regions such as Asia Pacific. In addition, we expect to incur
additional costs related to the development of our search capabilities of our website and mobile applications.
We do not know what our general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue will be in future periods. There may be fluctuations that have a
material impact on our results of operations. We expect our headcount to continue to increase in the future. The Company’s headcount is one of the main drivers of
general and administrative expenses. Therefore, we expect our absolute general and administrative expenses to continue to increase. We expect our continued
expansion into foreign markets to result in an increase in our general and administrative expenses. Our general and administrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue may also fluctuate depending on the number of requests received related to a program under which the Company intends to make cash payments to people
who establish that they were former stockholders of Travelzoo.com Corporation, whose claims were not escheated to states and who failed to submit requests to
convert shares into Travelzoo Inc. within the required time period. We expect an increase in professional fees for various initiatives.
We do not know what our income taxes will be in future periods. There may be fluctuations that have a material impact on our results of operations. Our
income taxes are dependent on numerous factors such as the geographic mix of our taxable income, federal and state and foreign country tax law and regulations
and changes thereto, the determination of whether valuation allowances for certain tax assets are required or not, audits of prior years' tax returns resulting in
adjustments, resolution of uncertain tax positions and different treatment for certain items for tax versus books such as the disposition of our Asia Pacific business
in 2009 and the acquisition of our Asia Pacific business in 2015. We expect fluctuations in our income taxes from year to year and from quarter to quarter. Some of
the fluctuations may be significant and have a material impact on our results of operations.
The key elements of our growth strategy include building a travel and lifestyle brand with a large, high-quality user base and offering our users products that
keep pace with consumer preference and technology, such as the trend toward mobile usage by consumers. We expect to continue our efforts to grow; however, we
may not grow or we may experience slower growth. Some examples of our efforts to expand our business internationally since our inception in the U.S. have been
expansion to the U.K. in 2005, Canada in 2006, Germany in 2006, France in 2007, Spain in 2008. In addition, from 2007 through 2009 we began operations in
Asia Pacific, including in Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. We also have launched new products to grow our revenue such as the
introduction of Fly.com in 2009, Local Deals in 2010, Getaway in 2011 as well as our mobile application launches in 2011 and 2012. In late 2012, we bought an
online hotel platform to assist in our development of a product to better serve hotels and to facilitate the development of our hotel platform. We have also increased
our spending on addressing the shift of our audience to mobile devices and social media.
We believe that we can sell more advertising if the market for online advertising continues to grow and if we can maintain or increase our market share. We
believe that the market for advertising continues to shift from offline to online. We do not know if we will be able to maintain or increase our market share. We do
not know if we will be able to increase the number of our advertisers in the future. We do not know if we will have market acceptance of our new products or
whether the market will continue to accept our existing products.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth, as a percentage of total revenues, the results from our operations for the periods indicated.
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

2014

2013

100.0%

100.0%

100.0 %

13.3

12.5

10.8

86.7

87.5

89.2

55.8

54.5

53.1

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Unexchanged promotional shares

8.8

7.4

5.2

17.1

18.9

17.3

—

Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other income (loss)
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss)

(4.9)

12.9

81.7

75.9

88.5

5.0

11.6

0.7

(0.9)

0.1

—

4.1

11.7

0.7

(3.5)

3.2

7.6%
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8.5%

4.5
(3.8)%

Operating Metrics
The following table sets forth operating metrics in Asia Pacific, Europe and North America:
Years Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Asia Pacific
Total members

3,484,000

3,533,000

3,598,000

Average cost per acquisition of a new member

$

2.46

$

0.64

$

0.50

Revenue per member (2)

$

3.02

$

3.08

$

3.29

Revenue per employee (3)

$

114

$

92

$

112

Mobile application downloads

563,000

355,000

329,000

Social media followers

383,000

366,000

353,000

Europe
Total members

7,860,000

7,347,000

6,768,000

Average cost per acquisition of a new member

$

3.43

$

3.53

$

2.19

Revenue per member (2)

$

5.73

$

6.93

$

7.26

Revenue per employee (3)

$

287

$

297

$

Mobile application downloads
Social media followers

299

1,419,000

1,192,000

814,000

595,000

494,000

393,000

17,184,000

16,843,000

16,506,000

North America
Total members
Average cost per acquisition of a new member

$

2.16

$

2.09

$

1.41

Revenue per member (2)

$

5.28

$

5.77

$

6.96

Revenue per employee (3)

$

383

$

340

$

398

Mobile application downloads

2,734,000

2,312,000

1,653,000

Social media followers

2,250,000

1,809,000

1,483,000

Consolidated
Total members (1)

28,390,000

27,667,000

26,821,000

Average cost per acquisition of a new member

$

2.62

$

2.55

$

1.58

Revenue per member (2)

$

5.12

$

5.71

$

6.56

Revenue per employee (3)

$

300

$

275

$

314

Mobile application downloads

4,716,000

3,859,000

2,796,000

Social media followers

3,228,000

2,669,000

2,229,000

(1)

Members represent individuals who are signed up to receive one or more of our free email publications that present our travel, entertainment and local
deals.

(2)

Annual revenue divided by number of members at the beginning of the year.

(3)

Annual revenue divided by number of employees at the end of the year.
38

Revenues
The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenues (in thousands) by category and segment. Travel revenue includes travel publications ( Top 20 ,
Website , Newsflash , Travelzoo Network ), Getaway vouchers and hotel booking platform. Search revenue includes SuperSearch and Fly.com . Local revenue
includes Local Deals vouchers and entertainment offers (vouchers and direct bookings).
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Asia Pacific
Travel

$

Search
Local
Total Asia Pacific revenues

9,355

$

9,308

$

9,788

34

100

230

1,294

1,667

2,055

$

10,683

$

11,075

$

12,073

$

33,603

$

35,847

$

34,112

Europe
Travel
Search

2,396

Local

3,009

6,133

Total Europe revenues

3,539

7,119

8,388

$

42,132

$

45,975

$

46,039

$

56,054

$

59,104

$

63,534

North America
Travel
Search

15,427

Local

15,888

17,420

Total North America revenues

21,548

21,198

27,439

$

88,901

$

96,190

$

112,521

$

99,012

$

104,259

$

107,434

Consolidated
Travel
Search

17,857

Local

18,997

24,847

Total revenues

$

141,716

25,317

29,984
$

153,240

37,882
$

170,633

Asia Pacific
Asia Pacific revenues decreased $392,000 or 4% in 2015 compared to 2014 . This decrease was primarily due to a $758,000 negative impact from foreign
currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar and the decrease in Local revenues offset by the increase in Travel revenues. The decrease in Local revenues of
$285,000 was primarily due to the decreased number of Local Deals vouchers sold. The increase in Travel revenues of $700,000 was primarily due to the increased
number of e-mails sent.
Asia Pacific revenues decreased $1.0 million or 8% in 2014 compared to 2013 . This decrease was primarily due to a $481,000 negative impact from foreign
currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar and a decrease in Local revenues. The decrease in Local revenues of $341,000 was primarily due to the decreased
number of Local Deals vouchers sold.
Europe
Europe revenues decreased $3.8 million or 8% in 2015 compared to 2014 . This decrease was primarily due to the $4.9 million negative impact from foreign
currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar and the decrease in Local revenues offset by the increase in Travel revenues. The decrease in Local revenues of
$371,000 was primarily due to the decreased number of Local Deals vouchers sold. The increase in Travel revenue of $1.7 million was primarily due to the
increased number of emails sent and paid clicks.
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Europe revenues decreased $64,000 or 0.1% in 2014 compared to 2013 . This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in Local and Search revenues offset
by an increase in Travel revenues and a $1.7 million positive impact from foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar. The decrease in Local revenues
of $1.6 million was primarily due to the decreased number of Local Deals vouchers sold. The decrease in Search revenue of $711,000 was primarily due to the
decreased number of clicks that generate revenue as a result of decreased spending on traffic acquisition. The increase in Travel revenues of $597,000 was
primarily due to an increase in revenues from travel publications due to an increased number of e-mails delivered.
North America
North America revenues decreased $7.3 million or 8% in 2015 compared to 2014 . This decrease was primarily due to the decrease in Local and Travel
revenues. The decrease in Local revenues of $3.8 million was primarily due to the decreased number of Local Deals vouchers sold. The decrease in Travel revenue
of $3.1 million was primarily due to the decreased number of Getaway vouchers sold and paid clicks. The North America revenue decrease includes a $871,000
negative impact from foreign currency movement relative to the U.S. dollar.
North America revenues decreased $16.3 million or 15% in 2014 compared to 2013 . This decrease was primarily due to the decrease in Local, Search and
Travel revenues. The decrease in Local revenues of $6.2 million was primarily due to the decreased number of Local Deals vouchers sold. The decrease in Search
revenue of $5.7 million was primarily due to the decreased number of clicks that generate revenue as a result of decreased spending on traffic acquisition. The
decrease in Travel revenue of $4.4 million was primarily due to the decreased number of Getaway vouchers sold and paid clicks. The North America revenue
decrease includes a $541,000 negative impact from foreign currency movement relative to the U.S. dollar.
For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , none of our customers accounted for 10% or more of our revenue.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consists primarily of network expenses, including fees we pay for co-location services and depreciation and maintenance of network
equipment, payments made to third-party partners of the Travelzoo Network , fees we pay related to user searches on Fly.com , amortization of capitalized website
development costs, credit card fees, certain estimated member refunds and customer service costs associated with vouchers we sell and hotel bookings, and salary
expenses associated with network operations and customer service staff. Cost of revenues was $18.8 million, $19.2 million and $18.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Cost of revenue decreased $350,000 in 2015 compared to 2014 . This decrease was primarily due to a $892,000 decrease in Local Deals and Getaway costs
including a $335,000 decrease in member refunds, a $217,000 decrease in fees we paid related to user searches on Fly.com offset by a $830,000 increase in
payments made to third-party partners of the Travelzoo Network.
Cost of revenue increased $697,000 in 2014 compared to 2013 . This increase was primarily due to a $685,000 increase in payments made to third-party
partners of the Travelzoo Network , a $434,000 increase in salary and employee related expenses due to headcount increase for hotel booking platform customer
service, a $200,000 increase in professional service expenses offset by a $827,000 decrease in fees we paid related to user searches on Fly.com .
40

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising and promotional expenses, salary expenses associated with sales, marketing and production
staff, expenses related to our participation in industry conferences, and public relations expenses. Sales and marketing expenses were $79.0 million, $83.5 million
and $90.6 million for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Advertising expenses accounted for 33%, 26% and 29%, respectively, of total sales and marketing
expenses and consisted primarily of online advertising, which we refer to as traffic acquisition cost and member acquisition costs. The goal of our advertising was
to acquire new members for our e-mail products, increase the traffic to our websites and increase brand awareness.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased $4.5 million in 2015 compared to 2014 . The decrease was primarily due to a $4.6 million decrease in salary and
employee related expenses due in part to a decrease in headcount, a $1.0 million planned decrease in Search traffic acquisition costs offset by a $1.7 million
increase in member acquisition costs. The increase in member acquisition cost was intended to drive future growth, increase the reach of our audience, both in
terms of the size of our audience and from growing sources such as mobile devices and social media.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased $7.1 million in 2014 compared to 2013 . The decrease was primarily due to a $7.2 million planned decrease in
Search traffic acquisition costs and a $3.4 million decrease in salary and employee related expenses offset by a $2.3 million increase in member acquisition cost.
The increase in member acquisition cost was intended to drive future growth, increase the reach of our audience, both in terms of the size of our audience and from
growing sources such as mobile devices and social media.
Product Development
Product development expenses consist primarily of compensation for software development staff, fees for professional services, software maintenance and
amortization and facilities costs. Product development expenses were $12.5 million, $11.3 million and $8.8 million for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Product development expenses increased $1.2 million in 2015 compared to 2014 . The increase was primarily due to a $1.0 million increase in professional
service expenses due in part to the development of our hotel booking platform capabilities and enhancement to our website and mobile applications.
Product development expenses increased $2.5 million in 2014 compared to 2013 . The increase was primarily due to a $2.1 million increase in salary and
employee related expenses due in part to an increase in headcount.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for administrative, executive, fees for professional services, rent, bad debt expense,
amortization of intangible assets, and general office expense. General and administrative expenses were $24.2 million, $29.0 million and $29.6 million for 2015 ,
2014 and 2013 , respectively.
General and administrative expenses decreased $4.8 million in 2015 compared to 2014 . The decrease was primarily due to a $3.7 million decrease in salary
and employee related expenses due in part to a decrease in headcount and professional services costs.
General and administrative expenses decreased $589,000 in 2014 compared to 2013 . The decrease was primarily due to a $545,000 decrease in salary and
employee related expenses.
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Unexchanged Promotional Shares
On April 21, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with the State of Delaware resolving all claims relating to a previously-announced unclaimed
property review. The primary issue raised in the preliminary findings from the review, received by the Company on April 12, 2011, concerned the shares of
Travelzoo which have not been claimed by former shareholders of Travelzoo.com Corporation following a 2002 merger, as previously disclosed in the Company’s
report on Form 10-K. In the preliminary findings under the unclaimed property review, up to 3.0 million shares were identified as “demandable” under Delaware
escheat laws. While the Company continues to take the position that such shares were a promotional incentive and were issuable only to persons who establish
their eligibility as shareholders, the Company determined that it was in its best interest to promptly resolve all claims relating to the unclaimed property review.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company made a $20.0 million cash payment to the State of Delaware in April 2011 and received a complete release of
those claims from the State of Delaware. The $20.0 million payment was recorded as an expense in the three months ended March 31, 2011.
Since March 2012, the Company became subject to unclaimed property reviews by most of the other states in the U.S. that relate primarily to the
unexchanged promotional shares, which were not covered by the settlement and release by the State of Delaware. During the three months ended March 31, 2012,
the Company recorded a $3.0 million charge related to this unexchanged promotional merger shares contingency.

I n October 2013, the Company entered into settlement agreements with 35 additional states to resolve those states’ claims related to similar unclaimed
property audits. The multi-state settlement relates to approximately 700,000 additional shares of the Company that were not claimed by residents of those states
following the merger, which those states claimed were subject to escheat. While the Company disputes the states’ claims, the Company determined that it was in its
best interest to resolve the disputes and settle with 35 of the states. The remaining states, which were not included in the multi-state settlement as of October 2013,
had potential claims on approximately 400,000 additional shares that were not claimed by residents in those states following the merger. During the three months
ended September 30, 2013, the Company recorded a $22.0 million charge related to the settlements it entered into and for potential future settlements with the
remaining states. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company released a $7.6 million of the reserve related to the completion of settlements with
certain states for unclaimed property disputes in connection with unexchanged promotional shares. During the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company
settled with the remaining states and made cash payments of $3.7 million to the settled states after completion of the required due diligence. See Note 5 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information on the unexchanged promotional shares contingency.
Other Income (loss)
Other income (loss) consisted primarily of foreign exchange transactions gains and losses, interest income earned on cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash as well as interest expense. Other income (loss) was $(1.2) million, $91,000 and $(25,000) for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Other income decreased
$1.3 million from 2014 to 2015 . This decrease was primarily due to a $1.1 million foreign exchange transactions losses. Other income increased $116,000 from
2013 to 2014 . This increase was primarily due to foreign exchange transactions gains.
Income Taxes
Our income is generally taxed in the U.S., Canada and U.K. Our income tax provision reflect federal, state and country statutory rates applicable to our
worldwide income, adjusted to take into account expenses that are treated as having no recognizable tax benefit. Income tax expense (benefit) was $(5.0) million,
$4.8 million and $7.7 million for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Our effective tax rate was (84)%, 27% and 679% for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Our effective tax rate decreased for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 , due primarily to the recognition of
an $8.4 million tax benefit related to the unexchanged promotional shares after a lapse of certain statute of limitations, which decreased the Company's effective
tax rate by 143%. Our effective tax rate decreased for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 , due to the treatment of
the $7.6 million release of reserve for the unexchanged promotional shares as having no recognizable tax impact, which decreased the Company's effective tax rate
by 20%. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the $22.0 million expense for the unexchanged promotional shares was treated as having no recognizable tax
benefits, which increased the Company's effective tax rate by 646%. We expect that our effective tax rate in future periods may fluctuate depending on the
geographic mix of our worldwide taxable income, total amount of expenses representing payments to former stockholders, losses or gains incurred by our
operations in Asia Pacific, Canada and Europe, statutory tax rate changes that may occur and the need for valuation allowances on certain tax assets, if any.
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As of December 31, 2015 , the Company has a valuation allowance of approximately $6.9 million related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOL”) of approximately $29.6 million for which it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will not be realized. If not utilized, the foreign net operating loss
carryforwards begin to expire in 2016. The amount of the valuation allowance represented an increase of approximately $509,000 over the amount recorded as of
December 31, 2014 , and was due to the increase in foreign operating losses.
U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. The undistributed earnings on
a book basis for those non-U.S. subsidiaries are approximately $7.9 million. The Company intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in its operations outside
the U.S. If the undistributed earnings are remitted to the U.S., these amounts would be taxable in the U.S. at the current federal and state tax rates net of foreign tax
credits. Also, depending on the jurisdiction any distribution may be subject to withholding taxes at rates applicable for that jurisdiction. The estimated amount of
the unrecognized deferred tax liability attributed to future dividend distributions of undistributed earnings is approximately $538,000 at December 31, 2015 .
We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states and foreign jurisdictions. We are subject to U.S. federal and certain state tax
examinations for years after 2009 and are subject to California tax examinations for years after 2005. These examinations may lead to ordinary course adjustments
or proposed adjustments to our taxes or our net operating income. Our 2009 federal income tax return is currently under examination, including a review of the
impact of the sale of Asia Pacific business segment in 2009. In connection with this examination, we have received a Revenue Agent’s Report (RAR) from the
IRS, generally issued at the conclusion of an IRS examination. The RAR proposes an increase to our U.S. taxable income which would result in additional federal
tax, federal penalty and state tax expense totaling approximately $31 million, excluding interest and state penalties, if any. See Note 6 to the accompanying
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for further information.
Segment Information
Asia Pacific
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

(In thousands)

Revenues

$

10,683

$

11,075

$

12,073

Income from operations

$

(2,435)

$

(3,378)

$

(1,444)

Income from operations as a % of revenues

(23)%

(31)%

(12)%

Asia Pacific net revenues decreased $392,000 in 2015 compared to 2014 (see “Revenues” above). Asia Pacific expenses decreased $1.1 million from 2014 to
2015 . This decrease was primarily due to a $813,000 decrease in salary and employee related expense due primarily to a decrease in headcount.
Asia Pacific net revenues decreased $1.0 million in 2014 compared to 2013 (see “Revenues” above). Asia Pacific expenses increased $936,000 from 2013 to
2014 . This increase was primarily due to a $446,000 increase in salary and employee related expense and a $255,000 increase in professional services expense.
Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar negatively impacted our local currency loss from our operations in Asia Pacific by approximately
$16,000 for 2015 . Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar negatively impacted our local currency loss from our operations in Asia Pacific by
approximately $9,000 and $287,000 for 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Europe
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

(In thousands)

Revenues

$

42,132

$

45,975

$

46,039

Income from operations

$

3,871

$

5,818

$

7,836

Income from operations as a % of revenues

9%
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13%

17%

Europe net revenues decreased $3.8 million in 2015 compared to 2014 (see “Revenues” above). Europe expenses decreased $1.9 million from 2014 to 2015 .
This decrease was primarily due to a $2.1 million decrease in salary and employee related expense due in part to a decrease in headcount, a $1.1 million decrease
in search traffic acquisition costs offset by a $1.9 million increase in member acquisition and marketing costs.
Europe net revenues decreased $64,000 in 2014 compared to 2013 (see “Revenues” above). Europe expenses increased $2.0 million from 2013 to 2014 .
This increase was primarily due to a $1.8 million increase in member acquisition costs.

Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar negatively impacted our local currency income from our operations in Europe by approximately
$41,000 for 2015 . Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar positively impacted our local currency income from our operations in Europe by
approximately $325,000 for 2014 . Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar negatively impacted our local currency income from our operations in
Europe by approximately $55,000 for 2013 .
North America
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

(In thousands)

Revenues

$

88,901

$

96,191

$

112,520

Income from operations

$

5,710

$

7,787

$

16,769

Income from operations as a % of revenues

6%

8%

15%

North America net revenues decreased $7.3 million in 2015 compared to 2014 (see “Revenues” above). North America expenses decreased $5.2 million
from 2014 to 2015 . This decrease was primarily due to a $5.5 million decrease in salary and employee related expense due in part to a decrease in headcount offset
by a $1.0 million increase in member acquisition costs.
North America net revenues decreased $16.3 million in 2014 compared to 2013 (see “Revenues” above). North America expenses decreased $7.3 million
from 2014 to 2013 . This decrease was primarily due to a $5.3 million decrease in Search traffic acquisition costs and a $1.3 million decrease in salary and
employee related expense.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2015 , we had $35.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, of which $22.6 million was held outside the U.S. in certain of our foreign
operations. If these assets are distributed to the U.S., we may be subject to additional U.S. taxes in certain circumstances. Cash and cash equivalents decreased
from $55.4 million as of December 31, 2014 primarily as a result of cash used in acquiring the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business, effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents, partially offset by cash provided by operating activities as explained below. We expect that cash on hand will be sufficient to provide for
working capital needs for at least the next twelve months.
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

( In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

4,192

$

(1,587)

$

15,963

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,218)

(3,587)

(3,603)

Net cash used in financing activities

(20,012)

(4,693)

(8,452)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(3,251)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

(20,289)

(3,384)
$

(13,251)

71
$

Net cash provided by operating activities is net income adjusted for certain non-cash items and changes in assets and liabilities. Net cash provided by
operating activities was $4.2 million for 2015 , which consisted of a net income of $10.9 million, adjustments for non-cash items of $4.0 million and a $10.6
million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets
44

3,979

and liabilities. A dj ustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $2.8 million of depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment and
$401,000 of stock-based compensation expense. In addition, the decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of $7.9 million
in other non-current liabilities, $1.4 million in accrued expenses for unexchanged promotional shares, $3.0 million in accounts payable and accrued expenses offset
by $2.4 million in income tax receivable.
Net cash used in operating activities was $1.6 million for 2014 , which consisted of a net income of $13.1 million, adjustments for non-cash items of $4.5
million and a $19.2 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities. A dj ustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $982,000 of
stock-based compensation expense and $3.0 million of depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment. In addition, the decrease in cash from
changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of $11.3 million in accrued expenses for unexchanged promotional shares, $7.9 million in accounts
payable and $1.1 million in income taxes receivable.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $16.0 million for 2013 , which consisted of a net loss of $6.6 million, adjustments for non-cash items of $5.4
million and a $17.2 million increase in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities. A dj ustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $1.4 million of
stock-based compensation expense and $3.1 million of depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment. In addition, the increase in cash from
changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of $9.7 million in accrued expenses for unexchanged promotional shares, $4.0 million in income
taxes receivable and $3.1 million in accounts payable.
Cash paid for income tax net of refunds received in 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $801,000, $4.6 million and $2.6 million, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $1.2 million, $3.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively. The cash used in investing
activities in 2015 was due primarily due to $1.3 million in purchases of property and equipment offset by $64,000 release of restricted cash. The cash used in
investing activities in 2014 was due primarily to $3.8 million in purchases of property and equipment offset by $226,000 release of restricted cash. The cash used
in investing activities in 2013 was due primarily to $5.5 million in purchases of property and equipment offset by $1.9 million release of restricted cash.
Net cash used in financing activities for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $20.0 million, $4.7 million and $8.5 million, respectively. Net cash used in financing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily due to cash used in acquiring the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business and repurchases of our common
stock. Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were primarily to repurchases of our common stock.
See Note 5 to the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for information on the unexchanged promotional share settlements
and related cash program.
Although the Company has settled the states unclaimed property claims with all states, the Company may still receive inquiries from certain potential
Netsurfer promotional stockholders that had not provided their state of residence to the Company by April 25, 2004. Therefore, the Company is continuing its
voluntary program under which it makes cash payments to individuals related to the promotional shares for individuals whose residence was unknown by the
Company and
who establish that they satisfied the conditions to receive shares of Travelzoo.com Corporation, and who failed to submit requests to convert their shares into
shares of Travelzoo Inc. within the required time period. This voluntary program is not available for individuals whose promotional shares have been escheated to
a state by the Company.
Our capital requirements depend on a number of factors, including market acceptance of our products and services, the amount of our resources we devote to
the development of new products, cash payments related to former stockholders of Travelzoo.com Corporation, expansion of our operations, and the amount of
resources we devote to promoting awareness of our Travelzoo and Fly.com brands. Since the inception of the program under which we make cash payments to
people who establish that they were former stockholders of Travelzoo.com Corporation, and who failed to submit requests to convert their shares into shares of
Travelzoo Inc. within the required time period, we have incurred expenses of $2.9 million. While future payments for this program are expected to decrease, the
total cost of this program is still undeterminable because it is dependent on our stock price and on the number of valid requests ultimately received.
Consistent with our growth, we have experienced fluctuations in our cost of revenues, sales and marketing expenses and our general and administrative
expenses, including increases in product development costs, and we anticipate that these increases will continue for the foreseeable future. We believe cash on
hand will be sufficient to pay such costs for at least the next twelve months. In addition, we will continue to evaluate possible investments in businesses, products
and technologies, the consummation of any of which would increase our capital requirements.
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Although we currently believe that we have sufficient capital resources to meet our anticipated working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at
least the next twelve months, unanticipated events and opportunities or a less favorable than expected development of our business with one or more of advertising
formats may require us to sell additional equity or debt securities or establish new credit facilities to raise capital in order to meet our capital requirements.
If we sell additional equity or convertible debt securities, the sale could dilute the ownership of our existing stockholders. If we issue debt securities or
establish a new credit facility, our fixed obligations could increase, and we may be required to agree to operating covenants that would restrict our operations. We
cannot be sure that any such financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us.
If the development of our business is less favorable than expected, we may decide to significantly reduce the size of our operations and marketing expenses
in certain markets with the objective of reducing cash outflow.
The information set forth under “Note 5 — Commitments and Contingencies” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in Part II,
Item 8 of this report is incorporated herein by reference. Litigation and claims against the Company may result in legal defense costs, settlements or judgments that
could have a material impact on our financial condition.
The following summarizes our principal contractual commitments as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
2016

Operating leases

$

Purchase obligations
Total commitments

4,621

2017

$

1,537
$

6,158

2018

3,895

$

882
$

4,777

3,311

2019

$

365
$

3,676

2020

3,033

$

—
$

3,033

Thereafter

2,633

$

—
$

2,633

7,801

Total

$

—
$

7,801

25,294
2,784

$

28,078

We also have contingencies related to net unrecognized tax benefits, including interest, of approximately $3.0 million as of December 31, 2015 . In addition,
the Company received a Revenue Agents' Report from the IRS for the 2009 calendar year related to the sale of our Asia Pacific business segment, which would
result in additional federal and state tax expense totaling approximately $31.0 million, excluding interest and state penalties, if any. We are unable to make
reasonably reliable estimates on the timing of the cash settlements with the respective taxing authorities, if any. See Note 6 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for further information.
On August 20, 2015, as part of the Asia Pacific acquisition, Travelzoo (Europe) Limited issued a promissory note to Azzurro with a principal amount of $5.7
million , with a maturity date of August 20, 2018 and the ability to pay off principal prior to this maturity date with no prepayment penalty and a stated interest rate
of 7% . In January 2016, the full amount of the loan was paid off by Travelzoo (Europe) Limited.
Critical Accounting Policies
We believe that there are a number of accounting policies that are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies affect the
reported amounts of revenue and the more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates. These significant accounting policies relate to
revenue recognition, reserve for member refunds, allowance for doubtful accounts, income tax and loss contingencies. These policies, and our procedures related to
these policies, are described in detail below.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize advertising revenues in the period in which the advertisement is displayed, or the voucher sale has been completed, provided that evidence of
an arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. If fixed-fee advertising is displayed over a
term greater than one month, revenues are recognized ratably over the period as described below. The majority of insertion orders have terms that begin and end in
a quarterly reporting period. In the cases where at the end of a quarterly reporting period the term of an insertion order is not complete, the Company allocates the
total arrangement fee to each element based on the relative estimated selling price of each element. The Company uses prices stated on its internal rate card, which
represents stand-alone sales prices, to establish estimated selling prices. The stand-alone price is the price that would be charged if the advertiser purchased only
the individual insertion. Fees for variable-fee advertising arrangements are recognized based on the number of impressions displayed, number of clicks delivered,
or number of referrals generated during the period.
Under these policies, the Company evaluates each of these criteria as follows:
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•

Evidence of an arrangement. We consider an insertion order signed by the advertiser or its agency to be evidence of an arrangement.

•

Delivery. Delivery is considered to occur when the advertising has been displayed and, if applicable, the click-throughs have been delivered and
the voucher sale has been completed.

•

Fixed or determinable fee. We consider the fee to be fixed or determinable if the fee is not subject to refund or adjustment and payment terms
are standard.

•

Collection is deemed reasonably assured. We conduct a credit review for all advertising transactions at the time of the arrangement to determine
the creditworthiness of the advertiser. Collection is deemed reasonably assured if we expect that the advertiser will be able to pay amounts under
the arrangement as payments become due. Collection is deemed not reasonably assured when an advertiser is perceived to be in financial
distress, which may be evidenced by weak industry conditions, a bankruptcy filing, or previously billed amounts that are past due. If we
determine that collection is not reasonably assured, then we defer the revenue and recognize the revenue upon cash collection. Collection is
deemed reasonably assured for our voucher sales to consumers as these transactions require the use of credit cards subject to authorization.

Revenues from advertising sold to advertisers through agencies are reported at the net amount billed to the agency.
For Local Deals and Getaways products, the Company earns a fee for acting as an agent in these transactions which is recorded on a net basis and is included
in revenue upon completion of the voucher sale. Certain merchant contracts in foreign locations allow us to retain fees related to vouchers sold that are not
redeemed by purchasers upon expiration, which we recognize as revenue after the expiration of the redemption period and after there are no further obligations to
provide funds to merchants, members or others.
Commission revenues generated through provision of hotel booking reservations to hotels are recognized upon the estimated date the stay occurs at the hotel,
which includes estimates of cancellations of the hotel bookings based upon historical patterns. If the hotel booking cannot be canceled or the hotel advertiser has
agreed to pay for booking regardless of potential future cancellations then revenue is recognized upon booking.
Reserve for Member Refunds
We record an estimated reserve for member refunds based on our historical experience at the time revenue is recorded for Local Deals and Getaway voucher
sales. We accrue costs associated with refunds in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. We consider many key factors such as the historical refunds
based upon the time lag since the sale, historical reasons for refunds, time period that remains until the deal expiration date, any changes in refund procedures and
estimates of redemptions and breakage. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which could impact the level of
our future reserves for member refunds. Specifically, if the financial condition of our advertisers, the business that is providing the vouchered service, were to
deteriorate, affecting their ability to provide the services to our members, additional reserves for member refunds may be required.
Estimated member refunds that are determined to be recoverable from the merchant are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations as a reduction
to revenue. Estimated member refunds that are determined not to be recoverable from the merchant are presented as a cost of revenue. If our judgments regarding
estimated member refunds are inaccurate, reported results of operations could differ from the amount we previously accrued.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We record a provision for doubtful accounts based on our historical experience of write-offs and a detailed assessment of our accounts receivable and
allowance for doubtful accounts. In estimating the provision for doubtful accounts, management considers the age of the accounts receivable, our historical writeoffs, the creditworthiness of the advertiser, the economic conditions of the advertiser’s industry, and general economic conditions, among other factors. Should any
of these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which could impact the level of our future provision for doubtful accounts.
Specifically, if the financial condition of our advertisers were to deteriorate, affecting their ability to make payments, additional provision for doubtful accounts
may be required.
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Income Taxes
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our uncertain tax positions and
determining our provision for income taxes. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be given that the
final tax outcome of these matters will not be different. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress or closing of a
tax audit or the refinement of an estimate. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will
impact the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made. The provision for income taxes includes the impact of reserve provisions
and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate, as well as the related net interest.
Our effective tax rates have differed from the statutory rate primarily due to the tax impact of foreign operations, state taxes, certain benefits realized related
to stock option activities, the extent that our earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. and tax asset valuation allowance determinations, including on
certain loss carryforwards. For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our effective tax rates were (84)%, 27% and 679%, respectively. Our future
effective tax rates could be materially impacted by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates and higher than
anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory rates, changes in the deferred tax assets or liabilities, changes in tax asset valuation allowance
determinations, changes in our judgment about whether certain foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S., or changes in tax laws, regulations,
and accounting principles. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the IRS and other tax authorities. We regularly
assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. See Note 6 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information.
Loss Contingencies
We are involved in claims, suits, and proceedings arising from the ordinary course of our business. We record a provision for a liability when we believe that
it is both probable that a liability has been incurred, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required to determine both probability
and the estimated amount. Such claim proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control.
Should any of these estimates and assumptions change or prove to have been incorrect, it could have a material impact on our results of operations, financial
position and cash flows. We have several known loss contingencies such as our liability to former stockholders of Travelzoo.com Corporation that may be realized
as a result of our cash program for these claimants and the 2009 IRS audit claims. Please refer to Note 5 and 6 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for further information regarding our loss contingencies.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See “Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in this report, regarding our
significant accounting policies and any impact of certain recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We believe that our potential exposure to changes in market interest rates is not material. The Company is not a party to any derivative transactions. We
invest in highly liquid investments with short maturities. Accordingly, we do not expect any material loss from these investments.
Our operations in Canada expose us to foreign currency risk associated with agreements being denominated in Canadian Dollars. Our operations in Europe
expose us to foreign currency risk associated with agreements being denominated in British Pound Sterling and Euros. Our operations in Asia Pacific expose us to
foreign currency risk associated with agreements being denominated in Australian dollars, Chinese Yuan, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese Yen and Taiwanese Yuan.
We are exposed to foreign currency risk associated with fluctuations of these currencies as the financial position and operating results of our operations in Asia
Pacific, Canada and Europe are translated into U.S. dollars for consolidation purposes. We do not use derivative instruments to hedge these exposures. We are a net
receiver of U.S. dollars from our foreign subsidiaries and therefore benefit from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely affected by a stronger U.S. dollar relative to
the foreign currency used by the foreign subsidiary as its functional currency. We have performed a sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2015 , using a
modeling technique that measures the change in the fair values arising from a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in the levels of foreign currency exchange rates
relative to the U.S. dollar with all other variables held constant. The foreign currency exchange rates we used were based on market rates in effect at December 31,
2015 . The sensitivity analysis indicated that a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates would result in an incremental $149,000
foreign exchange loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 .
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Travelzoo Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Travelzoo Inc. and subsidiaries (Travelzoo) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2015. We also have audited Travelzoo's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Travelzoo's
management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on Travelzoo's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Travelzoo Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, Travelzoo maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
COSO.
Travelzoo acquired Travelzoo Asia Pacific during 2015, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of Travelzoo’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, Travelzoo Asia Pacific’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of $5.8 million and
total revenues of $10.8 million included in the consolidated financial statements of Travelzoo Inc. and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31,
2015. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Travelzoo also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Travelzoo
Asia Pacific
/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 14, 2016
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TRAVELZOO INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $384 and $444 as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively

35,128

$

55,417

16,398

16,124

Income tax receivable

1,356

3,756

Deferred tax assets

1,230

1,311

782

86

Deposits
Prepaid expenses and other

2,167

2,676

57,061

79,370

501

1,436

Deferred tax assets

1,769

1,432

Restricted cash

1,328

1,393

Property and equipment, net

7,905

9,498

Total current assets
Deposits

Other assets

15

Total assets

178

$

68,579

$

93,307

$

23,655

$

26,858

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Reserve for unexchanged promotional shares
Note payable to related party

10,140

11,814

1,085

1,472

477

574

—

1,393

5,658

1,000

41,015

43,111

Long-term tax liabilities

3,000

10,936

Long-term deferred rent and other

3,177

3,433

—

—

Total current liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share (5,000 shares authorized; none issued)
Common stock, $0.01 par value (40,000 shares authorized; 14,518 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015
and 15,801 shares issued,14,730 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2014)

150

Treasury stock (at cost, 0 and 1,071 shares at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively)

163

—

Additional paid-in capital

(21,517)

7,759

30,586

Retained earnings

17,386

29,197

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(3,908)

(2,602)

Total stockholders’ equity

21,387

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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68,579

35,827
$

93,307

TRAVELZOO INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Revenues

$

Cost of revenues

2014

141,716

$

2013

153,240

$

170,633

18,824

19,174

18,477

122,892

134,066

152,156

Sales and marketing

79,042

83,511

90,576

Product development

12,528

11,326

8,828

General and administrative

24,176

29,002

29,591

Gross profit
Operating expenses:

Unexchanged promotional shares

—

Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other income (loss)

(7,583)
116,256

150,995

7,146

17,810

1,161

(1,242)

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

22,000

115,746

91

(25)

5,904

17,901

1,136

(4,960)

4,839

7,718

Net income (loss)

$

10,864

$

13,062

$

(6,582)

Basic net income (loss) per share

$

0.74

$

0.88

$

(0.43)

Diluted net income (loss) per share

$

0.74

$

0.88

$

(0.43)

Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share

14,722

14,768

15,269

Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share

14,722

14,809

15,269

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRAVELZOO INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Net income (loss)

$

2014

10,864

2013

$

13,062

$

10,834

$

(6,582)

$

(6,286)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment

(1,306)

Total comprehensive income (loss)

$

9,558

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(2,228)

296

TRAVELZOO INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)
Common Stock
Shares

Balances, December 31, 2012
Stock-based compensation expense

Amount

15,362

$

163

Treasury
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

$

(7,898)
—

28,106

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$

$

$

23,881

(670)

43,582

—

—

1,384

—

—

1,384

Repurchase of common stock

(371)

—

(7,764)

—

—

—

(7,764)

Shares fractionalized from
reverse/forward stock split, including
transaction costs

(643)

(6)

(14,017)

—

—

—

(14,023)

Proceeds from sale of shares
fractionalized from reverse/forward
stock split, including transaction costs

13,203

643

6

14,017

—

(820)

—

Foreign currency translation adjustment

—

—

—

—

—

296

Net loss

—

—

—

—

14,991

163

—

—

Balances, December 31, 2013
Stock-based compensation expense
Income tax impact from stock options

(15,662)

—

(6,582)

(374)

30,096

29,490

16,479

—

982

—

—

—

(186)

—

—

(186)

300

—

—

(5,555)

—

—

(261)

—

Proceeds from sale of shares
fractionalized from reverse/forward
stock split, including transaction costs

—

—

—

—

(344)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

—

—

—

—

—

Repurchase of common stock, net

Net income
Balances, December 31, 2014

—

—

14,730

163

296

(6,582)

(5,855)

—
(21,517)

—

(344)

(2,228)

—

13,062

30,586

29,197

401

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,228)

—

13,062

(2,602)

35,827

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

Retirement of treasury stock

—

(13)

23,241

Repurchase of common stock

(212)

—

(1,724)

Proceeds from sale of shares
fractionalized from reverse/forward
stock split, including transaction costs

—

—

—

—

(102)

—

(102)

Acquisition of Asia Pacific business

—

—

—

—

(22,573)

—

(22,573)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

—

—

—

—

—

Net income

—

—

—

—

10,864

Balances, December 31, 2015

14,518

$

150

—

982

$

—

(23,228)
—

$

7,759

$

17,386

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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401
—
(1,724)

(1,306)

(1,306)

—
$

(3,908)

10,864
$

21,387

TRAVELZOO INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$

10,864

$

13,062

$

(6,582)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

2,788

2,986

3,127

Provision for losses on accounts receivable

(20)

35

Stock-based compensation

401

982

1,384

(269)

303

706

—

249

—

480

(16)

176

(789)

(830)

(766)

Deferred income tax
Impairment of software
Net foreign currency effect

(5)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Income tax receivable

2,371

Prepaid expenses and other

(1,114)

675

4,042

822

(776)

Accounts payable

(1,139)

(7,893)

3,117

Reserve for unexchanged promotional shares

(1,393)

(11,333)

9,726

Accrued expenses and other

(1,681)

52

(161)

608

(7,935)

500

Income tax payable
Other non-current liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

1,414
(6)
406

4,192

(1,587)

15,963

(1,282)

(3,813)

(5,510)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Release of restricted cash

64

Net cash used in investing activities

226

(1,218)

1,907

(3,587)

(3,603)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment for the acquisition of the Asia Pacific business

(16,974)

Payment of loan to related party

(3,250)

Proceeds from loan from related party
Increase in bank overdraft
Decrease in bank overdraft
Reverse/forward stock split, including transaction costs
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

—

—

—

2,224

1,000

—

44

341

(385)

Repurchase of common stock

—

—

—

(1,569)

(5,555)

(7,764)

(102)

(479)

(688)

(20,012)

(4,693)

(8,452)

(3,251)

(3,384)

(20,289)

(13,251)

3,979

55,417

68,668

64,689

71

$

35,128

$

55,417

$

68,668

Cash paid for income taxes, net

$

801

$

4,606

$

2,609

Cash paid for interest

$

128

—

Note payable for the acquisition of the Asia Pacific business

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
—

5,658

—

Funds held by transfer agent for settlement of reverse/forward stock split

—

—

$

13,558

Payable to shareholders for reverse/forward stock split

—

—

$

13,668

Leasehold improvements funded by landlord

—

624

$

705

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

—

TRAVELZOO INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) The Company and Basis of Presentation
Travelzoo Inc. (the “Company” or “Travelzoo”) is a global media commerce company. We inform over 28 million members in Asia Pacific, Europe and
North America, as well as millions of website users, about the best travel, entertainment and local deals available from thousands of companies. Our deal experts
source, research and test-book offers, recommending only those that meet Travelzoo’s rigorous quality standards. We provide travel, entertainment, and local
businesses with a fast, flexible, and cost effective way to reach millions of consumers. Our revenues are generated primarily from advertising fees.
Our publications and products include the Travelzoo websites (travelzoo.com, travelzoo.ca, travelzoo.co.uk, travelzoo.de, travelzoo.es, travelzoo.fr,
cn.travelzoo.com, travelzoo.co.jp, travelzoo.com.au, travelzoo.com.hk, travelzoo.com.tw, among others), the Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, the Newsflash email alert service, the SuperSearch pay-per-click travel search tool, and the Travelzoo Network , a network of third-party websites that list travel deals published by
Travelzoo. Our Travelzoo websites include Local Deals and Getaway listings that allow our members to purchase vouchers for deals from local businesses such as
spas, hotels and restaurants. We receive a percentage of the face value of the voucher from the local businesses. We also operate Fly.com , a travel search engine
that allows users to quickly and easily find the best prices on flights from hundreds of airlines and online travel agencies.
Ralph Bartel, who founded Travelzoo and who is a Director of the Company is the sole beneficiary of the Ralph Bartel 2005 Trust, which is the controlling
shareholder of Azzurro Capital Inc. ("Azzurro"). As of December 31, 2015 , Azzurro is the Company's largest stockholder, holding approximately 51.2% of the
outstanding shares.
On August 20, 2015 we acquired the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business (“Asia Pacific”), which includes the Travelzoo businesses in Australia, China, Hong
Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. This business was independently operated by Azzurro Capital Inc. under a licensing agreement with Travelzoo Inc.
Azzurro was the majority stockholder of the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business. Travelzoo Inc. accounted for the acquisition as a common control transaction and
change in reporting entity. The financial results for Travelzoo Inc. have been retrospectively adjusted to include the financial results of Asia Pacific in the current
and prior periods as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of each period presented. The Asia Pacific assets and liabilities have been combined with
Travelzoo Inc. at their carrying values as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of each period presented. The Asia Pacific transaction proceeds are
reflected as an equity transaction, included in retained earnings, during the period the transaction occurred, which was in the year ended December 31, 2015 . See
Note 13 to the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for further information on the acquisition of Asia Pacific.
Certain prior period statement of operations amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation primarily due to the Company's
allocation of facilities costs to all of its operating activities and separate disclosure of product development costs as shown below (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2014

Cost of revenues

$

Sales and marketing

2013

378

$

8,814

Product development
General and administrative
$

144
8,738

11,091

8,649

(20,283)

(17,531)

—

$

—

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including the recently acquired Asia Pacific
subsidiaries reflected in the current and prior periods. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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(b) Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue consists primarily of advertising sales. Advertising revenues are principally derived from the sale of advertising in Asia Pacific,
Europe and North America on the Travelzoo website, in the Travelzoo Top 20 e-mail newsletter, in Newsflash , from SuperSearch , from the Travelzoo Network ,
and from Fly.com . The Company also generates revenue from the sale of vouchers through our Local Deals and Getaway e-mail alert services and providing hotel
bookings.
Advertising revenues are recognized in the period in which the advertisement is displayed or the voucher sale has been completed, provided that evidence of
an arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or determinable and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. The Company evaluates each of these
criteria as follows:
• Evidence of an arrangement. The Company considers an insertion order signed by the advertiser or its agency to be evidence of an arrangement.
• Delivery. Delivery is considered to occur when the advertising has been displayed, the click-throughs have been delivered or the voucher sale has been
completed, as applicable.
• Fixed or determinable fee. The Company considers the fee to be fixed or determinable if the fee is not subject to refund or adjustment and payment terms
are standard.
• Collection is deemed reasonably assured . The Company conducts a credit review for all advertising transactions at the time of the arrangement to
determine the creditworthiness of the advertiser. Collection is deemed reasonably assured if it is expected that the advertiser will be able to pay amounts
under the arrangement as payments become due. Collection is deemed not reasonably assured when an advertiser is perceived to be in financial distress,
which may be evidenced by weak industry condition, bankruptcy filing, or previously billed amounts that are past due. If it is determined that collection is
not reasonably assured, then revenue is deferred and recognized upon cash collection. Collection is deemed reasonably assured for our voucher sales to
consumers as these transactions require the use of credit cards subject to authorization.
The Company recognizes revenue for fixed-fee advertising arrangements ratably over the term of the insertion order as described below, with the exception
of Travelzoo Top 20 or Newsflash insertions, which are recognized upon delivery. The majority of insertion orders have terms that begin and end in a quarterly
reporting period. In the cases where at the end of a quarterly reporting period the term of an insertion order is not complete, the Company allocates the total
arrangement fee to each element based on the relative estimated selling price of each element. The Company recognizes revenue for the period based on elements
delivered during the period. The Company uses prices stated on its internal rate card, which represents stand-alone sales prices, to establish estimated selling
prices. The stand-alone price is the price that would be charged if the advertiser purchased only the individual insertion. Fees for variable-fee advertising
arrangements are recognized based on the number of impressions displayed, number of clicks delivered, number of emails sent or number of referrals generated
during the period.
Insertion orders that include fixed-fee advertising are invoiced upon acceptance of the insertion order and on the first day of each month over the term of the
insertion order, with the exception of Travelzoo Top 20 or Newsflash listings, which are invoiced upon delivery. Insertion orders that include variable-fee
advertising are invoiced at the end of the month. The Company’s standard terms state that in the event that Travelzoo fails to publish advertisements as specified in
the insertion order, the liability of Travelzoo to the advertiser shall be limited to, at Travelzoo’s sole discretion, a pro rata refund of the advertising fee, the
placement of the advertisements at a later time in a comparable position, or the extension of the term of the insertion order until the advertising is fully delivered.
The Company believes that no significant obligations exist after the full delivery of advertising.
Revenues from advertising sold to advertisers through agencies are reported at the net amount billed to the agency.
For Local Deals and Getaways products , the Company earns a fee for acting as an agent in these transactions which is recorded on a net basis and is
included in revenue upon completion of the voucher sale. Certain merchant contracts in foreign locations allow us to retain fees related to vouchers sold that are
not redeemed by purchasers upon expiration, which we recognize as revenue after the expiration of the redemption period and after there are no further obligations
to provide funds to merchants, members or others.
Commission revenues generated through provision of hotel booking reservations to hotels are recognized upon the estimated date the stay occurs at the hotel,
which includes estimates of cancellations of the hotel bookings based upon historical patterns. If the hotel booking cannot be canceled then revenue is recognized
upon booking.
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(c) Reserve for Member Refunds
We record an estimated reserve for member refunds based on our historical experience at the time revenue is recorded for Local Deals and Getaways
voucher sales. We accrue costs associated with refunds in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. We consider many key factors such as the
historical refunds based upon the time lag since the sale, historical reasons for refunds, time period that remains until the deal expiration date, any changes in
refund procedures and estimates of redemptions and breakage. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which
could impact the level of our future reserves for member refunds. Specifically, if the financial condition of our advertisers, the business that is providing the
vouchered service, were to deteriorate, affecting their ability to provide the services to our members, additional reserves for member refunds may be required.
Estimated member refunds that are determined to be recoverable from the merchant are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations as a reduction
to revenue. We accrue costs associated with refunds in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. Estimated member refunds that are determined not to
be recoverable from the merchant, are presented as a cost of revenue. If our judgments regarding estimated member refunds are inaccurate, reported results of
operations could differ from the amount we previously accrued.
(d) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We record a provision for doubtful accounts based on our historical experience of write-offs and a detailed assessment of our accounts receivable and
allowance for doubtful accounts. In estimating the provision for doubtful accounts, management considers the age of the accounts receivable, our historical writeoffs, the creditworthiness of the advertiser, the economic conditions of the advertiser’s industry, and general economic conditions, among other factors. Should any
of these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change, which could impact the level of our future provision for doubtful accounts.
Specifically, if the financial condition of our advertisers were to deteriorate, affecting their ability to make payments, additional provision for doubtful accounts
may be required.
(e) Use of Estimates
Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of less than three months on the date of purchase.
(g) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Additions and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed
as incurred. The Company also includes in fixed assets the capitalized cost of internal-use software and website development, including software used to upgrade
and enhance its website and processes supporting the Company’s business in accordance with the framework established by the FASB accounting guidance for
accounting for the cost of computer software developed or obtained for internal use and accounting for website development costs. Costs incurred in the planning
stage and operating stage are expensed as incurred while costs incurred in the application development stage and infrastructure development stage are capitalized,
assuming such costs are deemed to be recoverable.
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives are 3 to 5 years for computer
hardware and software, capitalized internal-use software and website development costs, and office equipment and office furniture. The Company depreciates
leasehold improvements over the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter.
(h) Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Online advertising is expensed as incurred over the period the advertising is displayed. Advertising costs
amounted to $25.6 million , $20.8 million and $27.8 million for years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
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(i) Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for deductible temporary differences, along with net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards, if it is more likely than not that the tax
benefits will be realized. To the extent a deferred tax asset cannot be recognized under the preceding criteria, valuation allowances must be established. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled.
(j) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the accounting standard relating to impairment of long-lived assets, which requires an
impairment loss to be recognized on assets to be held and used if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset group is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset group. Assets to be disposed of
are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a
charge to write down the value of certain internally developed software applications that were no longer determined to have alternative use for $249,000 . No
impairment loss was recognized during years ended December 31, 2015 and 2013 .
(k) Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for its employee stock options under the fair value method, which requires stock-based compensation to be estimated using the fair
value on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is expected to vest is recognized as expense over the related
employees’ requisite service periods in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Total stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013 was $ 401,000 , $982,000 and $1.4 million , respectively. See Note 9 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a further
discussion on stock-based compensation.
(l) Foreign Currency
All foreign subsidiaries use the local currency of their respective countries as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars
at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet dates. Revenues, costs and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates for the period. Gains
and losses resulting from translation are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
Realized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are recognized as gain or loss on foreign currency in the consolidated statements of operations.
(m) Certain Risks and Uncertainties
The Company’s cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk. Cash and cash equivalents are placed
with financial institutions that management believes are of high credit quality. The accounts receivable are derived from revenue earned from customers located in
the U.S. and internationally. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Company had one customer that accounted for 15% and 10% , respectively, of accounts
receivable.
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(n) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that changes the threshold and amends the requirements for reporting discontinued operations.
Under the amended guidance, a disposal of a component of an entity or a group of components of an entity is required to be reported in discontinued operations if
the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results when the component or group of
components meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale or when the component or group of components is disposed of by sale or other than by sale. For
disposals of individually significant components that do not qualify as discontinued operations, an entity must disclose pre-tax earnings of the disposed component.
For public business entities, this guidance is effective prospectively for all disposals (or classifications as held for sale) of components of an entity that occur
within annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014, and interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted, but only for disposals (or
classifications as held for sale) that have not been reported in financial statements previously issued or available for issuance. This accounting standard update
became effective for the Company on January 1, 2015. The adoption of this accounting standard update did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to
which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace most of the existing revenue recognition
guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. This new accounting standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. Early application is not
permitted. This new accounting standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The Company is evaluating the effect
that ASU 2014-09 will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it
determined the effect of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.
In August 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standard update that requires management to perform interim and annual assessments of an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern within one year of the date the financial statements are issued and provides guidance on determining when and how to disclose
going concern uncertainties in the financial statements. Certain disclosures will be required if conditions give rise to substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. This accounting standard update applies to all entities and is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual periods and interim periods thereafter, with early adoption permitted. This accounting standard update will be effective for the Company on January 1,
2016. The adoption of this accounting standard update is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
position or cash flows.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest- Imputation of Interest, which requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability
be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. This accounting standard update will be effective for the
Company on January 1, 2016. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of financial
position.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, which simplifies the presentation of deferred income
taxes by requiring deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet. The updated standard is effective for us beginning on January
1, 2017 with early application permitted as of the beginning of any interim or annual reporting period. This accounting standard update will be effective for the
Company on January 1, 2017. The adoption of this accounting standard update is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement
of financial position.
In February 2016, the FASB issued an accounting standard update ASU 2016-02, Leases, which requires that lease arrangements longer than 12 months
result in an entity recognizing an asset and liability. ASU 2016-02 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early
adoption is permitted. This accounting standard update will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2019. The Company has not yet evaluated nor has it
determined the effect of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.
Note 2: Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss)
per share is computed by adjusting the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding
during the period. Potential common shares included in the diluted calculation consist of incremental shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options
calculated using the treasury stock method.
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The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Basic net income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss)

$

Weighted average common shares

10,864

$

14,722

Basic net income (loss) per share

13,062

$

14,768

(6,582)
15,269

$

0.74

$

0.88

$

(0.43)

$

10,864

$

13,062

$

(6,582)

Diluted net income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss)
Weighted average common shares
Effect of dilutive securities: stock options
Diluted weighted average common shares

14,722

14,768

15,269

—

41

—

14,722

Diluted net income (loss) per share

$

0.74

14,809
$

0.88

15,269
$

(0.43)

For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , options to purchase 775,000 , 125,000 and 475,000 shares of common stock, respectively, were
not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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Note 3: Financial Instruments
The following tables summarize our financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Total

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 1)

(Level 2)

(Level 3)

Balance at December 31, 2015
Cash

$

35,128

$

35,128

$

—

$

—

Total cash

$

35,128

$

35,128

$

—

$

—

Certificates of deposit

$

708

$

—

$

708

$

—

Merchant bank deposit
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

725

725

—

—

$

1,433

$

725

$

708

$

—

Cash

$

55,417

$

55,417

$

—

$

—

Total cash

$

55,417

$

55,417

$

—

$

—

Certificates of deposit

$

762

$

—

$

762

$

—

Balance at December 31, 2014

Merchant bank deposit
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

800
$

1,562

800
$

800

—
$

762

—
$

At December 31, 2015 and 2014 , accounts receivable and accounts payable are not measured at fair value; however, the Company believes that the
carrying amounts of these assets and liabilities are a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of their relative short maturity. Accounts receivable and
accounts payable are categorized as Level 2.
At December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the notes payable to related party is not measured at fair value; however, the Company believes that the carrying
amounts of these assets and liabilities are a reasonable estimate of their fair value because of their relatively short maturity and subsequent payment.
There have been no transfers and no changes in valuation methods for these assets or liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 .
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Note 4: Balance Sheet Components
Prepaid expenses and other consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2015

Prepaid expenses

$

2014

1,630

Other current assets

$

2,142

537

Total prepaid expenses and other

$

2,167

534
$

2,676

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2015

Computer hardware and software

$

2014

4,811

$

4,516

Office equipment and office furniture

9,306

9,494

Capitalized internal-use software and website development

3,089

3,181

Leasehold improvements
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total

$

6,064

5,651

23,270

22,842

(15,365)

(13,344)

7,905

$

9,498

Depreciation expense was $2.2 million , $2.6 million , and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Amortization of capitalized internal-use software and website development costs was $308,000 , $192,000 and zero for the years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013 , respectively.
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Changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts and reserve for member refunds are as follows (in thousands):
Allowance
for doubtful
accounts

Balance at January 1, 2013

$

Reserve for
member
refunds

506

Additions — charged to costs and expenses, or contra revenue, net

101

Deductions — recoveries of amounts previously charged-off

(21)

Deductions — write-offs

$

999
940
—

(150)

Balance at December 31, 2013
Additions — charged to costs and expenses, or contra revenue, net
Deductions — recoveries of amounts previously charged-off

(1,126)

436

813

170

1,299

(118)

Deductions — write-offs

—

(44)

Balance at December 31, 2014
Additions — charged to costs and expenses, or contra revenue, net
Deductions — recoveries of amounts previously charged-off
Deductions — write-offs

(1,313)

444

799

295

776

(179)

—

(176)

Balance at December 31, 2015

$

384

(1,045)
$

530

Local Deals and Getaway merchant payable included in accounts payable was $19.1 million and $20.6 million , as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively.
Accrued expenses and other consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2015

Accrued advertising expense

$

Accrued compensation expense
Reserve for member refunds
Other accrued expenses
Deferred rent

2014

1,801

$

4,373

4,652

530

799

2,963

3,244

473

Total accrued expenses and other

$

65

2,738

10,140

381
$

11,814

Note 5: Commitments and Contingencies
The Company was formed as a result of a combination and merger of entities founded by the Company’s principal stockholder, Ralph Bartel. In 2002,
Travelzoo.com Corporation was merged into Travelzoo Inc. Under and subject to the terms of the merger agreement, holders of promotional shares of
Travelzoo.com Corporation (“Netsurfers”) who established that they had satisfied certain prerequisite qualifications were allowed a period of 2 years following the
effective date of the merger to receive one share of Travelzoo Inc. in exchange for each share of common stock of Travelzoo.com Corporation. In 2004, two years
following the effective date of the merger, certain promotional shares remained unexchanged. As the right to exchange these promotional shares expired, no
additional shares were reserved for issuance. Thereafter, the Company began to offer a voluntary cash program for those who established that they had satisfied
certain prerequisite qualifications for Netsurfer promotional shares as further described below.
Beginning in 2010, the Company became subject to unclaimed property audits of various states in the United States related to the above unexchanged
promotional shares. The Company recorded charges for the estimated settlements with these states of $20.0 million , $3.0 million and $22.0 million in 2011, 2012
and 2013, respectively. In 2014, the Company released $7.6 million of the reserve related to the completion of settlements with the states and in 2015 the Company
paid the final settlements outstanding.
Although the Company has settled the states unclaimed property claims with all states, the Company may still receive inquiries from certain potential
Netsurfer promotional stockholders that had not provided their state of residence to the Company by April 25, 2004. Therefore, the Company is continuing its
voluntary program under which it makes cash payments to individuals related to the promotional shares for individuals whose residence was unknown by the
Company and who establish that they satisfy the original conditions required for them to receive shares of Travelzoo.com Corporation, and who failed to submit
requests to convert their shares into shares of Travelzoo Inc. within the required time period. This voluntary program is not available for individuals whose
promotional shares have been escheated to a state by the Company, except those individuals for which their residence was unknown to the Company. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements include a charge for payments under this voluntary program in general and administrative expenses of $ 1,000 ,
$6,000 and $23,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
The total cost of this voluntary program is not reliably estimable because it is based on the ultimate number of valid requests received and future levels of the
Company’s common stock price. The Company’s common stock price affects the potential liability because the amount of cash payments under the program is
based in part on the recent level of the stock price at the date valid requests are received. The Company does not know how many of the requests for shares
originally received by Travelzoo.com Corporation in 1998 were valid, but the Company believes that only a portion of such requests were valid. In order to receive
payment under this voluntary program, a person is required to establish that such person validly held shares in Travelzoo.com Corporation.
The Company leases office space in Australia, Canada, China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, the U.K., and the U.S. under
operating leases which expire between March 31, 2016 and November 30, 2024. Rent expense was $5.8 million , $6.0 million and $6.2 million for years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Some of these lease agreements have free or escalating rent payment provisions. We recognize rent expense
under such arrangements on a straight line basis.
On August 20, 2015, as part of the Asia Pacific acquisition, Travelzoo (Europe) Limited issued a promissory note to Azzurro with a principal amount of $5.7
million , with a maturity date of August 20, 2018 and the ability to pay off principal prior to this maturity date with no prepayment penalty and a stated interest rate
of 7% . In January 2016, the full amount of the loan was paid off by Travelzoo (Europe) Limited.
The Company has purchase commitments which represent the minimum obligations the Company has under agreements with certain vendors. These
minimum obligations are less than our projected use for those periods. Payments may be more than the minimum obligations based on actual use.
The following summarizes our principal contractual commitments as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
2016

Operating leases

$

Purchase obligations
Total commitments

4,621

2017

3,895

$

4,777

1,537
$

6,158

2018

$

$

3,311

$

3,676

882
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2019

2020

$

3,033

$

3,033

365

Thereafter

$

2,633

$

2,633

—

$

7,801

$

7,801

—

Total

$

25,294

$

28,078

—

2,784

Note 6: Income Taxes
The components of income (loss) before income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2015

U.S.

2014

$

5,334

$

5,904

Foreign

2013

$

14,363

$

17,901

570

$

(6,964)

3,538

8,100
$

1,136

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred components categorized by federal, state and foreign jurisdictions, as shown below. The current
provision is generally that portion of income tax expense that is currently payable to the taxing authorities. The Company makes estimated payments of these
amounts during the year. The deferred tax provision results from changes in the Company’s deferred tax assets (future deductible amounts) and tax liabilities
(future taxable amounts), which are presented in the table below:
Current

Deferred

Total

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2015

Federal

$

State

(5,851)

$

337

Foreign

(238)

$

51

759

(6,089)
388

(18)

741

$

(4,755)

$

(205)

$

(4,960)

$

2,124

$

294

$

2,418

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Federal
State
Foreign

670

21

691

1,725

5

1,730

$

4,519

$

$

5,504

$

320

$

4,839

21

$

5,525

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Federal
State

1,023

Foreign

(30)

517
$

67

7,044

993

683
$

674

1,200
$

7,718

Income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s level of pretax income
as a result of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Federal tax at statutory rates

$

State taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Expired capital loss carryforward
Change of valuation allowance
Unexchanged promotional shares
Non-deductible expenses and other

2014

2,083

$

$

947

504

—

1,534

816

(1,534)

(1,131)

—

(2,654)

7,700

(7,935)

Total income tax expense

$

254

(178)

Uncertain tax positions

2013

7,416

(4,960)

$

694
—

(427)

(492)

—

—

4,839

$

7,718

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in
thousands):
December 31,
2015

2014

Deferred tax assets:
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards

$

6,940

$

6,431

State income taxes

142

196

Accruals and allowances

783

868

Stock based compensation

1,932

1,803

Deferred revenue

292

255

Deferred rent

636

580

Total deferred tax assets

10,725

10,133

Valuation allowance

(6,940)

(6,431)

3,785

3,702

Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
U.S. tax on undistributed earnings

(247)

(350)

Property, equipment and intangible assets

(581)

(636)

Total deferred tax liabilities

(828)

Net deferred tax assets

$

2,957

(986)
$

2,716

As of December 31, 2015 , the Company has a valuation allowance of approximately $6.9 million related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOL”) of approximately $29.6 million for which it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will not be realized. If not utilized, the foreign net operating loss
carryforwards begin to expire in 2016. The amount of the valuation allowance represented an increase of approximately $509,000 over the amount recorded as of
December 31, 2014 , and was due to the increase in foreign operating losses. If not utilized, foreign NOL of $17.2 million may be carried forward indefinitely, and
foreign NOL of $12.4 million will expire at various times between 2016 and 2024.
United States income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. The undistributed
earnings on a book basis for the non-U.S. subsidiaries are approximately $ 7.9 million . The Company intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in its
operations outside the U.S. If the undistributed earnings are remitted to the U.S. these amounts would be taxable in the U.S at the current federal and state tax rates
net of foreign tax credits. Also, depending on the jurisdiction any distribution may be subject to withholding taxes at rates applicable for that jurisdiction. The
estimated amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability attributed to future dividend distributions of undistributed earnings is approximately $538,000 at
December 31, 2015 .
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The Company maintains liabilities for uncertain tax positions. The Company’s policy is to include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions in
income tax expense. To the extent accrued interest and penalties do not ultimately become payable, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction in
the overall income tax provision in the period that such determination is made. At December 31, 2015 , the Company had approximately $2.1 million in total
unrecognized tax benefits, approximately $792,000 in accrued interest, of which $229,000 was accrued in 2015 , and approximately $80,000 in accrued penalties,
of which none was accrued in 2015 . The unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $2.1 million which, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s
effective income tax rate. The decrease in the unrecognized tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2015 was due primarily to the recognition of a $7.6
million tax benefit related to the unexchanged promotional shares after a lapse of certain statute of limitations. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1, 2013

$

9,365

Increase related to prior year tax positions

—

Decrease related to prior year tax positions

—

Increase related to current year tax positions

38

Settlements

(58)

Lapse of statute of limitations

—

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2013

9,345

Increase related to prior year tax positions

—

Decrease related to prior year tax positions

—

Increase related to current year tax positions

38

Settlements

—

Lapse of statute of limitations

—

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2014

9,383

Increase related to prior year tax positions

584

Decrease related to prior year tax positions

—

Increase related to current year tax positions

11

Settlements

—

Lapse of statute of limitations

(7,850)

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, 2015

$

2,128

The Company is in various stages of multiple year examinations by federal taxing authorities. Although the timing of initiation, resolution and/or closure of
audits is highly uncertain, it is reasonably possible that the balance of the gross unrecognized tax benefits related to the method of computing income taxes in
certain jurisdictions and losses reported on certain income tax returns could significantly change in the next 12 months. These changes may occur through
settlement with the taxing authorities or the expiration of the statute of limitations on the returns filed. The Company is unable to estimate the range of possible
adjustments to the balance of the gross unrecognized tax benefits.
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is subject to U.S. federal and
certain state tax examinations for certain years after 2008 and is subject to California tax examinations for years after 2005. The material foreign jurisdictions
where the Company is subject to potential examinations by tax authorities are the United Kingdom and Germany for tax years after 2011. The Company's 2009
federal income tax return is currently under examination, including a review of the impact of the sale of Asia Pacific business segment in 2009. These
examinations may lead to ordinary course adjustments or proposed adjustments to our taxes or our net operating income. The Company has received a Revenue
Agent’s Report (RAR) generally issued at the conclusion of an IRS examination, which was consistent with the Notice of Proposed Adjustment received earlier
from the IRS for the 2009 calendar year related to the sale of our Asia Pacific business segment with additional penalties. The RAR proposes an increase to the
Company's U.S. taxable income which would result in additional federal tax, federal penalty and state tax expense totaling approximately $31 million , excluding
interest and state penalties, if any. The proposed adjustment is primarily driven by IRS’s view that the Asia Pacific business segment assets sold by the Company
had a significantly higher valuation than the sales proceeds the Company received upon the sale. The Company disagrees with the proposed adjustments and
intends to vigorously contest them. The Company did not make any adjustments to its liabilities for uncertain tax positions related to the RAR for the year ended
December 31, 2015 because the Company does not believe the IRS’s valuation of Asia Pacific business segment assets is appropriate. If we are not able to resolve
these proposed adjustments at the IRS examination level, we plan to pursue all available administrative and, if necessary, judicial remedies.
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Note 7: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated balances of other comprehensive income (loss) (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Beginning balance

$

Other comprehensive income due to foreign currency translation, net of tax

2014

(2,602)
(1,306)

$

Ending balance

(3,908)

2013

$

(374)

$

(2,228)
$

(2,602)

(670)
296

$

(374)

There were no amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 .
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of foreign currency translation gain or loss.
Note 8: Employee Benefit Plan
The Company maintains a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan & Trust (the “401(k) Plan”) for its employees in the United States. The 401(k) Plan allows employees
of the Company to contribute up to 80% of their eligible compensation, subject to certain limitations. Since 2006, the Company matches employee contributions up
to $1,500 per year. Employee contributions are fully vested upon contribution, whereas the Company’s matching contributions are fully vested after the first year
of service. The Company also has various defined contribution plans for its international employees. The Company’s contributions to these benefit plans were
approximately $2.1 million , $2.2 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
Note 9: Stock-Based Compensation and Stock Options
The Company accounts for its employee stock options under the fair value method, which requires stock-based compensation to be estimated using the fair
value on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is expected to vest is recognized on a straight-line basis as
expense over the related employees’ requisite service periods in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. Cash flows resulting from tax deductions in
excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options (excess tax benefits) are classified as financing cash flows. For the years ended years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , there were no stock option exercises and no excess tax benefits.
In November 2009, the Company granted to one of its employees options to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $14.97 , of
which 75,000 options vest and become exercisable annually starting on July 1, 2011. The options expire in November 2019. As of December 31, 2015 , 300,000 of
these options were vested and outstanding.
In January 2012, the Company granted certain executives stock options to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $28.98 , of
which 25,000 options vest and become exercisable annually starting on January 23, 2013. The options expire in January 2022. As of December 31, 2015 , 37,500
of the options are vested and 50,000 options are outstanding. During 2014 , 25,000 options were canceled and 25,000 options were forfeited upon the departure of
an executive and the corresponding compensation expense of $186,000 for the forfeited options was reversed.
In July 2013, the Company granted an executive stock options to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $29.58 , of which 25,000
options become exercisable annually starting July 1, 2015. The options expire in July 2023. As of December 31, 2015 , 25,000 of these options were vested and
25,000 options were outstanding. Due to the planned departure of the executive in 2015 , the Company reversed $216,000 compensation expense which was
related to previously recognized expense on the portion of the options that were no longer expected to vest.
In September 2015, the Company granted an executive stock options to purchase 400,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $8.07 , of which
50,000 options become exercisable quarterly starting March 31, 2016. The options expire in September 2025. As of December 31, 2015 , 400,000 options were
outstanding and none of these options were vested.
In March 2016, the Company granted certain executives stock options to purchase 150,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $8.55 , of
which 37,500 options vest and become exercisable annually starting on March 7, 2017.
Total stock-based compensation for fiscal years 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $401,000 , $982,000 and $ 1.4 million , respectively.
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The Company utilized the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the stock options granted in 2015, 2013, 2012 and 2009. The Company used an
expected life as defined under the simplified method, which is using an average of the contractual term and vesting period of the stock options. The risk-free
interest rate used for the award is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The historical volatility was calculated based upon implied
volatility of the Company's historical stock prices. The Company used a forfeiture rate of 0% . To the extent the actual forfeiture rate is different from what we
have anticipated, stock-based compensation related to these options will be different from our expectations.
The fair value of 2015, 2013 and 2012 stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

2015

Weighted-average fair value of options granted per share

$

Historical volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected life in years

4.42

2013

$

2012

18.87

$

19.08

59%

70%

74%

1.73%

1.70%

1.11%

—

—

—

5.75

6.25

6.25

As of December 31, 2015 , there was approximately $5,000 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding 2012 stock options,
expected to be recognized over 0.1 years , and approximately $1.6 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding 2015 stock
options, expected to be recognized over 2.0 years . As of December 31, 2015 , there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense relating to 2009 and
2013 stock options grants.
Option activities during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2014 , and 2015 were as follows:

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Shares

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(In thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2013

400,000

$

18.47

75,000

$

29.58

Outstanding at December 31, 2013

475,000

$

20.23

Options forfeited

(25,000)

$

28.98

Options canceled

(25,000)

Outstanding at December 31, 2014

425,000

Option Granted

400,000

Options canceled

(50,000)

$

29.58

Outstanding at December 31, 2015

775,000

$

Exercisable and fully vested at December 31, 2015

362,500

$

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 and expected to vest
thereafter

412,500

$

Options granted

7.43 years

$

1,206

6.93 years

$

1,905

5.79 years

$

—

12.78

5.53 years

$

120

17.43

0.85 years

$

—

8.70

9.64 years

28.98
$

19.20
8.07

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock price on the
last trading day of years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 . This amount changes based on the fair
market value of the Company’s stock. The Company’s policy is to issue shares from the authorized shares to fulfill stock option exercises.
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Outstanding options at December 31, 2015 were as follows:

Shares
Outstanding

Exercise Price

Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Options Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Shares
Outstanding
and
Exercisable

$

14.97

300,000

0.25 years $

14.97

300,000

0.25 years

$

28.98

50,000

6.07 years $

28.98

37,500

6.07 years

$

29.58

25,000

0.25 years $

29.58

25,000

0.25 years

$

8.07

400,000

9.75 years $

8.07

—

—

Note 10: Stock Repurchase Program
The Company's stock repurchase programs assist in offsetting the impact of dilution from employee equity compensation and for capital allocation purposes.
Management is allowed discretion in the execution of the repurchase program based upon market conditions and consideration of capital allocation.
In July 2012, the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s outstanding
common stock. There were 29,000 shares remaining to be repurchased under this program as of December 31, 2013 , which were repurchased in 2014.
In January 2014 , the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 500,000 shares of the Company’s outstanding
common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company repurchased 261,000 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $5.9
million , which were recorded as part of treasury stock as of December 31, 2014 . During the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company repurchased 212,000
shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $1.7 million , which were recorded as part of treasury stock as of December 31, 2015 . There were
56,000 shares remaining to be repurchased under this program as of December 31, 2015 .
In February 2016 , the Company announced a stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s outstanding
common stock.
Note 11: Reverse/Forward Stock Split
On June 11, 2013, a Special Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, consisting of three independent directors, unanimously approved a
reverse/forward stock split transaction (collectively referred to as the “reverse/forward split”), subject to shareholder approval. The reverse/forward split was
intended to reduce the Company’s shareholder account administration costs by reducing the number of its shareholders.
On September 12, 2013, at the Company’s annual shareholders meeting, Travelzoo shareholders voted in favor of the reverse/forward split, with the
transaction receiving the votes of both (A) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock and (B) a majority of the issued and outstanding shares
of common stock that are not held or controlled, directly or indirectly, by directors or officers of the Company, including, without limitation, the shares held by
Azzurro Capital Inc., our principal stockholder.
On November 6, 2013, the Special Committee approved the execution of the transaction after receiving an opinion from a financial advisor regarding the
fairness of the transaction from a financial point of view to the Company's shareholders whose positions, individually considered, consisted of fewer than 25
shares, of the per-share consideration to be received by such shareholders in the reverse/forward split. The Special Committee received legal counsel from Young
Conaway Stargatt & Taylor, LLP in connection with its review of the transaction. In addition, the Company received legal counsel from Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom LLP and Bryan Cave LLP in connection with the transaction.
On November 6, 2013, based upon the Special Committee’s approval of the transaction and the receipt of a fairness opinion from the financial advisor, the
Company executed the shareholder approved reverse/forward split.
The reverse/forward split transaction consisted of a 1-for- 25 reverse stock split of the Company's outstanding common stock, followed immediately by a 25
-for-1 forward stock split. Shareholders who held less than 25 shares immediately prior to the reverse stock split received a right to cash payment based on and
equal to their resulting fractional interest times the price of a share equal to the higher of (a) the trailing ten day average trading price of the Company’s common
stock immediately preceding the consummation date of the reverse/forward split or (b) the average aggregate sales price received in the sale on the open market of
the shares resulting from aggregation of the fractionalized interests. Shareholders that held 25 or more shares
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of common stock immediately before the reverse/forward split did not receive a right to cash payment; instead these shareholders continued to hold the same
number of shares after completion of the reverse/forward split as they held immediately prior. A description of the terms and conditions of the reverse/forward split
was set forth in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2013 annual shareholders meeting filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 25, 2013.
The reverse/forward split resulted in approximately 643,218 of the Company’s outstanding shares being fractionalized. Shareholders holding less than 25
shares of common stock immediately prior to the reverse split did not receive fractional shares in the reverse stock split; instead these shareholders had their shares
converted into the right to receive a cash payment in exchange for and in proportion to the fractional share interests resulting from the reverse stock split. To fund
the cash payment due to shareholders that held a right to receive cash from the transaction, the fractional share interests were aggregated by the Company’s transfer
agent, who sold the aggregated shares in the open market following the execution of the transaction.
As of December 31, 2013 , the Company completed the sales of the aggregated fractional shares from the reverse/forward split in the open market and the
sales proceeds of $13.6 million were held by the Company’s transfer agent in anticipation of the payment to be made to the fractionalized shareholders and were
included in Funds Held for Reverse/Forward Stock Split on the Company’s balance sheet. As of December 31, 2013 , the total amount payable of $13.7 million to
fractionalized shareholders as a result of the execution of the reverse/forward split was reflected as a Payable to Shareholders for Reverse/Forward Stock Split on
the Company’s balance sheet.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Company’s retained earnings includes a total adjustment of $102,000 and $344,000 , respectively,
related to the reverse/forward split, which includes transaction costs. During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Company’s transfer agent issued checks
amounting to $13.4 million to pay shareholders that held a right to cash in exchange for the fractional shares that were a result of the reverse/forward split. The
Company's transfer agent intends to pay $137,000 due to the remaining shareholders that hold a right to cash after receiving the required documentation regarding
their physical stock certificates. As of December 31, 2015 , the sale proceeds of $137,000 are held by the Company’s transfer agent in anticipation of the payment
to be made to the fractionalized shareholders and are included in Prepaid expenses and other on the Company’s balance sheet. As of December 31, 2015 , the total
amount payable of $137,000 to fractionalized shareholders as a result of the execution of the reverse/forward split is included in Accrued expenses and other on the
Company’s balance sheet.
Note 12: Segment Reporting and Significant Customer Information
The Company manages its business geographically and has three reportable operating segments: Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. Asia Pacific
consists of the Company's operations in Australia, China, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. Europe consists of the Company’s operations in France,
Germany, Spain, and the U.K. North America consists of the Company’s operations in Canada and the U.S.
Management relies on an internal management reporting process that provides revenue and segment operating income (loss) for making financial decisions
and allocating resources. Management believes that segment revenues and operating income (loss) are appropriate measures of evaluating the operational
performance of the Company’s segments.
The following is a summary of operating results and assets (in thousands) by business segment:

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Revenues from unaffiliated customers

Asia Pacific

$

10,746

$

42,588

Total net revenues

$

10,683

$

Operating income (loss)

$

(2,435)

$

Intersegment revenues

(63)

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Revenues from unaffiliated customers

11,160

Intersegment revenues

519

—

42,132

$

88,901

3,871

$

5,710

(85)

46,896

$

North
America

$

(921)

95,184

$

11,075

$

45,975

$

96,190

Operating income (loss)

$

(3,378)

$

5,818

$

7,787

—

$

141,716

—

$

141,716

—

$

7,146

—

Other (a)

$

1,006

Total net revenues
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$

Consolidated

88,382

Europe

$

Other

$

(456)

Asia Pacific

$

North
America

Europe

—

Consolidated

$

—
$

153,240
—

—

$

153,240

7,583

$

17,810

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Revenues from unaffiliated customers

Asia Pacific

$

12,399

Intersegment revenues

North
America

Europe

$

(326)

46,279

$

(240)

111,955

$

566

Total net revenues

$

12,073

$

46,039

$

112,521

Operating income (loss)

$

(1,444)

$

7,836

$

16,769

(a)

Other (a)

—

Consolidated

$

170,633

—
—
$

(22,000)

—
$

170,633

$

1,161

Amount related to unexchanged promotional shares that include a $7.6 million release of reserve and a $22.0 million charge for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , and 2013 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2015

Asia Pacific

North
America

Europe

Elimination

Long-lived assets

$

369

$

899

$

6,652

$

Total assets

$

5,845

$

54,452

$

71,626

$

As of December 31, 2014

Asia Pacific

North
America

Europe

—
(63,344)

Consolidated

$

7,920

$

68,579

Elimination

Long-lived assets

$

491

$

1,507

$

7,678

$

Total assets

$

3,510

$

40,818

$

73,508

$

—
(24,529)

Consolidated

$

9,676

$

93,307

Revenue for each segment is recognized based on the customer location within a designated geographic region. Property and equipment are attributed to the
geographic region in which the assets are located.
For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , the Company did not have any customers that accounted for 10% or more of revenue. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Company had one customer that accounted for 15% and 10% , respectively, of accounts receivable. Accounts receivable
representing 10% or more of total accounts receivable was related to an advertising technology company that assists us with our Search product traffic
monetization by using an traffic auction platform.

74

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenues (in thousands) by category and segment. Travel revenue includes travel publications ( Top 20 , Website ,
Newsflash , Travelzoo Network), Getaway vouchers and hotel booking platform. Search revenue includes SuperSearch and Fly.com . Local revenue includes Local
Deals vouchers and entertainment offers (vouchers and direct bookings).
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Asia Pacific
Travel

$

9,355

Search

$

9,308

34

Local

1,294

Total Asia Pacific revenues

$

9,788

100

230

1,667

2,055

$

10,683

$

11,075

$

12,073

$

33,603

$

35,847

$

34,112

Europe
Travel
Search

2,396

Local

3,009

6,133

Total Europe revenues

3,539

7,119

8,388

$

42,132

$

45,975

$

46,039

$

56,054

$

59,104

$

63,534

North America
Travel
Search

15,427

Local

15,888

17,420

Total North America revenues

21,548

21,198

27,439

$

88,901

$

96,190

$

112,521

$

99,012

$

104,259

$

107,434

Consolidated
Travel
Search

17,857

Local

18,997

24,847

Total revenues

$

25,317

29,984

141,716

$

153,240

37,882
$

170,633

Revenue by geography is based on the billing address of the advertiser. Long-lived assets attributed to the U.S. and international geographies are based
upon the country in which the asset is located or owned.
The following table sets forth revenue for individual countries that exceed 10% of total revenue (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Revenue
United States

$

83,469

$

89,311

$

104,650

United Kingdom

27,825

29,301

31,270

Rest of the world

30,422

34,628

34,713

Total revenues

$

141,716

$

153,240

$

170,633

The following table sets forth long lived asset by geographic area (in thousands):
December 31,
2015

United States

$

Rest of the world

2014

6,167

$

1,753

Total long lived assets

$
75

7,920

7,646
2,030

$

9,676

Note 13: Related Party Transactions
On August 20, 2015, Travelzoo acquired the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business (“Asia Pacific”), which includes the Travelzoo businesses in Australia, China,
Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia. This business was independently operated by Azzurro Capital Inc. ("Azzurro") under a licensing agreement with
Travelzoo Inc. The Company held an option right to acquire Asia Pacific at fair market value as determined by a third party valuation expert. Under the terms of
the definitive acquisition agreement, Travelzoo (Europe) Limited, a United Kingdom subsidiary of the Company, was authorized by the Company to exercise the
option right to acquire Asia Pacific for a fair market transaction value of $22.6 million , subject to a working capital adjustment, using available cash of $17.0
million and a promissory note of $5.7 million with a maturity date of three years.
The Company’s board of directors established a special committee (the “Special Committee”), consisting of independent and disinterested directors and
provided it with the exclusive power and authority to determine whether any potential transaction to acquire Asia Pacific was advisable, fair to and in the best
interests of the Company's stockholders other than Azzurro Capital Inc., the principal stockholder of Travelzoo Inc. The Special Committee engaged independent
legal counsel and an independent financial advisor, Stout Risius Ross, Inc. (“SRR”). The Special Committee obtained the right to select its own independent
financial advisor, SRR, to independently determine the fair market value of Asia Pacific to be used as the option exercise price and received an opinion from SRR
regarding the fairness of the Asia Pacific transaction from a financial point of view. SRR determined that $22.6 million represented the fair market value of Asia
Pacific to be used as the option exercise price based upon the use of established valuation methodologies. The Special Committee, which was composed solely of
independent and disinterested directors, unanimously approved the acquisition of Asia Pacific at the fair market value option exercise price with the assistance of
its independent legal and financial advisors.
Ralph Bartel, who founded Travelzoo and who is a Director of the Company is the sole beneficiary of the Ralph Bartel 2005 Trust, which is the controlling
shareholder of Azzurro Capital Inc. As of December 31, 2015 , Azzurro is the Company's largest stockholder, holding approximately 51.2% of the Company's
outstanding shares.
Since Azzurro Capital Inc. had a controlling interest in both Travelzoo Inc. and the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business at the time of the transaction and in prior
periods, this transaction is accounted for as a common control transaction and a change in reporting entity for the Company. The financial results for Travelzoo Inc.
have been retrospectively adjusted to include the financial results of Asia Pacific in the current and prior periods as though the transaction occurred at the
beginning of each period presented, including the following adjustments:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

2014

2013

Revenue

$

10,774

$

11,218

$

12,402

Operating Loss

$

(2,436)

$

(3,382)

$

(1,445)

Net Loss

$

(3,096)

$

(3,288)

$

(1,571)

Other Comprehensive Income

$

305

$

239

$

Basic and diluted earnings per share

$

(0.21)

$

(0.22)

$

89
(0.10)

The Asia Pacific assets and liabilities have been combined with Travelzoo Inc. at their carrying values as though the transaction occurred at the beginning of
each period presented. At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , Asia Pacific net liabilities, total assets minus total liabilities, were $6.8 million and $4.0
million , respectively.
The Asia Pacific transaction proceeds of $22.6 million were reflected as an equity transaction, included in retained earnings, during the period the transaction
occurred, which was in the year ended December 31, 2015 .
Travelzoo (Europe) Limited, a United Kingdom subsidiary of the Company, acquired the Asia Pacific business, which include certain customary seller
indemnifications, through the acquisition of Travelzoo (Asia) Limited, including its wholly owned subsidiaries, and Travelzoo Japan KK. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions between Travelzoo Inc. and the acquired Asia Pacific entities have been eliminated for all periods presented.
In November 2014, Azzurro provided a loan to Asia Pacific of $1.0 million with a stated interest rate of 8% . There were $1.0 million loans and $5,000
accrued interest due to Azzurro as of December 31, 2014 . From January 1, 2015 to August 20, 2015 , Azzurro provided loans to the Asia Pacific amounting to
$2.2 million with a stated interest rate of 10% . In September 2015, the Company paid the due and outstanding principal loan amount of $3.3 million and accrued
interest of $128,000 .
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On August 20, 2015, as part of the transaction proceeds Travelzoo (Europe) Limited issued a promissory note to Azzurro with a principal amount of $5.7
million , with a maturity date of August 20, 2018 and the ability to pay off principal prior to this maturity date with no prepayment penalty and a stated interest rate
of 7% , which is due and payable on a quarterly basis. Accrued interest for the loans and promissory note outstanding was $267,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2015 . In January 2016, the full amount of the loan was paid off by Travelzoo (Europe) Limited.
On September 28, 2015, Holger Bartel, Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Board of Directors, was granted 400,000 stock options that vest through
December 31, 2017 in connection with his appointment to the role of Global Chief Executive Officer. See Note 9 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for further information.
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Note 14: Unaudited Quarterly Information
The following represents unaudited quarterly financial data (in thousands, except per share amounts) for 2015 and 2014 :
Quarter Ended
Dec 31,
2015

Revenues

$

Sep 30,
2015

32,051

$

Jun 30,
2015

33,728

$

Mar 31,
2015

Dec 31,
2014

$

34,291

Sep 30,
2014

$

Jun 30,
2014

36,307

$

39,599

Mar 31,
2014

36,792

39,145

Cost of revenues

4,328

4,742

5,208

4,546

4,640

4,813

4,648

$

43,043
5,073

Gross profit

27,723

28,986

31,584

34,599

29,651

31,494

34,951

37,970

17,161

19,089

20,715

22,077

20,729

21,570

19,298

21,914

General and administrative

6,270

6,120

5,335

6,451

7,603

7,220

7,139

7,040

Product Development

3,316

2,917

3,206

3,089

2,956

3,108

2,786

2,476

—

—

—

—

(1,833)

(2,250)

(3,500)

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing

Unexchanged promotional
shares
Total operating expenses

—

26,747

28,126

29,256

31,617

29,455

29,648

25,723

31,430

Income from operations

976

860

2,328

2,982

196

1,846

9,228

6,540

Other income (expense)

(376)

(202)

Income (loss) before income tax

600

658

Income taxes

165

Net income (loss)

(218)

(8,199)

(348)

95

154

190

2,110

2,536

(446)

(152)

1,941

9,382

6,730

1,268

1,806

(66)

158

2,266

2,481

$

435

$

8,857

$

842

$

730

$

(86)

$

1,783

$

7,116

$

4,249

Basic net income (loss) per share $

0.03

$

0.60

$

0.06

$

0.05

$

(0.01)

$

0.12

$

0.48

$

0.29

Diluted net income (loss) per
share

0.03

$

0.60

$

0.06

$

0.05

$

(0.01)

$

0.12

$

0.48

$

0.29

$

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2015 , we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 31, 2015 to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act, including this report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and to ensure that information required to be disclosed in such reports is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. For these purposes, “disclosure controls and procedures” means controls and other procedures of the Company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. “Disclosure controls and procedures” include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
78

Except set forth below, during the three months ended December 31, 2015 , there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
During 2015, we made certain changes to our internal control over financial reporting related to our acquisition of the Asia Pacific business, which we
acquired in August 2015. These changes are subject to a Securities and Exchange Commission allowed first-year exemption for acquired businesses. In addition,
we made certain changes to internal control over financial reporting related to our implementation of an updated accounting system.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Travelzoo’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for Travelzoo Inc. Travelzoo’s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Travelzoo’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of Travelzoo; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Travelzoo are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of Travelzoo; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of Travelzoo’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Travelzoo’s management assessed the effectiveness of Travelzoo’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , utilizing the criteria
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013). The
assessment of the effectiveness of Travelzoo’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 excluded the assessment of internal controls over
financial reporting related to the Travelzoo Asia Pacific business, which was acquired in August 2015, based upon a Securities and Exchange Commission allowed
first-year exemption for acquired businesses. Travelzoo Asia Pacific business’ total assets of $5.8 million and total revenues of $10.8 million are included in the
consolidated financial statements of Travelzoo Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. Based on the assessment by Travelzoo’s management, subject
to the foregoing, Travelzoo determined that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015 . The effectiveness of Travelzoo’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by KPMG LLP, Travelzoo’s independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
/s/ HOLGER BARTEL
Holger Bartel
Chairman of the Board and Global CEO
/s/ GLEN CEREMONY
Glen Ceremony
Chief Financial Officer
March 14, 2016
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Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Travelzoo’s Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of Travelzoo’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information regarding executive compensation and compensation committee interlocks is incorporated by reference to the information in the definitive Proxy
Statement relating to our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2015
, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder matters is incorporated by reference to the
information in the definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 , which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the
definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015 , which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is set forth in the definitive Proxy Statement relating to our 2016 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) Our Consolidated Financial Statements are included in Part II, Item 8:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

51

Consolidated Balance Sheets

52

Consolidated Statements of Operations

53

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

54

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

55

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

56

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

57

(2) Supplementary Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules:
All schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits:
See attached Exhibit Index
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRAVELZOO INC.
By:

/s/ GLEN CEREMONY
Glen Ceremony
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 14, 2016
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Glen Ceremony as his or her
attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Form 10-K, with all exhibits and
any and all documents required to be filed with respect thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any regulatory authority, granting unto such
attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in order to effectuate the
same as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do if personally present, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such attorney-in-fact and
agent or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures

Title(s)

Date

/s/ HOLGER BARTEL

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Global
CEO

March 14, 2016

/s/ GLEN CEREMONY

Chief Financial Officer and Principal

March 14, 2016

Glen Ceremony

Accounting Officer

/s/ RALPH BARTEL

Director

March 14, 2016

Director

March 14, 2016

Director

March 14, 2016

Director

March 14, 2016

Director

March 14, 2016

Director

March 14, 2016

Holger Bartel

Ralph Bartel
/s/ MICHAEL KARG
Michael Karg
/s/ DONOVAN NEALE-MAY
Donovan Neale-May
/s/ MARY REILLY
Mary Reilly
/s/ BEATRICE TARKA
Beatrice Tarka
/s/ CAROLINE TSAY
Caroline Tsay
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

—

Certificate of Incorporation of Travelzoo Inc. (Incorporated by reference to our Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 6 to our Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-55026), filed February
14, 2002).

3.2‡

—

Certificate of Incorporation of Travelzoo Inc. and Certificates of Amendment To the Certificate of
Incorporation to Effect a Reverse Stock Split Followed by a Forward Stock Split Of Travelzoo’s
Common Stock.

3.3

—

By-laws of Travelzoo Inc. (Incorporated by reference to our Pre-Effective Amendment No. 6 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-55026), filed February 14, 2002).

10.1

—

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-50171), filed November 9, 2007)

10.2*

—

Travelzoo Inc. North America Executive Bonus Plan as Amended and Restated Effective January 1,
2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed April 11,
2007)

10.3

—

Agreement of Lease, effective as of February 1, 2008, between Travelzoo Inc. and 590 Madison
Avenue, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed
February 7, 2008)

10.4

—

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated September 30, 2009, by and among Travelzoo Inc., Travelzoo
K.K., Azzurro Capital Inc. and a buyer entity to be designated by Azzurro Capital Inc., with
Exhibits (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed
October 5, 2009)

10.5

—

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated September 30, 2009, by and among Travelzoo Inc., Travelzoo
(Asia Pacific) Limited, Azzurro Capital Inc. and a buyer entity to be designated by Azzurro Capital
Inc., with Exhibits (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171),
filed October 5, 2009)

10.6

—

Option Agreement, dated September 30, 2009, between Travelzoo Inc. and Azzurro Capital Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed October 5,
2009)

10.7*

—

Employment Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Christopher Loughlin dated November 18,
2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed November
23, 2009)

10.8*

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Christopher Loughlin dated
November 18, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171),
filed November 23, 2009)

10.9*

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Glen Ceremony dated January
23,2012 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed March
30, 2012)
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10.10*

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Shirley Tafoya dated January
23,2012 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.1 on Form 8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed March
30, 2012)

10.11*

—

Employment Agreement, dated August 4, 2011 between Shirley Tafoya and Travelzoo Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-50171), filed November 9,
2010)

10.12*

—

Employment Agreement, dated May 9, 2011 between Glen Ceremony and Travelzoo Inc. Form 8-K
(File No. 000-50171), filed May 20, 2011)

10.13*

—

Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2011 between Holger Bartel and Travelzoo Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 10-Q (File No. 000-50171), filed October 28,
2011)

10.14*

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Christopher Loughlin dated July
22, 2013.

10.15*

—

Employment Agreement, amendment effective date January 1, 2013, between Christopher Loughlin
and Travelzoo Inc.

10.16*

—

Employment Agreement, amendment effective date August 1, 2013, between Christopher Loughlin
and Travelzoo Inc.

10.17*

—

Employment Agreement, amendment effective date January 1, 2013, between Glen Ceremony and
Travelzoo Inc.

10.18*

—

Employment Agreement, amendment effective date January 1, 2013, between Shirley Tafoya and
Travelzoo Inc.

10.19*

—

Employment Agreement, amendments effective dates July 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, between
Richard Singer and Travelzoo Inc.

—

Separation Agreement and General Release, effective date December 13, 2014, between Shirley
Tafoya and Travelzoo Inc.

10.21

—

Security Purchase Agreement, dated August 20, 2015, by and among Travelzoo (Europe) Limited,
and Travelzoo (Asia Pacific) Inc. with Exhibits (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form
8-K (File No. 000-50171), filed August 26, 2015)

10.22*‡

—

Employment Agreement, dated May 1, 2011, between Michael Stitt and Travelzoo Inc.

10.23*‡

—

Employment Agreement addendum, dated May 1, 2011, between Michael Stitt and Travelzoo Inc.

10.24*‡

—

Employment Agreement, dated September 30, 2015, between Michael Stitt and Travelzoo Inc.

—

Separation Agreement and General Release, dated December 14, 2015, between Simon TallingSmith and Travelzoo Inc.

10.20*

10.25*‡
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—

Separation Agreement and General Release, effective December 31, 2015, between Christopher
Loughlin and Travelzoo Inc.

10.27*‡

—

Employment Agreement, dated June 7, 2014, between Vivian Hong and Travelzoo Inc.

10.28*‡

—

Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2016, between Vivian Hong and Travelzoo Inc.

10.29*‡

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Mike Stitt dated March 7, 2016.

—

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement between Travelzoo Inc. and Richard Singer dated March 7,
2016.

21.1‡

—

Subsidiaries of Travelzoo Inc.

23.1‡

—

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1

—

Power of Attorney (included on signature page)

31.1‡

—

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2‡

—

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1†

—

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2†

—

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

10.26*‡

10.30*‡

101.INS†

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE†

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
‡
†

This exhibit is a management contract or a compensatory plan or arrangement.
Filed herewith
Furnished herewith
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Exhibit 10.22

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement is entered into as of May 1, 2011 (the "Effective Date"), by and between Travelzoo Local Inc., a subsidiary of Travelzoo
Inc. and a Delaware corporation (the "Company") with principal corporate offices at 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, NY 10022, and Michael Stitt
whose address is currently 600 N. Kingsbury ("Employee"). The Company and Employee are at certain times each referred to herein as a Party, and collectively
referred to herein as “the Parties.”
WHEREAS, Travelzoo Inc. and Employee are parties to an Employment Agreement dated August 25, 2010, and subsequent addenda, and the Parties
desire to supersede those prior agreements with this Agreement;
WHEREAS, the Company desires to transfer Employee as Vice President and General Manager, Travelzoo Local to Travelzoo Local Inc. and Employee
desires to perform such service for the Company, on the terms and conditions as set forth herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, it is mutually agreed by the Parties as follows:
1.

Duties and Scope of Employment .
(a)

Position . Employee shall be employed as Vice President and General Manager, Travelzoo Local.

(b)
Duties . During the term of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee shall devote their full time, skill and attention to their
duties and responsibilities, which Employee shall perform faithfully, diligently and competently, and Employee shall use their best efforts to further the
business of the Company. During the term of the Agreement, Employee agrees not to actively engage in any other employment, occupation or consulting
activity for any direct or indirect remuneration without the prior approval of the Company, except that this provision shall not be interpreted to prohibit
Employee from involvement in any charitable or community activity/organization that he is currently involved in, or may become involved in, and that
does not materially interfere with his ability to perform his duties under this Agreement. Employee shall be permitted, to the extent such activities do not
materially and adversely affect the ability of Employee to fully perform his duties and responsibilities hereunder, to (i) manage Employee's personal,
financial and legal affairs, (ii) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees, and (iii) with the consent of the Company (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld), serve as a member of the board of directors or as an advisor of any noncompeting business.
2.
Term of Employment . Employee continues to be an “at-will” employee which means that the nature of employment relationship may be
terminated at any time, with or without cause, at the option of either the Company or Employee, upon two weeks’ written notice to the other party. Employee
acknowledges that their obligations set forth in certain sections of this Agreement, including but not limited to Section 5, survive the termination of their
employment from the Company.
(a)
Termination by Company without Cause . If Employee is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in paragraph 2(b)),
Employee shall receive their salary and benefits earned through the date of termination.
(b)
Termination for Cause . If Employee is terminated for “Cause” as defined herein at any time, Employee will receive only payment of
their salary and benefits through the date of termination. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” is defined as (i) gross misconduct by Employee that is
materially injurious to the Company’s business; (ii) the commission by Employee of a felony; or (iii) the willful failure or refusal of the Employee,
following receipt of an explicit directive from the Company, to comply with the material terms of this Agreement.
3.

Compensation and Fringe Benefits .
(a)
Salary . Employee will receive a salary at the annualized rate of $260,000 (Two Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars) (the
"Salary"), which shall be paid periodically in accordance with normal Company payroll practices and subject to the usual and applicable required
withholdings. Employee understands and agrees that neither his job performance nor promotions, commendations, bonuses or the like from the Company
give rise to or in any way serve as the basis for modification, amendment, or extension, by implication or otherwise, of this Agreement.

(b)
Accelerator Bonus Opportunity from April 1, 2011 - December 31, 2013. Employee will be eligible to participate in a bonus plan
to incentivize him to develop the Travelzoo Local Deals business ("Accelerator Bonus"). Under this plan, the following one-time bonus payments can be
earned. The Accelerator Bonus plan will survive beyond the Term of this agreement as long as the employee remains in the role of Vice President and
General Manager, Travelzoo Local Deals.
a.

A one-time bonus of $150,000 (One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $7,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least 60
markets.

b.

A one-time bonus of $150,000 (One Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $9,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least 70
markets.

c.

A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $11,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least 80
markets.

d.

A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $13,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least 90
markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $15,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
100 markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $17,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
110 markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $20,000,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
120 markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $22,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
130 markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $25,000,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
140 markets.
A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $27,500,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
150 markets.

e.

f.

g.

h.

i.

j.

k.

A one-time bonus of $250,000 (Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars) when Travelzoo Locals Deals quarterly North America
net revenue surpasses $30,000,000 AND Travelzoo Local Deals quarterly operating income meets the operating income of the
official operating budget AND Travelzoo has published a minimum of ten (10) Local Deals during the quarter in each of at least
160 markets.

The CEO will determine if any bonus should be paid outside this payment schedule. Any bonus payments, if applicable, shall be made within 45 days of
the end of the calendar quarter, and will be subject to the usual and applicable withholding and payroll taxes.
(e)
Vacation and Holiday Pay . Employee shall receive four (4) weeks of paid vacation per year, which accrues over the course of the year.
In addition, the Company provides eight (8) paid holidays each year, along with two (2) “floating holidays” which can be used by Employee at any time.
(f)
Other Benefits . Employee will be entitled to participate in or receive such benefits under the Company's employee benefit plans and
policies and such other benefits which may be made available as in effect from time to time and as are provided to similarly situated employees of the
Company, subject in each case to the generally applicable terms and conditions of the plans and policies in question.
4.
Expenses . The Company will pay or reimburse Employee for reasonable travel, entertainment or other expenses incurred by Employee in the
furtherance of or in connection with the performance of Employee's duties hereunder in accordance with the Company's established policies.
5.

Certain Covenants .
(a)

Intellectual Property Rights .

(i)
Employee agrees that the Company will be the sole owner of any and all of Employee's "Discoveries" and "Work Product,"
hereinafter defined, made during the term of his employment with the Company, whether pursuant to this Agreement or other duties performed
on behalf of the Company. For purposes of this Agreement, "Discoveries" means all inventions, discoveries, improvements, and copyrightable
works (including, without limitation, any information relating to the Company's software products, source code, know-how, processes, designs,
algorithms, computer programs and routines, formulae, techniques, developments or experimental work, work-in-progress, or business trade
secrets) made or conceived or reduced to practice by Employee during the term of his employment by the Company, whether or not potentially
patentable or copyrightable in the United States or elsewhere. For purposes of this Agreement, "Work Product" means any and all work product
relating to Discoveries.
(ii) Employee shall promptly disclose to the Company all Discoveries and Work Product. All such disclosures must include complete
and accurate copies of all source code, object code or machine-readable copies, documentation, work notes, flow-charts, diagrams, test data,
reports, samples, and other tangible evidence or results (collectively, "Tangible Embodiments") of such Discoveries or Work Product. All
Tangible Embodiments of any Discoveries or Work Project will be deemed to have been assigned to the Company as a result of the act of
expressing any Discovery or Work Product therein.
(iii) Employee hereby assigns and agrees to assign to the Company all of his interest in any country in any and all Discoveries and
Work Product, whether such interest arises under patent law, copyright law, trade-secret law, semiconductor chip protection law, or otherwise.
Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, Employee hereby authorizes the Company to make any desired changes to any part of
any Discovery or Work Product, to combine it with other materials in any manner desired, and to withhold Employee's identity in connection
with any distribution or use thereof alone or in combination with other materials. This assignment and assignment obligation applies to all
Discoveries and Work Product arising during Employee's employment with the Company (or its predecessors), whether pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise. Employee's agreement to assign to the Company any of his rights as set forth in this Section 5(a)(iii) applies to all
inventions other than an invention (a) in which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information of the Company was used (b) was
developed entirely upon Employee's own time (c) does not relate to Company business or to the Company's actual or anticipated research or
development and (d) does not result from any work performed by Employee for the Company.

(iv)
At the request of the Company, Employee shall promptly and without additional compensation execute any and all patent
applications, copyright registration applications, waivers of moral rights, assignments, or other instruments that the Company deems necessary
or appropriate to apply for or obtain Letters Patent of the United States or any foreign country, copyright registrations or otherwise to protect the
Company's interest in such Discovery and Work Product, the expenses for which will be borne by the Company. Employee hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as his agents and attorneys-in-fact to, if the Company is unable
for any reason to secure Employee's signature to any lawful and necessary document required or appropriate to apply for or execute any patent
application, copyright registration application, waiver of moral rights, or other similar document with respect to any Discovery and Work
Product (including, without limitation, renewals, extensions, continuations, divisions, or continuations in part), (i) act for and in his behalf, (ii)
execute and file any such document, and (iii) do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution of the same legal force and effect as
if executed by him; this designation and appointment constitutes an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with an interest.
(v) To the extent that any Discovery or Work Product constitutes copyrightable or similar subject matter that is eligible to be treated
as a "work made for hire" or as having similar status in the United States or elsewhere, it will be so deemed. This provision does not alter or limit
Employee's other obligations to assign intellectual property rights under this Agreement.
(vi) The obligations of Employee set forth in this Section 5 (including, without limitation, the assignment obligations) will continue
beyond the termination of Employee's employment with respect to Discoveries and Work Product conceived or made by Employee alone or in
concert with others during Employee's employment with the Company, whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise. Those obligations will
be binding upon Employee, his assignees permitted under this Agreement, executors, administrators, and other representatives.
(b)

Exposure to Proprietary Information .

(i) As used in this Agreement, "Proprietary Information" means all information of a business or technical nature that relates to the
Company including, without limitation, all information about software products whether currently released or in development, all inventions,
discoveries, improvements, copyrightable work, source code, know-how, processes, designs, algorithms, computer programs and routines,
formulae and techniques, and any information regarding the business of any customer or supplier of the Company or any other information that
the Company is required to keep confidential. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the term "Proprietary Information" does not include
information that is or becomes publicly available through no fault of Employee, or information that Employee learned prior to the Effective
Date.
(ii)
In recognition of the special nature of his employment under this Agreement, including his special access to the Proprietary
Information, and in consideration of his employment pursuant to this Agreement, Employee agrees to the covenants and restrictions set forth in
Section 5 of this Agreement.
(c)

Use of Proprietary Information; Restrictive Covenants .

(i) Employee acknowledges that the Proprietary Information constitutes a protectible business interest of the Company, and covenants
and agrees that during the term of his employment, whether under this Agreement or otherwise, and after the termination of such employment,
he will not, directly or indirectly, disclose, furnish, make available or utilize any of the Proprietary Information, other than in the proper
performance of his duties for the Company.
(ii) Employee will not, during the term of this Agreement or, for a period of one year thereafter (the “Restricted Period”), anywhere
within the United States (the "Restricted Territory"), directly or indirectly (whether as an owner, partner, shareholder, agent, officer, director,
employee, independent contractor, consultant, or otherwise):
1.
perform services for, or engage in, any business or segment of a business which generates its revenues primarily
from the development, publishing, or sale of online advertisements for travel or entertainment companies (the "Products");
2.
perform services for, or engage in, any business or segment of a business that generates its revenue primarily from
the online sale if vouchers or coupons for local businesses;

3. except on behalf of the Company, solicit any person or entity who is, or was at any time during the twelve-month period
immediately prior to the termination of Employee's employment with the Company, a customer of the Company for the sale of
the Products or any product or service of a type then sold by the Company for which Employee provided any assistance in
planning, development, marketing, training, support, or maintenance; or
4. solicit for employment any person who is, or was at any time during the twelve-month period immediately prior to the
termination of Employee's employment with the Company, an employee of the Company.
(d)
Scope/Severability . The Parties acknowledge that the business of the Company is and will be national and international in scope and thus
the covenants in this Section 5 would be particularly ineffective if the covenants were to be limited to a particular geographic area of the United
States. If any court of competent jurisdiction at any time deems the Restricted Period unreasonably lengthy, or the Restricted Territory
unreasonably extensive, or any of the covenants set forth in this Section 5 not fully enforceable, the other provisions of this Section 5, and this
Agreement in general, will nevertheless stand and to the full extent consistent with law continue in full force and effect, and it is the intention and
desire of the parties that the court treat any provisions of this Agreement which are not fully enforceable as having been modified to the extent
deemed necessary by the court to render them reasonable and enforceable and that the court enforce them to such extent (for example, that the
Restricted Period be deemed to be the longest period permissible by law, but not in excess of the length provided for in Section 5(c), and the
Restricted Territory be deemed to comprise the largest territory permissible by law under the circumstances).
(e)
Return of Company Materials upon Termination . Employee acknowledges that all records, documents, and Tangible Embodiments
containing or of Proprietary Information prepared by Employee or coming into his possession by virtue of his employment by the Company are
and will remain the property of the Company. Upon termination of his employment with the Company, Employee shall immediately return to the
Company all such items in his possession and all copies of such items.
6.

Equitable Remedies .

(a) Employee acknowledges and agrees that the agreements and covenants set forth in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) are reasonable and
necessary for the protection of the Company's business interests, that irreparable injury will result to the Company if Employee breaches any of the terms
of said covenants, and that in the event of Employee's actual or threatened breach of any such covenants, the Company will have no adequate remedy at
law. Employee accordingly agrees that, in the event of any actual or threatened breach by him of any of said covenants, the Company will be entitled to
immediate injunctive and other equitable relief, without bond and without the necessity of showing actual monetary damages. Nothing in this Section 6
will be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedies available to it for such breach or threatened breach, including the
recovery of any damages that it is able to prove. Employee agrees that notwithstanding the arbitration provision in Section 11, the Company may apply to
a court of competent jurisdiction, in accordance with Section 11(c) of this Agreement, to obtain the equitable relief referenced in this Section 6.
(b) Each of the covenants in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) will be construed as independent of any other covenants or other provisions of
this Agreement.
(c) In the event of any judicial determination that any of the covenants in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d), and (e) are not fully enforceable, it is the
intention and desire of the parties that the court treat said covenants as having been modified to the extent deemed necessary by the court to render them
reasonable and enforceable, and that the court enforce them to such extent.
7.
Assignment . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of Employee upon
Employee's death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company shall be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this
Agreement for all purposes. As used herein, "successor" shall include any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by
purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly, acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of the rights of Employee to
receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a testamentary disposition or by the laws
of descent. Any attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights of Employee to receive any
form of compensation hereunder shall be null and void.

8.
Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications called for hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered
personally, one (1) day after mailing via Federal Express overnight or a similar overnight delivery service, or three (3) days after being mailed by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, prepaid and addressed to the parties or their successors in interest at the addresses listed above, or at such other addresses as
the parties may designate by written notice in the manner aforesaid.
9. Severability . In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void,
this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision.
10.
Entire Agreement . This Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and Employee concerning
Employee's employment relationship with the Company, and supersede in their entirety any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning Employee's
employment relationship with the Company.
11.

Resolution of Disputes Regarding Employment .

(a)
The Parties agree to submit any dispute or controversy arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this Agreement, or the
interpretation, validity, construction, performance, breach, or termination thereof, or to any aspect of the employer/employee relationship or the
termination of that relationship, to mediation. The Parties shall mutually select the mediator and shall equally pay for the costs of the mediator.
(b) If and only if a mediation is unsuccessful, and the dispute or controversy is not resolved within 30 days after a mediation, either party may
submit the matter to binding arbitration, to the extent permitted by law, to be held in or near Chicago, Illinois in accordance with the National Rules for
the Resolution of Employment Disputes then in effect of the American Arbitration Association (the “Rules”). The Company agrees to pay all costs of the
arbitrator and the arbitration. The arbitrator may grant injunctions or other relief in such dispute or controversy. The decision of the arbitrator shall be
final, conclusive and binding on the parties to the arbitration. Judgment may be entered on the arbitrator’s decision in any court having jurisdiction. The
arbitrator may award the prevailing party in any such arbitration attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection therewith, except for those the Company
shall bear, as set forth above.
(c) The arbitrator shall apply Illinois law to the merits of any dispute or claim, without reference to rules of conflict of law. The Parties hereby
expressly consent to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Cook County, Illinois for any action or proceeding arising from or
relating to this Agreement and/or relating to any arbitration in which the Parties are participants.
(d) The Parties have read and understand Section 11, which discusses arbitration. The Parties understand that by signing this agreement, the
Parties agree to submit any future claims arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this agreement, or the interpretation, validity, construction,
performance, breach, or termination thereof to binding arbitration to the extent permitted by law, and that this arbitration clause constitutes a waiver of the
Parties’ right to a jury trial and relates to the resolution of all disputes relating to all aspects of the employer/employee relationship, including but not
limited to, the following claims:
(i) Any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment; breach of contract, both express and implied; breach of the
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; negligent or
intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage; misappropriation
of Proprietary Information or other breaches covenants set forth in Section 5, and defamation;
(ii) Any and all claims for violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, including, but not limited to Title VII (or any
other title) of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the Equal Pay Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. section 1981, the
Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Older Worker Benefit
Protection Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, and the Illinois Human Rights Act;
(iii) Any and all claims arising out of any other laws and regulations relating to employment or employment discrimination.
(e) The Parties may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, or other interim or
conservatory relief, as necessary, without breach of this arbitration agreement and without abridgment of the powers of the arbitrator.

12.
No Oral Modification, Cancellation or Discharge . This Agreement may only be amended, canceled or discharged in writing signed by Employee
and the Company.
13.

Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the State of Illinois.

14. Acknowledgment . Employee acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private attorney,
has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of this Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily entering into
this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.
THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS A BINDING ARBITRATION PROVISION WHICH MAY BE ENFORCED BY BOTH PARTIES.

COMPANY :
TRAVELZOO LOCAL INC.

By:
Title:
Date:

EMPLOYEE :

Michael Stitt
Date:

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and General Release is entered into by and between Shirley Tafoya (“Employee”) and Travelzoo Inc., (“Employer”)
(collectively referred to herein as “the Parties”).
I. RECITALS
1.1. Employee was employed by Employer in the position of President, North America pursuant to a written employment agreement dated August 4,
2010 (the “Employment Agreement”).
1.2. Pursuant to the provisions of the Employment Agreement, Employee was notified on September 12, 2014 that employment with Employer would
terminate and that Employee’s services would not be required effective immediately. Employee has been paid in full Employee’s wages and any unused vacation
time through September 12, 2014 (the “Termination Date”), less deductions required by law, in accordance with Employer’s customary payroll practices.
1.3. In consideration of Employee’s service, to assist in her transition to new employment and for a broad release of all claims against Employer,
Employer offered Employee severance pay, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.
ACCORDINGLY, in consideration of the terms, conditions and agreements set forth below, Employer and Employee agree as follows:
II. AGREEMENTS
2.1. Severance Payment . Subject to Employee’s execution and fulfillment of Employee’s obligations, promises and covenants contained in this Agreement (as
well as the Employment Agreement as referenced herein), Employer (provided this Agreement has not been revoked) will pay Employee's counsel $208,500 on
January 5, 2015 to such attorney-client trust account as may be designated in writing by Employee's attorneys at Allred, Maroko & Goldberg, plus $342,000, less
applicable taxes and such withholdings as may be required for Employer to withhold the total amount required by applicable law for all payments hereunder
(“Severance Payment”) to be paid in twenty-four equal installments beginning on the next payroll date following the end of the Revocation Period set forth in
Section 2.18 of this Agreement, in accordance with Employer’s customary payroll practices.
2.2 Benefits . Employer will pay the Employer portion of Employee’s group health insurance through September 30, 2014. Employer will not contest
Employee’s eligibility for unemployment benefits after the Termination Date.

2.3 Non‑Disparagement . Employee agrees that she will not directly or indirectly, publish or disseminate to the media or any individual or entity
information that is critical, derogatory or otherwise intended to disparage Employer or Employer’s business, senior executives or officers, whether such
information is acquired during or after her employment with Employer. In addition, Employee agrees that she will not make any remarks which may damage or
discredit the reputation of Employer’s products, or otherwise adversely affect the goodwill of its business, or be harmful to its business relationships. Employer
agrees that its executives and senior level managers will not defame or disparage Employee.

Employer agrees that in response to all employment reference checks concerning Employee, Employer will confirm the dates of employment, title, and rate of pay
of Employee and provide no additional information with regard to employee references, in accordance with Employer’s policy.
2.4
General Release . In consideration for the payments and benefits the Employee receives under this Agreement, and subject only to Section 2.6 ,
Employee, on behalf of herself, her heirs, spouse, dependents, estate, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, unconditionally, irrevocably and absolutely
releases and forever discharges Employer, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and each of its respective past, present and future shareholders, officers, directors,
employees, agents, insurers, attorneys and parent, affiliated or related entities, and their respective successors and assigns (“Released Parties”), from all claims,
demands, disputes, charges, actions, rights, damages, costs, losses, liabilities, expenses, suits of any type (whether in law or equity), compensation and other legal
responsibilities, known or unknown, of any kind, which Employee may own or hold against any of the Released Parties at any time. The release of claims under
this Section is intended to be as broad as the law allows. The rights and claims released by this Agreement include, but are not limited to, all claims of whatever
kind or nature that may exist relating to, arising out of or in connection with Employee’s employment or the termination of such employment (including, but not
limited to any of Employer’s actions which lead to her termination), whether such claims are presently known or are hereafter discovered or whether they are
foreseen or unforeseen as of the date hereof. This release applies, without limitation, to all such claims arising under any federal, state, common law or local law,
including but not limited to any and all claims for employment discrimination, harassment or retaliation under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Older Worker’s Benefit Protection Act, the Equal Pay
Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the California Fair Employment & Housing Act, the California Family Leave Act, the
California Labor Code or any other state, federal or local statute or regulation applicable to Employer, including any claim for intentional or negligent infliction of
emotional distress, physical injury, violation of any public policy, breach of any implied or express contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith or fair
dealing, privacy violations, defamation, any claim for stock options, any claim for wrongful termination, fraud, intentional or negligent misrepresentation, and all
other legal and equitable causes of action whatsoever and all remedies for such claims. Employee certifies that as of the date of this Release, she has reported all
accidents, injuries or illnesses relating to or arising from her employment with the Employer.
2.5 Unknown Claims . Employee understands that the release set forth in Section 2.4 above includes claims which Employee knows about and claims
Employee may not know about. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement extends to all claims of every nature and kind whatsoever, known or
unknown, suspected or unsuspected, past or present, and all rights under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code are hereby expressly waived. Employee
expressly waives any rights under California Civil Code section 1542 which provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in HIS OR her favor at the time of executing the
release which if known by HIM OR her must have materially affected her settlement with the debtor.
For purposes of Section 1542, “creditor” refers to Employee and “debtor” refers to the Released Parties.
2.6 Claims Not Affected by Release . This Release does not affect Employee’s right to apply for continuation or conversion of insurance coverage to
the extent that the Employer’s insurance plans or applicable law provide for such continuation or conversion, or to any claim for disability or unemployment
compensation to which Employee is entitled by law. This Release does not prohibit the filing of a charge with or participating in an investigation by the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or any other federal, state or local government agency, but does prohibit any award of damages to Employee or
financial recovery by Employee. This Release also does not apply to claims under the Age Discrimination and Employment Act that arise after the date Employee
signs this Agreement.
2.7 Agreement Not To Sue and Warranty . Employee promises that she has not and will not file any suit, charge, complaint, grievance, action or other
proceeding with any federal, state or local agency, court, organization, judicial forum or other tribunal asserting any claim that is released in Section 2.4 above, and
warrants that she has not assigned to any other person or entity the right to file any claims that are released in Section 2.4 above, nor will she permit any person,
group of persons, or organization to take such action on her behalf.
2.8 Non‑Admissions . It is understood that by offering or entering into this Agreement, neither Employee nor Employer has admitted any liability or
wrongdoing whatsoever. No final findings or final judgments have been made and Employee does not purport and will not claim to be prevailing party, to any
degree or extent, nor will this Agreement or its terms be admissible in any proceeding other than a proceeding for breach of the terms contained herein.

2.9
Return of Property . During employment, Employee acknowledges that she was entrusted with access to confidential Company information
concerning such things as the identities, needs and preferences of customers and prospects, financial reports, business plans, sales and marketing strategies, product
designs and specifications, personnel files, and other proprietary information belonging to the Company. Employee promises to keep all such information
confidential and not to use or disclose it for any purpose after termination. Employee also agrees to return all of Employer’s property, including all work in
progress, files, photographs, notes, records, credit cards, keys, access cards, computer, and other company or customer documents, products or property which she
has received in the course of her employment, or which reflect in any way any confidential or proprietary information of Employer. For the avoidance of doubt,
Employee agrees to return all of Employer’s confidential and/or proprietary and trade secret information, including but not limited to, company manuals,
handbooks, customer lists, training manuals, checklists, programs and any other materials accessed through the Employer’s network.
2.10 Prior Agreements . Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve Employee of any of Employee’s obligations and covenants as set forth in
Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement.
2.11
Confidentiality of Severance Offer and Benefits . Except to the extent required by law (e.g., to submit a tax return or compliance with a lawful
subpoena), Employee warrants that she has not disclosed, and promises that she will not disclose, the offer or payment of severance benefits for any reason to any
person other than members of her immediate family and professional representatives, who shall be informed of and bound by the same promise of confidentiality.
2.12 Consequences of Violation of Agreement . If either party violates her or its promises in this Agreement, the other party shall be entitled to recover,
in addition to any other damages or remedies, such party’s attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against the claim or enforcing the terms of this Agreement. In
addition, if Employee breaches her promises in this Agreement or her obligations and covenants set forth in Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement,
Employer shall have the right to cease paying the Severance Payment under this Agreement and to recover any portion of the Severance Payment previously paid
to Employee.
2.13
Reemployment or Reinstatement : Employee hereby waives any right to and agrees not to apply or reapply for employment and agrees that
Employer has no obligation, contractual or otherwise, to rehire, reemploy or recall her in the future. The existence of this Agreement shall be a valid, nondiscriminatory basis for rejecting any such application or, in the event Employee obtains such employment, to terminate such employment.
2.14
Entire Agreement . This Agreement sets forth all agreements and understandings between Employee and Employer and supersedes any prior
agreements, understandings or promises between them, except for Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement. Employee acknowledges that she has not
relied on any inducements that are not set forth herein.
2.15
Governing Law/Arbitration . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. The
parties hereto agree to submit any disputes hereunder to mediation in accordance with 11(a) of the Employment Agreement before any action is filed in any
arbitration or court. The parties hereto agree to submit any disputes hereunder to arbitration in accordance with 11(a) of the Employment Agreement. If such
arbitration clause is found to be limited or unenforceable to any extent, the Court and any arbitrator shall enforce such clause to the full extent permitted by
applicable law and it shall not be invalidated.
2.16 Severability . If any term, provision, or portion of this Agreement is held unenforceable by any tribunal, it shall be deemed automatically adjusted
to the extent necessary to conform to the requirements for validity as declared at such time and, as adjusted, shall be deemed a provision of this Agreement as if
originally included herein. In the event that an invalidated provision is of such a nature that it cannot be so adjusted, the provision shall be deemed deleted from
this Agreement as if it had never been included herein. In either case, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
2.17 Consultation with Attorney . Employee is aware of and acknowledges that she has the right, at Employee’s expense, to consult with an attorney
before signing this Agreement, has been advised in writing to do so, and has done so to the extent desired. Employee acknowledges , that she has had a reasonable
period of time in which to consider the terms of this Agreement, and she has specifically consulted (or has the opportunity to consult) her attorneys regarding this
Release and all of its terms. Employee specifically acknowledges that she was counseled by a representative of Employer to seek the advice of counsel concerning
this Agreement and its meaning and effect.
2.18 Time for Consideration and Employee’s Right to Review Agreement . Employee acknowledges that she has been given a period of twenty-one (21) days to
consider whether to sign this Agreement, and that she can use as much or as little of this period as she chooses. In the event Employee elects to execute this
Agreement before the end of the twenty-one (21) day review period provided to Employee and thereby waive the remainder of the twenty-one (21) day review
period, Employee does so knowingly and voluntarily, and Employee acknowledges and represents that the Company has not in any way coerced Employee to do so
or

otherwise threatened to withdraw or alter the Company’s offer of severance pay set forth in this Agreement before the expiration of such twenty-one (21) day
period.
In addition, after Employee signs the Agreement there is a seven (7) day revocation period. The Parties acknowledge and understand that this Agreement shall not
take effect until seven (7) days after the signing of the Agreement, during which time the Employee may revoke the Agreement by delivering a written notice
specifically stating Employee’s desire to revoke the Agreement to the Company c/o Gretchen Johnson, 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, New York
10022. Notice must be received by the Company no later than midnight (Eastern Time) on the seventh day following signature of Employee of this Agreement.
Employee further acknowledges that she has carefully read and fully understands all of the provisions of this Agreement and is freely elected to sign this
Agreement on the date set forth below. The signed Agreement must be delivered to Travelzoo Inc., Attention: Gretchen Johnson, SVP, HR by fax at (212) 4844944 or by email at gjohnson@travelzoo.com. If Employee fails to sign and return this Agreement within the time allowed, it shall not be effective or enforceable
and Employee will not receive the Severance Payment described in Section 2.1. If Employee signs this Agreement within the time allowed, it shall be enforceable
and irrevocable. Employee hereby acknowledges that her execution of this Agreement and release is made knowingly and that she has been advised of and
afforded the proper time for consideration of this Agreement and Release.
2.19 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when
taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SHE HAS HAD AN ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OF ITS
TERMS AND IS ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY ON THE DATE SHOWN BELOW HER NAME. SHE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS
AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS ALL OF ITS TERMS INCLUDING THE FULL AND FINAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS SET FORTH ABOVE.
SHE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SHE HAS VOLUNTARILY ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THAT HER AGREEMENT IS NOT
THE RESULT OF ANY FRAUD, DURESS, COERCION, PRESSURE OR UNDUE INFLUENCE EXERCISED BY OR ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYER,
THAT SHE HAS NOT RELIED UPON ANY REPRESENTATION OR STATEMENT, WRITTEN OR ORAL, NOT SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT SHE HAS HAD THIS AGREEMENT REVIEWED BY HER ATTORNEY AND TAX ADVISOR, OR HAS BEEN GIVEN
THE OPPORTUNITY BY EMPLOYER TO DO SO.

TRAVELZOO INC.

Print Name:________________________
Title: ________________________
Shirley Tafoya
Date Signed

Date Signed

Exhibit 10.23

2014 ADDENDUM TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This 2014 Addendum to the Employment Agreement (“Agreement”) entered into by and between Travelzoo Local Inc. (the "Company") and Michael
Stitt ("Employee") on May 1, 2011 revises, amends and modifies the Agreement as follows:
1. Paragraph 3 Compensation and Fringe Benefits , (b) Accelerator Bonus Opportunity , is hereby deleted to reflect the discontinuation of the Accelerator
Bonus Opportunity since July 16, 2012.
2.
3. Effective October 1, 2014, Employee will be eligible to participate in a quarterly Performance Bonus plan (“Performance Bonus”), under which
Employee may receive, in addition to his Salary, a bonus in an amount between zero and $58,000 (Fifty Eight Thousand Dollars). Employee must be
employed by the Company through the last day of the quarter in order to receive any Performance Bonus attributable to such quarter.
The following schedule applies for calculating a bonus.

Bonus is paid on a
progression model, in increments of
0.01% improvement.
95% Achievement = 60% Payout =
$12,000
100% Achievement = 100% Payout =
$20,000
Quarterly combined North America Travel Publications and Local Deals
revenue target exceeded, per the official operating budgets (not including
Fly.com or SuperSearch)

105% Achievement = 120% Payout =
$24,000
Bonus is paid on a
progression model, in increments of
0.01% improvement.
90% Achievement = 60% Payout =
$12,000
100% Achievement = 100% Payout =
$20,000

Quarterly combined North America Travel Publications and Local Deals
income target exceeded, per the official operating budgets (not including
Fly.com or SuperSearch)

110% Achievement = 120% Payout =
$24,000
Goal 1 = up to $3,333
Goal 2 = up to $3,333
Goal 3= up to $3,333

Three quarterly non-revenue and non-income targets, agreed with the CEO at
the beginning of the quarter. These may be product, content, audience or
leadership related targets

Total non-revenue and non-income
bonus opportunity: up to $10,000

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer will determine if the criteria are met.
The Company shall notify Employee of any changes to the Performance Bonus in writing. The Performance Bonus outlined above supersedes all other
written bonus plans.
Any bonus payments, if applicable, shall be made no more than 60 days of the end of the calendar quarter, and will be subject to the usual and applicable
withholding and payroll taxes.

Except as expressly set forth herein, all other terms of the Agreement remain in full force and effect.
COMPANY :
TRAVELZOO LOCAL INC.

By:
Title:
Date:

EMPLOYEE :

MICHAEL STITT
Date:

Exhibit 10.24
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement is entered into as of September 30, 2015 (the "Effective Date"), by and between Travelzoo Inc., a Delaware corporation,
(the "Company") with principal corporate offices at 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, NY 10022, and Michael Stitt whose address is currently 500
West Superior Street, Unit 1101, Chicago, IL 60654 ("Employee"). The Company and Employee are individually referred to herein as a “Party”, and collectively
referred to herein as “the Parties”.
WHEREAS, the Company and Employee are Parties to an Employment Agreement dated September 17, 2010, and the Parties desire to supersede that
prior agreement with this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to change the responsibilities of Employee from Vice President and General Manager, Travelzoo Local to President,
North America, and Employee desires to perform such service for the Company, on the terms and conditions as set forth herein;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, it is mutually agreed by the parties as follows:
1.

Duties and Scope of Employment .

(a)
Position . Employee shall be employed as President, North America. Employment will begin on October 1, 2015. The position is based in
the Company’s New York office at 590 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10022. Employee agrees to relocate no later than June 30, 2016.
(b)
Duties . During the term of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee shall devote his full time, skill and attention to his
duties and responsibilities, which Employee shall perform faithfully, diligently and competently, and Employee shall use their best efforts to further the
business of the Company. During the term of the Agreement, Employee agrees not to actively engage in any other employment, occupation or consulting
activity for any direct or indirect remuneration without the prior approval of the Company, except that this provision shall not be interpreted to prohibit
Employee from involvement in any charitable or community activity/organization that they are currently involved in and that does not materially interfere
with their ability to perform their duties under this Agreement. Employee shall be permitted, to the extent such activities do not materially and adversely
affect the ability of Employee to fully perform their duties and responsibilities hereunder, to (i) manage Employee's personal, financial and legal affairs,
(ii) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees, and (iii) with the consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), serve
as a member of the board of directors of any noncompeting business.
2.
Term of Employment . Employee and the Company retain the right to terminate this Agreement at any time, for any reason or no reason, and with
or without Cause (as hereinafter defined), upon two weeks prior written notice to the other Party. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to alter the at-will
nature of the Employee’s employment with the Company, and the at-will nature of Executive’s employment shall not otherwise be modified except in a writing
signed by both Employee and the chairman of the board of directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions of Section 5, 6, and 11 of the Agreement shall
survive, and continue in full force and effect, after any termination of this Agreement, irrespective of the reason for the termination or any claim that the
termination was wrongful or illegal.
(a)
Termination by Company without Cause . If Employee is terminated by the Company for reasons other than Cause (as defined in
paragraph 2(b)) or Disability (as defined in paragraph 2(c)), Employee shall receive his salary and benefits earned through the date of termination. In
addition, upon execution of a General Release substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, Employee shall receive his Base Salary and benefits
for a period of six (6) months (“Severance Pay”). Employer’s payment of Severance Pay is subject to Section 2(f) as a condition precedent to payment of
any Severance Pay. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any payment of Severance Pay is expressly
conditioned on Employee executing a General Release substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
(b)
Termination for Cause . Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if Employee is terminated for “Cause” as
defined herein or dies at any time, Employee will receive only payment of his Base Salary and benefits through the date of termination or death. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Employee has (i) continually failed to perform his duties under this Agreement for a period of 30
days after written notice

from the Company setting forth with particularity such failure, (ii) committed an act of fraud upon the Company or breached his duty of loyalty to the
Company, (iii) committed a felony or a crime of dishonesty, fraud or moral turpitude under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; (iv)
misappropriated any funds, property or rights of the Company; (v) violated the Company's policies regarding workplace conduct, discrimination, sexual
harassment, etc.; (vi) willfully failed or refused, following receipt of an explicit directive from the Company, to comply with the material terms of this
Agreement; or (vii) failed or refused to cooperate with the Company, or at the Company’s request any governmental, regulatory or self-regulatory agency
or entity, in providing information with respect to any act or omission in performing his duties as an employee of the Company, if such request is made
connection with any criminal or civil actions, administrative or regulatory proceedings or investigations against or relating to the Company by any
governmental, regulatory or self-regulatory agency or entity.
(c)
Termination Because of Disability . Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if Employee is terminated as a
result of a “Disability” (as defined herein) during the Term, Employee will receive only payment of his Salary, benefits, and pro rata performance bonus
pursuant to paragraph 3(b) earned through the date of termination. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean a physical or mental
impairment that prevents or can be reasonably expected to prevent the performance by the Employee of his duties hereunder for a continuous period of
120 calendar days or longer, or that prevents the performance by Employee of his duties hereunder for more than a total of 85 business days, in any 12month period, subject to the reasonable accommodation requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws.
(d)
Employee Resignation . Employee understands that if he resigns during the Term of this Agreement, he shall only receive the Base Salary and
benefits earned as of the date of termination.
(e)
Employee Resignation Following a Change of Control . If a Change of Control, as hereinafter defined, occurs, and Employee is
assigned a different position that is not of comparable pay and responsibilities and/or is in a different geographic area to which he worked immediately
prior to a Change of Control, and Employee resigns within ninety (90) calendar days after the Change in Control, Employee shall receive his Base Salary,
benefits, and pro rata performance bonus pursuant to paragraph 3(b) earned through the date of termination, plus Severance Pay, subject to paragraph 2(f).
For purposes of this Agreement, "Change of Control" means (i) a merger, consolidation, reorganization or other transaction in which the Company does
not survive and in which securities possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the Company's outstanding voting securities are
transferred or issued to a person or persons different from the persons holding those securities immediately prior to such transaction, or (ii) the sale,
transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company's assets.
(f)
Severance Pay Conditions . Employee shall be required to sign, deliver and not revoke a General Release substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A as a condition precedent to payment of any Severance Pay pursuant to any provision of paragraph 2 of this Agreement. Any
Severance Pay shall be paid periodically in accordance with normal Company payroll practices and subject to the usual and applicable required
withholdings and payroll taxes.
3.

Compensation and Fringe Benefits .

(a)
Base Salary . Employee will receive a salary at the annualized rate of $320,000 (Three Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars) (the "Base
Salary"), which shall be paid periodically in accordance with normal Company payroll practices and subject to the usual and applicable required
withholding. Employee understands and agrees that neither his job performance nor promotions, commendations, bonuses or the like from the Company
give rise to or in any way serve as the basis for modification, amendment, or extension, by implication or otherwise, of this Agreement.
(b)
Performance Bonus Plan . Employee will be eligible to participate in a quarterly performance bonus plan (the "Performance Bonus"),
under which Employee may receive, in addition to his Base Salary, a bonus in the amount between zero and $58,000 (Fifty Eight Thousand Dollars) per
calendar quarter, provided, however, if either the first or last quarter of the Term is less than a full quarter, the bonus for such quarter shall be pro rated.
Employee must be employed by the Company through the last day of the quarter in order to receive any Performance Bonus attributable to such quarter,
except as provided under Section 2(e) following a Change of Control.
The following schedule applies for calculating a Performance Bonus.

Criteria

Amount

North America revenue target for the quarter met AND there are no more
than two Significant Customers AND no Significant Customer account for
15% or more of the consolidated North America revenue for the quarter
AND together do not account for more than 25% of North America
revenue.

If actual revenues are
100% or more of the
North America revenue
target, the bonus is
$14,500.

If
North
America
operating income is
North America operating income target for the quarter met per the official 100% or more, the
annual operating budget.
bonus is $14,500.

North America new members target for the quarter met.

If the actual North
America new members
target is met, the bonus
is $14,500.

Discretionary

Up to $14,500

Total max. Performance Bonus per quarter

Up to $58,000

“Significant Customer” means, for any quarter, a customer that, together with its affiliates, accounts for 10% (round to the nearest 1%) or more
of the Company’s North America consolidated revenue for the quarter.
Any bonus payments, if applicable, shall be made 45 days following a fiscal quarter of the Company and will be subject to the usual and
applicable withholding and payroll taxes. The Company reserves the right to amend or discontinue the Performance Bonus at any time The Company
shall notify Employee of any changes to the Performance Bonus in writing. The Company’s Global Chief Executive Officer shall determine, in their sole
discretion, if the criteria are met and whether, if any, Performance Bonus shall be paid.
(c)
Vacation and Holiday Pay . Employee shall receive four (4) weeks of paid vacation per year, which accrues over the course of the year.
In addition, the Company provides ten (10) sick days prorated the first year, eight (8) paid holidays each year, along with two (2) “floating holidays”
which can be used by Employee at any time.
(d)
Relocation Assistance . Employer will pay a one-time lump sum of $10,000 (Ten Thousand Dollars) net of tax for relocation costs which
payment shall be used for the relocation including moving of personal items (“Relocation Payment”). The Relocation Payment will be provided to
Employee within ten (10) business days after the Employee has relocated to New York City. Employer will not pay for any bills, utility charges,
furnishings or decorations. Receipts will not be required. In addition, Employer will pay brokerage fee of up to $15,000 (Fifteen Thousand Dollars) to be
paid directly to brokerage agent for residing within 10 miles from the Company’s New York office (“Brokerage Payment”). Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, the Company will not pay Employee a Relocation Payment or a Brokerage Payment if Employee does not relocate by June 30,
2016.
(e)
Other Benefits . Employee will be entitled to participate in or receive such benefits under the Company's employee benefit plans and
policies and such other benefits which may be made available as in effect from time to time and as are provided to similarly situated employees of the
Company, subject in each case to the generally applicable terms and conditions of the plans and policies in question.
4.
Expenses . The Company will pay or reimburse Employee for reasonable travel, entertainment or other expenses incurred by Employee in the
furtherance of or in connection with the performance of Employee's duties hereunder in accordance with the Company's established policies.
5. Certain Covenants .
(a)

Intellectual Property Rights .

(i)
Employee agrees that the Company will be the sole owner of any and all of Employee's "Discoveries" and "Work Product,"
hereinafter defined, made during the term of their employment with the Company, whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise. For
purposes of this Agreement, "Discoveries" means all inventions, discoveries, improvements, and copyrightable works (including, without
limitation, any information relating to the Company's software products, source code, know-how, processes, designs, algorithms, computer
programs and routines, formulae, techniques, developments or experimental work, work-in-progress, or business trade secrets) made or
conceived or reduced to practice by Employee during the term of their

employment by the Company, whether or not potentially patentable or copyrightable in the United States or elsewhere. For purposes of this
Agreement, "Work Product" means any and all work product relating to Discoveries.
(ii) Employee shall promptly disclose to the Company all Discoveries and Work Product. All such disclosures must include complete
and accurate copies of all source code, object code or machine-readable copies, documentation, work notes, flow-charts, diagrams, test data,
reports, samples, and other tangible evidence or results (collectively, "Tangible Embodiments") of such Discoveries or Work Product. All
Tangible Embodiments of any Discoveries or Work Project will be deemed to have been assigned to the Company as a result of the act of
expressing any Discovery or Work Product therein.
(iii) Employee hereby assigns and agrees to assign to the Company all of their interest in any country in any and all Discoveries and
Work Product, whether such interest arises under patent law, copyright law, trade-secret law, semiconductor chip protection law, or otherwise.
Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, Employee hereby authorizes the Company to make any desired changes to any part of
any Discovery or Work Product, to combine it with other materials in any manner desired, and to withhold Employee's identity in connection
with any distribution or use thereof alone or in combination with other materials. This assignment and assignment obligation applies to all
Discoveries and Work Product arising during Employee's employment with the Company (or its predecessors), whether pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise. Employee's agreement to assign to the Company any of their rights as set forth in this Section 5(a)(iii) applies to all
inventions other than an invention (a) in which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information of the Company was used (b) was
developed entirely upon Employee's own time (c) does not relate to Company business or to the Company's actual or anticipated research or
development and (d) does not result from any work performed by Employee for the Company.
(iv)
At the request of the Company, Employee shall promptly and without additional compensation execute any and all patent
applications, copyright registration applications, waivers of moral rights, assignments, or other instruments that the Company deems necessary
or appropriate to apply for or obtain Letters Patent of the United States or any foreign country, copyright registrations or otherwise to protect the
Company's interest in such Discovery and Work Product, the expenses for which will be borne by the Company. Employee hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as their agents and attorneys-in-fact to, if the Company is
unable for any reason to secure Employee's signature to any lawful and necessary document required or appropriate to apply for or execute any
patent application, copyright registration application, waiver of moral rights, or other similar document with respect to any Discovery and Work
Product (including, without limitation, renewals, extensions, continuations, divisions, or continuations in part), (i) act for and in their behalf, (ii)
execute and file any such document, and (iii) do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution of the same legal force and effect as
if executed by their; this designation and appointment constitutes an irrevocable power of attorney coupled with an interest.
(v) To the extent that any Discovery or Work Product constitutes copyrightable or similar subject matter that is eligible to be treated
as a "work made for hire" or as having similar status in the United States or elsewhere, it will be so deemed. This provision does not alter or limit
Employee's other obligations to assign intellectual property rights under this Agreement.
(vi) The obligations of Employee set forth in this Section 5 (including, without limitation, the assignment obligations) will continue
beyond the termination of Employee's employment with respect to Discoveries and Work Product conceived or made by Employee alone or in
concert with others during Employee's employment with the Company, whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise. Those obligations will
be binding upon Employee, their
assignees permitted under this Agreement, executors, administrators, and other representatives.
(b)

Exposure to Proprietary Information .

(i) As used in this Agreement, "Proprietary Information" means all information of a business or technical nature that relates to the
Company including, without limitation, all information about software products whether currently released or in development, all inventions,
discoveries, improvements, copyrightable work, source code, know-how, processes, designs, algorithms, computer programs and routines,
formulae and techniques, and any information regarding the business of any customer or supplier of the Company or any other

information that the Company is required to keep confidential. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the term "Proprietary Information" does
not include information that is or becomes publicly available through no fault of Employee, or information that Employee learned prior to the
Effective Date.
(ii) In recognition of the special nature of their employment under this Agreement, including their special access to the Proprietary
Information, and in consideration of their employment pursuant to this Agreement, Employee agrees to the covenants and restrictions set forth in
Section 5 of this Agreement.
(c)

Use of Proprietary Information; Restrictive Covenants .

(i)
Employee acknowledges that the Proprietary Information constitutes a protectable business interest of the Company, and
covenants and agrees that during the term of their employment, whether under this Agreement or otherwise, and after the termination of such
employment, Employee will not, directly or indirectly, disclose, furnish, make available or utilize any of the Proprietary Information, other than
in the proper performance of their duties for the Company.
(ii) Employee will not, during the term of this Agreement or, for a period of one year thereafter (the “Restricted Period”), anywhere
within the United States (the "Restricted Territory"), directly or indirectly (whether as an owner, partner, shareholder, agent, officer, director,
employee, independent contractor, consultant, or otherwise):
1.
perform services for, or engage in, any business or segment of a business which generates its revenues primarily
from the development, publishing, or sale of online advertisements for travel or entertainment companies (the “Products”).
Such business shall include, but not be limited to, Priceline, TripAdvisor, Expedia and Secret Escapes;
2.
3.
2. perform services for, or engage in, any business or segment of a business that operates a travel search engine,
publishes hotel deals or generates its revenue primarily from the online sale of vouchers or coupons for local businesses
including but not limited to Gilt City, Groupon, Amazon and LivingSocial;
3. except on behalf of the Company, solicit any person or entity who is, or was at any time during the twelve-month period
immediately prior to the termination of Employee's employment with the Company, a customer of the Company for the sale of
the Products or any product or service of a type then sold by the Company for which Employee provided any assistance in
planning, development, marketing, training, support, or maintenance; or
4. solicit for employment any person who is, or was at any time during the twelve-month period immediately prior to the
termination of Employee's employment with the Company, an employee of the Company.
(d)
Scope/Severability . The Parties acknowledge that the business of the Company is and will be national and international in scope and
thus the covenants in this Section 5 would be particularly ineffective if the covenants were to be limited to a particular geographic area of the United
States. If any court of competent jurisdiction at any time deems the Restricted Period unreasonably lengthy, or the Restricted Territory unreasonably
extensive, or any of the covenants set forth in this Section 5 not fully enforceable, the other provisions of this Section 5, and this Agreement in general,
will nevertheless stand and to the full extent consistent with law continue in full force and effect, and it is the intention and desire of the parties that the
court treat any provisions of this Agreement which are not fully enforceable as having been modified to the extent deemed necessary by the court to
render them reasonable and enforceable and that the court enforce them to such extent (for example, that the Restricted Period be deemed to be the
longest period permissible by law, but not in excess of the length provided for in Section 5(c), and the Restricted Territory be deemed to comprise the
largest territory permissible by law under the circumstances).
(e)
Return of Company Materials upon Termination . Employee acknowledges that all records, documents, and Tangible Embodiments
containing or of Proprietary Information prepared by Employee or coming into their possession by virtue of their employment by the Company are and
will remain the property of the Company. Upon termination of their employment with the Company, Employee shall immediately return to the Company
all such items in their possession and all copies of such items.

6.

Equitable Remedies .

(a) Employee acknowledges and agrees that the agreements and covenants set forth in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) are reasonable and
necessary for the protection of the Company's business interests, that irreparable injury will result to the Company if Employee breaches any of the terms
of said covenants, and that in the event of Employee's actual or threatened breach of any such covenants, the Company will have no adequate remedy at
law. Employee accordingly agrees that, in the event of any actual or threatened breach by Employee of any of said covenants, the Company will be
entitled to immediate injunctive and other equitable relief, without bond and without the necessity of showing actual monetary damages. Nothing in this
Section 6 will be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedies available to it for such breach or threatened breach, including
the recovery of any damages that it is able to prove. Employee agrees that notwithstanding the arbitration provision in Section 11, the Company may
apply to a court of competent jurisdiction, in accordance with Section 11(c) of this Agreement, to obtain the equitable relief referenced in this Section 6.
(b) Each of the covenants in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) will be construed as independent of any other covenants or other provisions of
this Agreement.
(c) In the event of any judicial determination that any of the covenants in Sections 5(a), (b), (c), (d), and (e) are not fully enforceable, it is the
intention and desire of the parties that the court treat said covenants as having been modified to the extent deemed necessary by the court to render them
reasonable and enforceable, and that the court enforce them to such extent.
7.
Assignment . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of Employee upon
Employee's death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company shall be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this
Agreement for all purposes. As used herein, "successor" shall include any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by
purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly, acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of the rights of Employee to
receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a testamentary disposition or by the laws
of descent. Any attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than as aforesaid) of any interest in the rights of Employee to receive any
form of compensation hereunder shall be null and void.
8.
Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications called for hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered
personally, one (1) day after mailing via Federal Express overnight or a similar overnight delivery service, or three (3) days after being mailed by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, prepaid and addressed to the parties or their successors in interest at the addresses listed above, or at such other addresses as
the parties may designate by written notice in the manner aforesaid.
9. Severability . In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void,
this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision.
10.
Entire Agreement . This Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and Employee concerning
Employee's employment relationship with the Company, and supersede in their entirety any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning Employee's
employment relationship with the Company.
11.

Resolution of Disputes Regarding Employment .

(a)
The Parties agree to submit any dispute or controversy arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this Agreement, or the
interpretation, validity, construction, performance, breach, or termination thereof, to mediation. The Parties shall mutually select the mediator and shall
equally pay for the costs of the mediator. The Parties understand and agree that all disputes shall first go to mediation prior to initiating an action in
arbitration.
(b) If and only if a mediation is unsuccessful, and the dispute or controversy is not resolved within 30 days after a mediation, either Party shall
submit the matter to binding arbitration, to the extent permitted by law, to be conducted by a neutral arbitrator. The arbitration shall be held in New York,
NY in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes then in effect of the American Arbitration Association (the
"Rules"). The Rules can be found at www.adr.org , or a printout can be requested at any time from Human Resources. Where the Rules are inconsistent
with this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall govern. The arbitrator may grant injunctions or other

relief in such dispute or controversy. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final, conclusive and binding on the parties to the arbitration. Judgment may
be entered on the arbitrator's decision in any court having jurisdiction.
(c) The neutral arbitrator shall be selected by mutual agreement of the Company and the Employer. If the parties are unable to agree on an
arbitrator, the party requesting arbitration can submit the matter to AAA, and a neutral arbitrator will be selected pursuant to AAA’s processes. The
arbitrator shall apply New York law to the merits of any dispute or claim, without reference to rules of conflict of law. The arbitrator shall render a written
award setting forth the arbitrator’s findings of fact and conclusions of law. Employee hereby expressly consents to the personal jurisdiction of the state
and federal courts located in New York, NY as the exclusive jurisdiction for any action or proceeding arising from or relating to this Agreement and/or
relating to any arbitration in which the Parties are participants. Both Parties understand and agree that this arbitration provision replaces the right of both
Parties to go to court, including the right to have a jury decide a Party’s claims.
(d) The arbitrator, and not any federal, state, or local court or agency, shall have the exclusive authority to resolve any dispute relating to the
interpretation, applicability, enforceability, or formation of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any claim that all or any part of this Agreement
is void or voidable. The Parties agree to submit claims to the arbitrator regarding issues of procedural and substantive arbitrability, the validity, scope, and
enforceability of this Agreement, his or her jurisdiction, as well as any gateway, condition precedents, threshold, or any other challenges to this
Agreement, including claims that this Agreement is unconscionable.
(e) Both Parties understand that nothing in this Section modifies Employee's at-will status. Either the Company or Employee can terminate the
employment relationship at any time, with or without cause, subject only to the restrictions set forth in Section 2 above.
(f)
Employee has read and understands Section 11, which discusses arbitration. Employee understands that by signing this agreement,
Employee agrees to submit any future claims arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this agreement, or the interpretation, validity, construction,
performance, breach, or termination thereof to binding arbitration to the extent permitted by law, and that this arbitration clause constitutes a waiver of
Employee's right to a jury trial and relates to the resolution of all disputes relating to all aspects of the employer/employee relationship, including but not
limited to, the following claims:
(i) Any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment; breach of contract, both express and implied; breach of the covenant of
good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; negligent or intentional
misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage; and defamation;
(ii) Any and all claims for violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, including, but not limited to the New York Human
Rights Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, and
the Fair Labor Standards Act;
(iii)

Any and all claims arising out of any other laws and regulations relating to employment or employment discrimination.

(g)
The Parties may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction (in accordance with Section 11(c)) for a temporary restraining order,
preliminary injunction, or other interim or conservatory relief, as necessary, without breach of this arbitration agreement and without abridgment of the
powers of the arbitrator.
12.
No Oral Modification, Cancellation or Discharge . This Agreement may only be amended, canceled or discharged in writing signed by
Employee and the Company.
13.

Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the State of New York.

14.
Acknowledgment . Employee acknowledges that they have had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from their private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of this Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily entering
into this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.
THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS A BINDING ARBITRATION PROVISION WHICH MAY BE ENFORCED BY BOTH PARTIES.

COMPANY :
TRAVELZOO INC.

By:
Title:
Date:

EMPLOYEE :

Michael Stitt

Date:
[Attach Exhibit A]
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E XHIBIT A
SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and General Release is entered into by and between Michael Stitt (“Employee”) and Travelzoo Inc., (“Employer”)
(collectively referred to herein as “the Parties”).
I. RECITALS
1.1. Employee is employed by Employer in the position of President, North America pursuant to a written employment agreement dated September 30,
2015 (the “Employment Agreement”).
1.2. Pursuant to the provisions of the Employment Agreement, Employee was notified on __________ that employment with Employer will terminate
and that Employee’s services will not be required effective on __________ (“Termination Date”). Employee shall receive his wages and any unused vacation time
through the Termination Date, less deductions required by law, in accordance with Employer’s customary payroll practices.
1.3. In consideration of Employee’s service, to assist in his transition to new employment and for a broad release of all claims against Employer,
Employer is hereby offering Employee severance pay, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.
ACCORDINGLY, in consideration of the terms, conditions and agreements set forth below, Employer and Employee agree as follows:
II. AGREEMENTS
2.1. Severance Payment . Subject to Employee’s execution and fulfillment of Employee’s obligations, promises and covenants contained in this Agreement (as
well as the Employment Agreement as referenced herein), Employer will pay Employee an additional six (6) months’ salary, less applicable taxes and withholdings
(“Severance Payment”) to be paid following the end of the Revocation Period set forth in Section 2.18 of this Agreement, in accordance with Employer’s
customary payroll practices. Employee acknowledges that such payment is more than Employer is required to pay under its normal policies and procedures and its
contractual arrangements with Employee.
2.2 Benefits . Employer will pay the Employer portion of Employee’s group health insurance through __________. Employer will not contest
Employee’s eligibility for unemployment benefits after the Termination Date.
2.3 Non‑Disparagement . Employee agrees that he will not directly or indirectly, publish or disseminate to the media or any individual or entity
information that is critical, derogatory or otherwise intended to disparage Employer or Employer’s business, senior executives or officers, whether such
information is acquired during or after his employment with Employer. In addition, Employee agrees that he will not make any remarks which may damage or
discredit the reputation of Employer’s products, or otherwise adversely affect the goodwill of its business, or be harmful to its business relationships.
Employer agrees that in response to all employment reference checks concerning Employee, Employer will confirm the dates of employment, title, and rate of pay
of Employee and provide no additional information with regard to employee references, in accordance with Employer’s policy.
2.4 General Release . To the broadest extent permissible under applicable law, Employee, on behalf of himself, his heirs, spouse, dependents, estate,
executors, administrators, successors and assigns, unconditionally and absolutely releases and forever discharges the Employer, its parent, subsidiaries and
affiliates, and each of their respective past, present and future shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, insurers, attorneys and any affiliated or related
entities, and their respective successors and assigns (“Released Parties”), from all claims, demands, disputes, charges, actions, rights, damages, costs, losses,
liabilities, expenses, suits of any type (whether in law or equity), compensation and/or other legal responsibilities, known or unknown, of any kind, which
Employee may have prior to the date of Employee’s execution of this Agreement or which are in any way based on, arise from, are in connection with, or pertain to
Employee’s employment with Employer or the termination of that employment. The release of claims under this Section is intended to be as broad as the law
allows. The rights and claims released by this Agreement include, but are not limited to, all claims of whatever kind or nature that may exist relating to, arising

out of or in connection with Employee’s employment or the termination of such employment (including, but not limited to any of Employer’s actions which led to
his termination), whether such claims are presently known or are hereafter discovered or whether they are foreseen or unforeseen as of the date hereof. This release
applies, without limitation, to all such claims arising under any federal, state, common law or local law, including but not limited to any and all claims for
employment discrimination, harassment or retaliation under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (including the Older Worker Benefit Protection Act), Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act,
the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the New York Human Rights Law,
the New York City Human Rights Laws, the New York Aids Testing Confidentiality Act, the New York Equal Pay Law, the New York Persons With Disabilities
Law, Civil Rights Law, the New York Genetic Testing Confidentiality Law, the New York Nondiscrimination Against Genetic Disorders Law, the New York
Smokers Rights Law, the New York Equal Rights Law, the New York Discrimination by Employment Agencies Law, the New York Bone Marrow Leave Law, the
New York Adoptive Parents Child Care Leave Law, the New York Cancer Victim Bias Law, Article 1, Section 11 of the New York State Constitution; N.Y.
Workers’ Compensation Law, or any other applicable state, federal or local statute or regulation. Employee further agrees and acknowledges that the claims
released by Employee include, but are not limited to, any claim, however styled, for stock options, any type of compensation, wages, bonuses, commissions,
expenses, benefits, penalties, damages of any kind, interests, attorneys’ fees or costs. Employee also intends by this Release to give up any rights under the
common law, or any and all claims arising under tort or contract law, including, but not limited to, any claim for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional
distress, physical injury, fraud, defamation, slander, libel, invasion of privacy, wrongful discharge, retaliation, wrongful termination, violation of any public policy
or statute, tortious interference with a contract or prospective business advantage, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, promissory estoppel,
detrimental reliance, breach of any implied or express contract, whether written or oral, between Employer and Employee or any policy of the Employer and any
remedy for any such claim or breach. Employee certifies that as of the date of this Release, he has reported all accidents, injuries or illnesses relating to or arising
from his employment with the Employer.
2.5 Unknown Claims . Employee understands that the release set forth in Section 2.4 above includes claims which Employee knows about and claims
Employee may not know about. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement extends to all claims of every nature and kind whatsoever, known or
unknown, suspected or unsuspected, past or present, and all rights under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code are hereby expressly waived. Employee
expressly waives any rights under California Civil Code section 1542 which provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in hIS favor at the time of executing the release
which if known by him must have materially affected hIS settlement with the debtor.
For purposes of Section 1542, “creditor” refers to Employee and “debtor” refers to the Released Parties.
2.6 Claims Not Affected by Release . This Release does not affect Employee’s right to apply for continuation or conversion of insurance coverage to
the extent that the Employer’s insurance plans or applicable law provide for such continuation or conversion, or to any claim for disability or unemployment
compensation to which Employee is entitled by law. This Release does not prohibit the filing of a charge with or participating in an investigation by the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or any other federal, state or local government agency, but does prohibit any award of damages to Employee or
any other financial recovery by Employee. This Release also does not apply to those claims that may not be legally waived or released under applicable federal,
state or local law.
2.7 Agreement Not To Sue and Warranty . Employee promises that he has not and will not file any suit, charge, complaint, grievance, action or other
proceeding with any federal, state or local agency, court, organization, arbitrator, judicial forum or other tribunal asserting any claim that is released in Section 2.4
above, and warrants that he has not assigned to any other person or entity the right to file any claims that are released in Section 2.4 above, nor will he permit any
person, group of persons, or organization to take such action on his behalf.
2.8 Non‑Admissions . It is understood that by offering or entering into this Agreement, neither Employee nor Employer has admitted any liability or
wrongdoing whatsoever. No final findings or final judgments have been made and Employee does not purport and will not claim to be prevailing party, to any
degree or extent, nor will this Agreement or its terms be admissible in any proceeding other than a proceeding for breach of the terms contained herein.
2.9
Return of Property . During employment, Employee acknowledges that he was entrusted with access to confidential Company information
concerning such things as the identities, needs and preferences of customers and prospects, financial reports, business plans, sales and marketing strategies, product
designs and specifications, personnel files, and other proprietary information belonging to the Company. Employee promises to keep all such information
confidential and not to use

or disclose it for any purpose after termination. Employee also agrees to return all of Employer’s property, including all work in progress, files, photographs, notes,
records, credit cards, keys, access cards, computer, and other company or customer documents, products or property which he has received in the course of his
employment, or which reflect in any way any confidential or proprietary information of Employer. For the avoidance of doubt, Employee agrees to return all of
Employer’s confidential and/or proprietary and trade secret information, including but not limited to, company manuals, handbooks, customer lists, training
manuals, checklists, programs and any other materials accessed through the Employer’s network.
2.10 Prior Agreements . Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve Employee of any of Employee’s obligations and covenants as set forth in
Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement.
2.11
Confidentiality of Severance Offer and Benefits . Except to the extent required by law (e.g., to submit a tax return or compliance with a lawful
subpoena), Employee warrants that he has not disclosed, and promises that he will not disclose, the offer or payment of severance benefits for any reason to any
person other than members of her immediate family and professional representatives, who shall be informed of and bound by the same promise of confidentiality.
2.12 Consequences of Violation of Agreement . If either party violates her or its promises in this Agreement, the other party shall be entitled to recover,
in addition to any other damages or remedies, such party’s attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against the claim or enforcing the terms of this Agreement. In
addition, if Employee breaches his promises in this Agreement or his obligations and covenants set forth in Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement,
Employer shall have the right to cease paying the Severance Payment under this Agreement and to recover any portion of the Severance Payment previously paid
to Employee.
2.13
Reemployment or Reinstatement : Employee hereby waives any right to and agrees not to apply or reapply for employment and agrees that
Employer has no obligation, contractual or otherwise, to rehire, reemploy or recall him in the future. The existence of this Agreement shall be a valid, nondiscriminatory basis for rejecting any such application or, in the event Employee obtains such employment, to terminate such employment.
2.14
Entire Agreement . This Agreement sets forth all agreements and understandings between Employee and Employer and supersedes any prior
agreements, understandings or promises between them, except for Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement. Employee acknowledges that he has not
relied on any inducements that are not set forth herein.
2.15
Governing Law/Arbitration . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. Any
dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be resolved pursuant to the Resolution of Disputes Regarding Employment in Section 11 of the
Employment Agreement.
2.16 Severability . If any term, provision, or portion of this Agreement is held unenforceable by any tribunal, it shall be deemed automatically adjusted
to the extent necessary to conform to the requirements for validity as declared at such time and, as adjusted, shall be deemed a provision of this Agreement as if
originally included herein. In the event that an invalidated provision is of such a nature that it cannot be so adjusted, the provision shall be deemed deleted from
this Agreement as if it had never been included herein. In either case, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
2.17
Consultation with Attorney . Employee is aware of and acknowledges that he has the right, at Employee’s expense, to consult with an attorney
before signing this Agreement, has been advised in writing to do so, and has done so to the extent desired. Employee acknowledges, that he has had a reasonable
period of time in which to consider the terms of this Agreement, and he has specifically consulted (or has the opportunity to consult) his attorneys regarding this
Release and all of its terms. Employee specifically acknowledges that he was counseled by a representative of Employer to seek the advice of counsel concerning
this Agreement and its meaning and effect.
2.18 Time for Consideration and Employee’s Right to Revoke Agreement . Employee acknowledges that he has been given a period of twenty-one (21)
days to consider whether to sign this Agreement, and that he can use as much or as little of this period as he chooses. In the event Employee elects to execute this
Agreement before the end of the twenty-one (21) day review period provided to Employee and thereby waive the remainder of the twenty-one (21) day review
period, Employee does so knowingly and voluntarily, and Employee acknowledges and represents that the Company has not in any way coerced Employee to do so
or otherwise threatened to withdraw or alter the Company’s offer of severance pay set forth in this Agreement before the expiration of such twenty-one (21) day
period.
In addition, after Employee signs the Agreement there is a seven (7) day revocation period. The Parties acknowledge and understand that this Agreement shall not
take effect until seven (7) days after the signing of the Agreement, during which time the Employee may revoke the Agreement by delivering a written notice
specifically stating Employee’s desire to revoke the Agreement to the

Company c/o Human Resources Department, 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, New York 10022. Notice must be received by the Company no later
than midnight (Eastern Time) on the seventh day following signature of Employee of this Agreement. Employee further acknowledges that he has carefully read
and fully understands all of the provisions of this Agreement and is freely elected to sign this Agreement on the date set forth below. The signed Agreement must
be delivered to Travelzoo Inc., Attention:________, Human Resources Department. If Employee fails to sign and return this Agreement within the time allowed, it
shall not be effective or enforceable and Employee will not receive the Severance Payment described in Section 2.1. Employee hereby acknowledges that his
execution of this Agreement and release is made knowingly and that he has been advised of and afforded the proper time for consideration of this Agreement and
Release.
2.19
Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original copy of this Agreement and all of
which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS HAD AN ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OF ITS
TERMS AND IS ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY ON THE DATE SHOWN BELOW HIS NAME. HE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS
AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS ALL OF ITS TERMS INCLUDING THE FULL AND FINAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS SET FORTH ABOVE.
HE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS VOLUNTARILY ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THAT HIS AGREEMENT IS NOT
THE RESULT OF ANY FRAUD, DURESS, COERCION, PRESSURE OR UNDUE INFLUENCE EXERCISED BY OR ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYER,
THAT HE HAS NOT RELIED UPON ANY REPRESENTATION OR STATEMENT, WRITTEN OR ORAL, NOT SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT HE HAS HAD THIS AGREEMENT REVIEWED BY HIS ATTORNEY AND TAX ADVISOR, OR HAS BEEN GIVEN
THE OPPORTUNITY BY EMPLOYER TO DO SO.

TRAVELZOO INC.

Print Name:________________________
Title: ________________________
Employee
Date Signed

Date Signed

Exhibit 10.25

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and General Release is entered into by and between Simon Talling-Smith (“Employee”) and Travelzoo Inc., (“Employer”)
(collectively referred to herein as “the Parties”).
I.RECITALS
1.1. Employee was employed by Employer in the position of President, Products and Emerging Businesses pursuant to a written employment agreement
dated April 12, 2013 (the “Employment Agreement”).
1.2. Pursuant to the provisions of the Employment Agreement, Employee was notified on December 12, 2015 that employment with Employer would
terminate and that Employee’s services would not be required effective December 14, 2015. Employee has been paid in full Employee’s wages and any unused
vacation time through December 14, 2015 (the “Termination Date”) less deductions required by law.
1.3. In consideration of Employee’s service, to assist in his transition to new employment and for a broad release of all claims against Employer,
Employer offered Employee severance pay, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.
ACCORDINGLY, in consideration of the terms, conditions and agreements set forth below, Employer and Employee agree as follows:
II. AGREEMENTS
2.1. Severance Payment . Subject to Employee’s execution of this Agreement and fulfillment of Employee’s obligations, promises and covenants contained in
this Agreement (as well as the Employment Agreement referenced herein), Employer will pay Employee his salary for a period of six (6) months, less applicable
taxes and withholdings, in a one-time, lump-sum payment amount (“Severance Payment”) on the next proceeding payroll date following the Revocation Period and
as set forth in Section 2(e) of the Employment Agreement. Employee acknowledges that such payment is more than Employer is required to pay under its normal
policies and procedures and its contractual arrangements with Employee.
2.2 Benefits . Employer will pay the Employer portion of Employee’s group health insurance through December 31, 2015. Employer will not contest
Employee’s eligibility for unemployment benefits after the Termination Date.
2.3 Non‑Disparagement . Employee agrees that he will not directly or indirectly, publish or disseminate to the media or any individual or entity
information that is critical, derogatory or otherwise intended to disparage Employer or Employer’s business, senior executives or officers, whether such
information is acquired during or after his employment with Employer. In addition, Employee agrees that he will not make any remarks which may damage or
discredit the reputation of Employer’s products, or otherwise adversely affect the goodwill of its business, or be harmful to its business relationships.
Employer agrees that in response to all employment reference checks concerning Employee, Employer will confirm the dates of employment, title, and rate of pay
of Employee and provide no additional information with regard to employee references, in accordance with Employer's policy.
2.4 General Release . In consideration for the payments and benefits the Employee receives under this Agreement, and subject only to Section 2.6,
Employee, on behalf of himself, his heirs, spouse, dependents, estate, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, unconditionally, irrevocably and absolutely
releases and forever discharges Employer, its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and each of its respective past, present and future shareholders, officers, directors,
employees, agents, insurers, attorneys and parent, affiliated or related entities, and their respective successors and assigns (“Released Parties”), from all claims,
demands, disputes, charges, actions, rights, damages, costs, losses, liabilities, expenses, suits of any type (whether in law or equity), compensation and other legal
responsibilities, known or unknown, of any kind, which Employee may now have or have had against any of the Released Parties. The release of claims under this
Section is

intended to be as broad as the law allows. The rights and claims released by this Agreement include, but are not limited to, all claims of whatever kind or nature
that may exist relating to, arising out of or in connection with Employee’s employment or the termination of such employment (including, but not limited to any of
Employer’s actions which lead to his termination), whether such claims are presently known or are hereafter discovered or whether they are foreseen or unforeseen
as of the date hereof. This release applies, without limitation, to all such claims arising under any federal, state, common law or local law, including but not limited
to any and all claims for employment discrimination, harassment or retaliation under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Civil Rights Act of
1991, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act, the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; the Older Worker’s Benefit Protection Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the California Fair Employment & Housing Act, the California Family Leave Act, the California Labor Code or any other
state, federal or local statute or regulation applicable to Employer, including any claim for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, physical injury,
violation of any public policy, breach of any implied or express contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith or fair dealing, privacy violations,
defamation, any claim for stock options or any other type of compensation, benefits or expenses, any claim for wrongful termination, fraud, intentional or negligent
misrepresentation, and all other legal and equitable causes of action whatsoever and all remedies for such claims. Employee certifies that as of the date of this
Release, he has reported all accidents, injuries or illnesses relating to or arising from his employment with the Employer.
2.5 Unknown Claims . Employee understands that the release set forth in Section 2.4 above includes claims which Employee knows about and claims
Employee may not know about. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement extends to all claims of every nature and kind whatsoever, known or
unknown, suspected or unsuspected, past or present, and all rights under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code are hereby expressly waived. Employee
expressly waives any rights under California Civil Code section 1542 which provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in HIS OR her favor at the time of executing the
release which if known by HIM OR her must have materially affected hIS settlement with the debtor.
For purposes of Section 1542, “creditor” refers to Employee and “debtor” refers to the Released Parties.
2.6 Claims Not Affected by Release . This Release does not affect Employee’s right to apply for continuation or conversion of insurance coverage to
the extent that the Employer’s insurance plans or applicable law provide for such continuation or conversion, or to any claim for disability or unemployment
compensation to which Employee is entitled by law. This Release does not prohibit the filing of a charge with or participating in an investigation by the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or any other federal, state or local government agency, but does prohibit any award of damages to Employee or
financial recovery by Employee.
2.7 Agreement Not To Sue and Warranty . Employee promises that he has not and will not file any suit, charge, complaint, grievance, action or other
proceeding with any federal, state or local agency, court, organization, judicial forum or other tribunal asserting any claim that is released in Section 2.4 above, and
warrants that he has not assigned to any other person or entity the right to file any claims that are released in Section 2.4 above, nor will he permit any person,
group of persons, or organization to take such action on his behalf.
2.8 Non‑Admissions . It is understood that by offering or entering into this Agreement, neither Employee nor Employer has admitted any liability or
wrongdoing whatsoever. No final findings or final judgments have been made and Employee does not purport and will not claim to be prevailing party, to any
degree or extent, nor will this Agreement or its terms be admissible in any proceeding other than a proceeding for breach of the terms contained herein.
2.9 Return of Property . During employment, Employee acknowledges that he was entrusted with access to confidential Company information
concerning such things as the identities, needs and preferences of customers and prospects, financial reports, business plans, sales and marketing strategies, product
designs and specifications, personnel files, and other proprietary information belonging to the Company. Employee promises to keep all such information
confidential and not to use or disclose it for any purpose after termination. Employee also agrees to return all of Employer’s property, including all work in
progress, files, photographs, notes, records, credit cards, keys, access cards, computer, and other company or customer documents, products or property which he
has received in the course of his employment, or which reflect in any way any confidential or proprietary information of Employer. For the avoidance of doubt,
Employee agrees to return all of Employer’s confidential and/or proprietary and trade secret information, including but not limited to, company manuals,
handbooks, customer lists, training manuals, checklists, programs and any other materials accessed through the Employer’s network.

2.10 Prior Agreements . Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve Employee of any of Employee’s obligations and covenants as set forth in
Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement, which shall be complied with to the fullest extent permitted by law.
2.11 Confidentiality of Severance Offer and Benefits . Except to the extent required by law (e.g., to submit a tax return or compliance with a lawful
subpoena), Employee warrants that he has not disclosed, and promises that he will not disclose, the offer or payment of severance benefits for any reason to any
person other than members of his immediate family and professional representatives, who shall be informed of and bound by the same promise of confidentiality.
2.12 Consequences of Violation of Agreement . If either party violates his or its promises in this Agreement, the other party shall be entitled to recover,
in addition to any other damages or remedies, such party’s attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against the claim or enforcing the terms of this Agreement. In
addition, if Employee breaches his promises in this Agreement or his obligations and covenants set forth in Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement,
Employer shall have the right to cease paying the Severance Payment under this Agreement and to recover any portion of the Severance Payment previously paid
to Employee.
2.13 Reemployment or Reinstatement : Employee hereby waives any right to and agrees not to apply or reapply for employment and agrees that
Employer has no obligation, contractual or otherwise, to rehire, reemploy or recall him in the future. The existence of this Agreement shall be a valid, nondiscriminatory basis for rejecting any such application or, in the event Employee obtains such employment, to terminate such employment.
2.14 Entire Agreement . This Agreement sets forth all agreements and understandings between Employee and Employer and supersedes any prior
agreements, understandings or promises between them, except for Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement. Employee acknowledges that he has not
relied on any inducements that are not set forth herein.
2.15 Governing Law/Arbitration . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. The
parties hereto agree to submit any disputes hereunder to mediation in accordance with Section 11(a) of the Employment Agreement before any action is filed in
any arbitration or court. The parties hereto agree to submit any disputes hereunder to arbitration in accordance with Section 11(a) of the Employment Agreement. If
such arbitration clause is found to be limited or unenforceable to any extent, the Court and any arbitrator shall enforce such clause to the full extent permitted by
applicable law and it shall not be invalidated.
2.16 Severability . If any term, provision, or portion of this Agreement is held unenforceable by any tribunal, it shall be deemed automatically adjusted
to the extent necessary to conform to the requirements for validity as declared at such time and, as adjusted, shall be deemed a provision of this Agreement as if
originally included herein. In the event that an invalidated provision is of such a nature that it cannot be so adjusted, the provision shall be deemed deleted from
this Agreement as if it had never been included herein. In either case, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
2.17 Consultation with Attorney . Employee is aware of and acknowledges that he has the right, at Employee’s expense, to consult with an attorney
before signing this Agreement, has been advised in writing to do so, and has done so to the extent desired. Employee acknowledges , that he has had a reasonable
period of time in which to consider the terms of this Agreement, and he has specifically consulted (or has the opportunity to consult) his attorneys regarding this
Release and all of its terms. Employee specifically acknowledges that he was counseled by a representative of Employer to seek the advice of counsel concerning
this Agreement and its meaning and effect.
2.18 Time for Consideration and Employee’s Right to Review Agreement . Employee acknowledges that he has been given a period of sixty (60) days
to consider whether to sign this Agreement, and that he can use as much or as little of this period as he chooses. In the event Employee elects to execute this
Agreement before the end of the sixty (60) day review period provided to Employee and thereby waive the remainder of the sixty (60) day review period,
Employee does so knowingly and voluntarily, and Employee acknowledges and represents that the Company has not in any way coerced Employee to do so or
otherwise threatened to withdraw or alter the Company’s offer of severance pay set forth in this Agreement before the expiration of such twenty-one (21) day
period.
In addition, after Employee signs the Agreement there is a seven (7) day revocation period. The Parties acknowledge and understand that this Agreement shall not
take effect until seven (7) days after the signing of the Agreement, during which time the Employee may revoke the Agreement by delivering a written notice
specifically stating Employee’s desire to revoke the Agreement to the Company c/o Rachel Barnett, 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, New York
10022. Notice must be received by the Company no later than midnight (Eastern Time) on the seventh day following signature of Employee of this Agreement.
Employee further acknowledges that he has carefully read and fully understands all of the provisions of this

Agreement and is freely elected to sign this Agreement on the date set forth below. The signed Agreement must be delivered to Travelzoo Inc., Attention: Kaity
Benedicto by fax at (212) 484-4944 or by email at kbenedicto@travelzoo.com. If Employee fails to sign and return this Agreement within the time allowed, it shall
not be effective or enforceable and Employee will not receive the Severance Payment described in Section 2.1. Employee hereby acknowledges that his execution
of this Agreement and release is made knowingly and that he has been advised of and afforded the proper time for consideration of this Agreement and Release.
2.19 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original copy of this Agreement and all of
which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS HAD AN ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OF ITS
TERMS AND IS ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY ON THE DATE SHOWN BELOW HIS NAME. HE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS
AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS ALL OF ITS TERMS INCLUDING THE FULL AND FINAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS SET FORTH ABOVE.
HE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS VOLUNTARILY ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THAT HIS AGREEMENT IS NOT
THE RESULT OF ANY FRAUD, DURESS, COERCION, PRESSURE OR UNDUE INFLUENCE EXERCISED BY OR ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYER,
THAT HE HAS NOT RELIED UPON ANY REPRESENTATION OR STATEMENT, WRITTEN OR ORAL, NOT SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT HE HAS HAD THIS AGREEMENT REVIEWED BY HIS ATTORNEY AND TAX ADVISOR, OR HAS BEEN GIVEN
THE OPPORTUNITY BY EMPLOYER TO DO SO.

TRAVELZOO INC.

Print Name:________________________
Title: ________________________
Simon Talling-Smith
Date Signed

Date Signed

Exhibit 10.26

SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation Agreement and General Release is entered into by and between Christopher Loughlin (“Employee”) and Travelzoo Inc., (“Employer”)
(collectively referred to herein as “the Parties”).
I. RECITALS
1.1. Employee is employed by Employer in the position of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to a written employment agreement dated November 18,
2009, with subsequent amendments thereafter, (the “Employment Agreement”).
1.2. Pursuant to the provisions of the Employment Agreement, Employee and Employer agreed on September 16, 2015 that employment with Employer
will terminate and that Employee’s services will not be required effective on December 31, 2015 (“Termination Date”). Employee shall receive his wages and any
unused vacation time through the Termination Date, less deductions required by law, in accordance with Employer’s customary payroll practices; provided that
Employee continues to be employed until the Termination Date.
1.3. In consideration of Employee’s service, and for a broad release of all claims against Employer, Employer is hereby offering Employee severance
pay, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below.
ACCORDINGLY, in consideration of the terms, conditions and agreements set forth below, Employer and Employee agree as follows:
II. AGREEMENTS
2.1. Severance Payment . Subject to Employee’s execution of this Agreement and fulfillment of Employee’s obligations, promises and covenants contained in
this Agreement (as well as the Employment Agreement as referenced herein), Employer will pay Employee continued payment of salary for a period of twelve (12)
months, which equals a total gross amount of six-hundred thousand dollars ($600,000), less applicable taxes and withholdings (“Severance Payment”), to be paid
following the Termination Date, in accordance with Employer’s customary payroll practices. Employee acknowledges that such payment is more than Employer is
required to pay under its normal policies and procedures and its contractual arrangements with Employee and that Employer has agreed to this Severance Payment
in consideration for the full and broad release of all claims as set forth below.
2.2 Benefits . Employer will pay the Employer portion of Employee’s group health insurance through the Termination Date and COBRA payments for
a period of twelve (12) months following the Termination Date. Employer will not contest Employee’s eligibility for unemployment benefits after the Termination
Date.

2.3 Non‑Disparagement . Employee and Employer agree not to directly or indirectly, publish or disseminate to the media or any individual or entity
information that is critical, derogatory or otherwise intended to disparage the other or the other’s business, senior executives or officers, whether such information
is acquired during or after his employment with Employer. In addition, Employee and Employer agree not to make any remarks which may damage or discredit the
reputation of the other, including Employer’s products, or otherwise adversely affect the goodwill of its business, or be harmful to its business relationships.
2.4 General Release . To the broadest extent permissible under applicable law, Employee, on behalf of himself, his heirs, spouse, dependents, estate,
executors, administrators, successors and assigns, unconditionally and absolutely releases and forever discharges the Employer, its parent, subsidiaries and
affiliates, and each of their respective past, present and future shareholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, insurers, attorneys and any affiliated or related
entities, and their respective

successors and assigns (“Released Parties”), from all claims, demands, disputes, charges, actions, rights, damages, costs, losses, liabilities, expenses, compensation
and/or other legal responsibilities, known or unknown, of any kind, which Employee may own or hold against any of the Released Parties at any time through the
effective date of this Agreement and/or or which are in any way based on, arise from, are in connection with, or pertain to Employee’s employment with Employer
or the termination of that employment. The release of claims under this Section is intended to be as broad as the law allows. The rights and claims released by this
Agreement include, but are not limited to, all claims of whatever kind or nature that may exist relating to, arising out of or in connection with Employee’s
employment or the termination of such employment (including, but not limited to any of Employer’s actions which led to his termination), whether such claims are
presently known or are hereafter discovered or whether they are foreseen or unforeseen as of the date hereof. This release applies, without limitation, to all such
claims arising under any federal, state, common law or local law, including but not limited to any and all claims for employment discrimination, harassment or
retaliation under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (including the Older Worker Benefit Protection
Act), the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Workers Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act; the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the New York Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights
Laws, the New York Aids Testing Confidentiality Act, the New York Equal Pay Law, the New York Persons With Disabilities Law, Civil Rights Law, the New
York Genetic Testing Confidentiality Law, the New York Nondiscrimination Against Genetic Disorders Law, the New York Smokers Rights Law, the New York
Equal Rights Law, the New York Discrimination by Employment Agencies Law, the New York Bone Marrow Leave Law, the New York Adoptive Parents Child
Care Leave Law, the New York Cancer Victim Bias Law, Article 1, Section 11 of the New York State Constitution; N.Y. Workers’ Compensation Law, or any
other applicable state, federal or local statute or regulation. Employee further agrees and acknowledges that the claims released by Employee include, but are not
limited to, any claim, however styled, for stock options or any type of equity grant, any type of compensation, wages, bonuses, commissions, expenses, benefits,
penalties, damages of any kind, interests, attorneys’ fees or costs. Employee also intends by this Release to give up any rights under the common law, or any and
all claims arising under tort or contract law, including, but not limited to, any claim for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, physical injury,
fraud, intentional or negligent misrepresentation, defamation, slander, libel, invasion of privacy, wrongful discharge, retaliation, wrongful termination, violation of
any public policy or statute, tortious interference with a contract or prospective business advantage, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, promissory
estoppel, detrimental reliance, any claim for stock options, breach of any implied or express contract, whether written or oral, between Employer and Employee or
any policy of the Employer, and all other legal and equitable causes of action whatsoever and all remedies of such claims. Employee certifies that as of the date of
this Release, he has reported all accidents, injuries or illnesses relating to or arising from his employment with the Employer.
2.5 Unknown Claims . Employee understands that the release set forth in Section 2.4 above includes claims which Employee knows about and claims
Employee may not know about. Employee understands and agrees that this Agreement extends to all claims of every nature and kind whatsoever, known or
unknown, suspected or unsuspected, past or present, and all rights under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code are hereby expressly waived. Employee
expressly waives any rights under California Civil Code section 1542 which provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in hIS favor at the time of executing the release
which if known by him must have materially affected hIS settlement with the debtor.
For purposes of Section 1542, “creditor” refers to Employee and “debtor” refers to the Released Parties.
2.6 Claims Not Affected by Release . This Release does not affect Employee’s right to apply for continuation or conversion of insurance coverage to
the extent that the Employer’s insurance plans or applicable law provide for such continuation or conversion, or to any claim for disability or unemployment
compensation to which Employee is entitled by law.
2.7 Agreement Not To Sue and Warranty . Employee promises that he has not and will not file any suit, charge, complaint, grievance, action or other
proceeding with any federal, state or local agency, court, organization, arbitrator, judicial forum or other tribunal asserting any claim that is released in Section 2.4
above, and warrants that he has not assigned to any other person or entity the right to file any claims that are released in Section 2.4 above, nor will he permit any
person, group of persons, or organization to take such action on his behalf.
2.8 Non‑Admissions . It is understood that by offering or entering into this Agreement, neither Employee nor Employer has admitted any liability or
wrongdoing whatsoever. No final findings or final judgments have been made and Employee does not purport and will not claim to be prevailing party, to any
degree or extent, nor will this Agreement or its terms be admissible in any proceeding other than a proceeding for breach of the terms contained herein.

2.9
Return of Property . During employment, Employee acknowledges that he was entrusted with access to confidential Company information
concerning such things as the identities, needs and preferences of customers and prospects, financial reports, business plans, sales and marketing strategies, product
designs and specifications, personnel files, and other proprietary information belonging to the Company. Employee promises to keep all such information
confidential and not to use or disclose it for any purpose after termination. Employee also agrees to return all of Employer’s property, including all work in
progress, files, photographs, notes, records, credit cards, keys, access cards, computer, and other company or customer documents, products or property which he
has received in the course of his employment, or which reflect in any way any confidential or proprietary information of Employer. For the avoidance of doubt,
Employee agrees to return all of Employer’s confidential and/or proprietary and trade secret information, including but not limited to, company manuals,
handbooks, customer lists, training manuals, checklists, programs and any other materials accessed through the Employer’s network.
2.10 Prior Agreements . Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve Employee of any of Employee’s obligations and covenants as set forth in
Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Employee agrees to abide by the restrictive covenants, including, but not limited
to, the covenant not to compete or solicit, as set forth in his Employment Agreement and Employee understands that, after the Termination Date, Employee
remains bound to comply with the terms and conditions of Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement.
2.11
Confidentiality of Severance Offer and Benefits . Except to the extent required by law (e.g., to submit a tax return or compliance with a lawful
subpoena), Employee warrants that he has not disclosed, and promises that he will not disclose, the offer or payment of severance benefits for any reason to any
person other than members of his immediate family and professional representatives, who shall be informed of and bound by the same promise of confidentiality.
2.12 Consequences of Violation of Agreement . If either party materially breaches his or its promises in this Agreement, the other party shall be entitled
to recover, in addition to any other damages or remedies, such party’s attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against the claim or enforcing the terms of this
Agreement. In addition, if Employee breaches his promises in this Agreement or his obligations and covenants set forth in Sections 5, 6 and/or 11 of the
Employment Agreement, Employer shall have the right to cease paying the Severance Payment under this Agreement, to recover any portion of the Severance
Payment previously paid to Employee, and to seek any and all additional relief or remedies in law or equity.
2.13
Reemployment or Reinstatement : Employee hereby waives any right to and agrees not to apply or reapply for employment and agrees that
Employer has no obligation, contractual or otherwise, to rehire, reemploy or recall him in the future. The existence of this Agreement shall be a valid, nondiscriminatory basis for rejecting any such application or, in the event Employee obtains such employment, to terminate such employment.
2.14
Entire Agreement . This Agreement sets forth all agreements and understandings between Employee and Employer and supersedes any prior
agreements, understandings or promises between them, except for Sections 5, 6 and 11 of the Employment Agreement. Employee acknowledges that he has not
relied on any inducements that are not set forth herein.
2.15
Governing Law/ Arbitration. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. Any
dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be resolved pursuant to the Resolution of Disputes Regarding Employment in Section 11 of the
Employment Agreement.
2.16 Severability . If any term, provision, or portion of this Agreement is held unenforceable by any tribunal, it shall be deemed automatically adjusted
to the extent necessary to conform to the requirements for validity as declared at such time and, as adjusted, shall be deemed a provision of this Agreement as if
originally included herein. In the event that an invalidated provision is of such a nature that it cannot be so adjusted, the provision shall be deemed deleted from
this Agreement as if it had never been included herein. In either case, the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
2.17
Consultation with Attorney . Employee is aware of and acknowledges that he has the right, at Employee’s expense, to consult with an attorney
before signing this Agreement, has been advised in writing to do so, and has done so to the extent desired. Employee acknowledges, that he has had a reasonable
period of time in which to consider the terms of this Agreement, and he has specifically consulted (or has the opportunity to consult) his attorneys regarding this
Agreement and all of its terms. Employee specifically acknowledges that he was counseled by a representative of Employer to seek the advice of counsel
concerning this Agreement and its meaning and effect.
2.18 Time for Consideration and Employee’s Right to Revoke Agreement . Employee acknowledges that he has been given a period of twenty-one (21)
days to consider whether to sign this Agreement, and that he can use as much or as little of this period as he chooses. In the event Employee elects to execute this
Agreement before the end of the twenty-one (21) day review period provided to Employee and thereby waive the remainder of the twenty-one (21) day review
period, Employee does so

knowingly and voluntarily, and Employee acknowledges and represents that the Company has not in any way coerced Employee to do so or otherwise threatened
to withdraw or alter the Company’s offer of severance pay set forth in this Agreement before the expiration of such twenty-one (21) day period.
In addition, after Employee signs the Agreement there is a seven (7) day revocation period. The Parties acknowledge and understand that this Agreement shall not
take effect until seven (7) days after the signing of the Agreement, during which time the Employee may revoke the Agreement by delivering a written notice
specifically stating Employee’s desire to revoke the Agreement to the Company c/o Legal Department, 590 Madison Avenue, 37 th Floor, New York, New York
10022. Notice must be received by the Company no later than midnight (Eastern Time) on the seventh day following signature of Employee of this Agreement.
Employee further acknowledges that he has carefully read and fully understands all of the provisions of this Agreement and is freely elected to sign this Agreement
on the date set forth below. The signed Agreement must be delivered to Travelzoo Inc., Attention: Rachel Barnett, Esq., at rbarnett@travelzoo.com. If Employee
fails to sign and return this Agreement within the time allowed, it shall not be effective or enforceable and Employee will not receive the Severance Payment
described in Section 2.1. Employee hereby acknowledges that his execution of this Agreement and release is made knowingly and that he has been advised of and
afforded the proper time for consideration of this Agreement and Release.
2.19 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when
taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.
EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS HAD AN ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OF ITS
TERMS AND IS ENTERING INTO IT VOLUNTARILY ON THE DATE SHOWN BELOW HIS NAME. HE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS
AGREEMENT AND UNDERSTANDS ALL OF ITS TERMS INCLUDING THE FULL AND FINAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS SET FORTH ABOVE.
HE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS VOLUNTARILY ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THAT HIS AGREEMENT IS NOT
THE RESULT OF ANY FRAUD, DURESS, COERCION, PRESSURE OR UNDUE INFLUENCE EXERCISED BY OR ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYER,
THAT HE HAS NOT RELIED UPON ANY REPRESENTATION OR STATEMENT, WRITTEN OR ORAL, NOT SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT HE HAS HAD THIS AGREEMENT REVIEWED BY HIS ATTORNEY AND TAX ADVISOR, OR HAS BEEN GIVEN
THE OPPORTUNITY BY EMPLOYER TO DO SO.
TRAVELZOO INC.

Print Name:________________________
Title: ________________________
Christopher Loughlin
Date Signed

Date Signed

EXHIBIT 27
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT
Employer (“Party A”):Travelzoo (Shanghai) Media Co. Limited
Address: Room 102, Building No. 5, No.169, Mengzi Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 200023, China
Employee (“Party B”): Hong, Wei
Identity Card Number: 310103197309093225

Pursuant to the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Labour Contract Law”) and relevant state and provincial/municipal regulations and
in compliance with the principles of lawfulness, fairness, equality, free will, reaching a consensus through negotiations and good faith, the Parties enter into this
Contract.
1. Type and Term of the Contract
Article 1 .

2.

This Contract is a fixed term employment contract with a term of three years, running from June 7, 2014 to June 6, 2017.

Job Description and Place of Work

Article 2 .

Description of Party B’s job: Country Manager, China.
-

Article 3 .
3.

Manage a team of professional staff of production, marketing and sales and execute business strategy leveraging Travelzoo’s successful
business model to ensure long term sustainable growth in China market.
Identify potential new clients and implement an effective sales strategy to build a strong client base.
Execute a sound business plan to grow revenues, acquire advertisers, increase the subscribers and expand the reach of the web sites.
Prepare and regularly assess a suitable marketing plan to raise awareness of the site and increase traffic.
Effectively utilize tracking and reporting systems to monitor growth, and report progress to the corporate group.
Work with the divisional leadership team and collaborate with the firm’s CEO
and CFO to achieve divisional goals.
Become Travelzoo’s spokesperson in China, where appropriate and in coordination with the corporate group.

Party B’s place of work: Primarily based in Shanghai.

Working Hours, and Rest and Leave

Article 4 .

Party B shall work weekly from Monday to Friday.

Article 5 .

Party A shall stringently comply with state regulations on vocation and overtime.
If overtime is genuinely needed for reasons of production or operation, it shall hold consultations with Party B to determine overtime matters.
Party B shall during the Term be entitled to paid leave of absence of 20 Working
Days (in addition to the usual public holidays) in each complete holiday year

1
worked (and pro-rata for part of each holiday year worked), which shall be taken by the Party B at such time

or times as shall be approved by the Party A. Accrued paid leave may be carried forward to the next holiday year up to a maximum of 10
Working Days.
4.

Remuneration & Expenses

Article 6 . As remuneration for her services, Party B shall be entitled to a base salary at the rate of RMB 1,768,000 per calendar year (or such other rate as may
from time to time be agreed in writing).
In addition to the base salary, Party B shall be eligible for a performance bonus of up to a maximum of RMB 547,000 annum based upon
criteria set by Party A from time to time.
Article 7 . Party A shall pay Party B’s wage in full in cash on the last working day of each month.The Salary shall accrue from day to day and be payable by
equal monthly installments in arrears in accordance with the normal payroll practices of Party A, provided that if the employment terminates on
a date before the end of a month, the Salary for that month shall be in proportion to the number of days for which the Party B was employed
that month.
Article 8.

Party B’s contribution to Income Tax and Social Insurance shall be deducted by
Party A from total remuneration.
Party B hereby authorises Party A to deduct from any remuneration accrued and due to him under the terms of this Contract (whether or not
actually paid during the Appointment) or from any pay in lieu of notice:
-

any overpayment of salary or expenses or payment made to the Party B by mistake or through any misrepresentation;

- any undisputed debt presently payable by the Party B to the Party A or any
Group Company; and
-

any Party B’s contribution to pension fund or provident fund as adopted by the Party A from time to time.

Article 9. The Salary shall be reviewed by Party A not less than annually. Such review does not guarantee an increase in Salary. Party A may adjust the Salary
level, payment regulation or Party B’s title and job duties from time to time; under such conditions Party A may review and adjust the total
remuneration for Party B.
Article 10 . If longer working hours or overtime during vacations and public holidays are required by Party A, Party B shall be entitled to compensatory time off
or such payments in lieu.
Article 11 . Party A shall repay to Party B all reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by the Party B in connection with the performance
of the duties of Party B under this Contract, subject to Party B having delivered to the Party A vouchers or evidence of payment of such
expenses as Party A may from time to time require.
Article 12.

5.

Party B shall also be entitled to participate in or receive such benefits under Party
A's employee benefit plans and policies and such other benefits which may be
made available as in effect from time to time and as are provided to similarly situated employees of Party A, subject in each case to the
generally applicable terms and conditions of the plans and policies in question.

Social Insurance

Article 13.

Party A shall enroll Party B in social insurance in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations on social insurance.

Article 14 . If Party B contracts an illness or sustains a non-work related injury, his/her wages, illness subsidy and medical

benefits during sick leave shall be handled in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations.
Article 15. If Party B contracts an occupational disease or sustains a work related injury, his/her wages and occupational injury insurance benefits shall be handled
in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations.
6.

Labor Protection, Working Conditions and Prevention of Occupational Hazards

Article 16 . Party A has established a sound production process procedure, and formulated operational rules, work rules and a work safety and hygiene system and
the standards therefor. If the job could give rise to occupational hazards, Party A shall perform its obligation of informing Party B of the same
and duly carry out the work to prevent such occupational hazards arising in the course of work.
Article 17 . Party A shall provide Party B with the necessary working conditions and a safe and hygienic work environment and shall, in light of the particularities
of the enterprise’s production and operation and in accordance with relevant regulations, issue Party B labor protection articles and heat stroke
prevention and temperature reduction articles.
Article 18 .. Party A shall, based on its own particularities, systematically educate and train Party B in political thought, professional ethics, vocational
technology, work safety and hygiene and relevant rules and regulations, so as to enhance Party B’s level of ideological consciousness and
professional ethics and his/her professional skills.
Party B shall earnestly participate in the necessary education and training organized by Party A.
7.

Performance and Amendment of the Employment Contract

Article 19 . Party A shall provide Party B with an appropriate place of work, working conditions and job as agreed, and punctually pay Party B his/her work
remuneration. Party B shall conscientiously perform his/her work duties and personally complete his/her work tasks specified herein.
Article 20 . The Parties may amend the provisions hereof, if they reach a consensus thereon through consultations, and shall provide for the same in writing.
8.

Termination of the Labour Contract

Article 21 . Without prejudice to any other rights or causes of action available, this Contract can be terminated by either Party A or Party B in accordance with the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Detailed Implementing Rules for the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and relevant state
and municipal regulations and without having to give any good cause on or after the Commencement Date by either:
Party A or B shall be giving to the other party hereto three month's notice in writing, except (a) during the first month of employment, when
either party hereto may terminate this Contract without notice or payment in lieu of notice; and (b) during the second and third months of
employment, when termination will be subject to seven days' notice in writing given by either party hereto; or
Party A or B shall be giving to the other party hereto notice in writing less than that, if any, required by Company provided that the party
serving the notice shall pay to the other party a sum equal to the Salary in respect of that part of the period of notice required by Company
which has not been given to the other party; or
Party A or B shall be making payment to the other party hereto of a sum representing the Salary in lieu of the notice, if any, required by
Company.
Article 22 .. Without prejudice to any other rights or causes of action available to Party A, this Contract shall be subject to immediate termination by Party A by
summary notice in writing without compensation if:
-

Party B shall be guilty of any gross misconduct or willful neglect of her duties hereunder;

-

Party B shall commit any material breach or non-observance or, after having been given warning in writing, any repeated or continued
breach (after receipt of prior notification of the previous breach(es) from the Party A) or non- observance of any of her duties or any of her
express or implied obligations arising from the Appointment or otherwise;

-

Party B shall be guilty of conduct or shall permit or suffer events, which, in the reasonable opinion of the Party A, is likely to bring the
Party A or any Group Company into disrepute;

-

Party B shall commit any act of fraud or dishonesty (whether or not connected with the Appointment) or any act which, in the reasonable
opinion of the Party A, adversely affects her ability properly to carry out her duties;

-

Party B is convicted of a criminal offence (other than an offence which in the reasonable opinion of Party A does not affect her position in
the Party A); or

-

Party B persistently refuses to carry out any lawful order given to him in the course of her employment or persistently fails to diligently
attend to her duties under this Contract.

Article 23 . Upon termination or ending of the Labour Contract, Party A shall issue Party B a proof of termination or ending of the Labour Contract and carry out
for Party B the procedures for the transfer of his/her file and social insurance relationship within
15 days.
Article 24 . Party B shall carry out work handover procedures as agreed by the Parties. If severance pay is to be paid, the same shall be paid after completion of
the work handover procedures.
9.
Supplementary Terms and Special Provisions
Article 25 . Party B’s period of service with Party A shall run from June 7, 2014 to June 6,
2017.
Article 26 .. Party B’s non-compete term shall run from June 7, 2017 to June 6, 2018. Scope of the non-compete restriction: internet media related positions.
10.

Liability for Breach of Contract

Article 27 If Party A violates the Labor Law, Labour Contract Law or other such relevant law in terminating or ending this Contract or if an invalid contract is
concluded due to a reason attributable to Party A, thereby causing damage to Party B, it shall be liable for damages to the extent of the losses
incurred.
Article 28 . If Party B violates the Labor Law, Labour Contract Law or other such relevant law in terminating this Contract or if an invalid contract is concluded
due to a reason attributable to Party B, thereby causing damage to Party A, he/she shall be liable for damages to the extent of the losses
incurred.
Article 29 . If Party B breaches the provision on the service term, the liquidated damages that he/she is required to bear shall be: determined based on the service
term.
Article 30 If Party B breaches the non-compete provision, the liquidated damages that he/she is required to bear shall be: Five Hundred Thousand Yuan
Renminbi.
11.

Handling of Labor Disputes

Article 31 . In the event of a dispute arising from the performance of this Contract, the Parties may apply to Party A’s labor dispute mediation committee for
mediation. If mediation is unsuccessful, an application for arbitration may be made to the labor dispute arbitration commission.

12.

Miscellaneous

Article 32 . For matters not covered herein or if the provisions on labor standards are in conflict with future relevant state or municipal regulations, matters shall
be handled in accordance with relevant regulations.
Article 33 . This Contract is made in two counterparts, of which the Parties shall each hold one counterpart. This Contract shall enter into effect once signed and
sealed by the Parties.
Article 34.

The Appendices to this Contract are as set forth below:
(i)

Non-Disclosure Agreement

(ii) Training Agreement
(iii)

Employee Handbook

EXHIBIT 28
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT
Employer (“Party A”):Travelzoo (Shanghai) Media Co. Limited
Address: Room 102, Building No. 5, No.169, Mengzi Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 200023, China
Employee (“Party B”): Hong, Wei
Identity Card Number: 310103197309093225
Pursuant to the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Labour Contract Law”) and relevant state and provincial/municipal regulations and
in compliance with the principles of lawfulness, fairness, equality, free will, reaching a consensus through negotiations and good faith, the Parties enter into this
Contract.
1.

Type and Term of the Contract

Article 1 .
2.

This Contract is a fixed term employment contract with a term of three years, running
from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2018.

Job Description and Place of Work

Article 2.

Description of Party B’s job: President, Asia Pacific.
Ms. Hong will assume the responsibilities and perform the tasks which are typically associated with the position of a general manager of a
geographic division of a global company. Specifically, but not limited to, she will:
•
•
•
•
•

oversee and develop Travelzoo’s brand and business in China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Japan, Southeast Asia and Australia (referred collectively as
“APAC”);
manage Travelzoo’s APAC businesses in accordance with Travelzoo’s official operating budgets for APAC and worldwide as approved by
Travelzoo Inc.’s board of directors;
work together with the global CEO, the divisional Presidents of Europe and North America, the CFO, and the CTO to develop a strong global
brand and competitive advantage;
contribute in global executive meetings to the discussion and further development of Travelzoo’s strategy and products; and
be Travelzoo’s spokesperson in APAC where appropriate.

Article 3. Party B’s place of work: Primarily based in Shanghai.
3. Working Hours, and Rest and Leave
Article 4 .

Party B shall work weekly from Monday to Friday.

Article 5 .

Party A shall stringently comply with state regulations on vocation and overtime. If overtime is genuinely needed for reasons of production or
operation, it shall hold consultations with Party B to determine overtime matters.
Party B shall during the Term be entitled to paid leave of absence of 20 Working Days (in addition to the usual public holidays) in each complete
holiday year worked (and pro-rata for part of each holiday year worked), which shall be taken by the Party B at such time or times as shall be
approved by the Party A. Accrued paid leave may be carried forward to the next holiday year up to a maximum of 10 Working Days.

4. Remuneration & Expenses
Article 6 .

As remuneration for her services, Party B shall be entitled to a base salary at the rate of RMB 2,300,000 per calendar year (or such other rate as
may from time to time be agreed in writing).

In addition to the base salary, Party B shall be eligible for a performance bonus (“Performance Bonus”) of up to a maximum of RMB 200,000
per quarter based upon the criteria set forth in Exhibit A of this Agreement.
In addition, Party B shall receive a one-time bonus of RMB 1,001,700 to be paid within fourteen (14) days upon signature of this Agreement.
Should Party B request to attend a business graduate program, upon the consent and approval by Party A of the school and program, Party A
agrees to sponsor Party B and pay for the costs of such business graduate program.
Article 7.

Party A shall pay Party B’s wage in full in cash on the last working day of each month. The Salary shall accrue from day to day and be payable
by equal monthly installments in arrears in accordance with the normal payroll practices of Party A, provided that if the employment terminates
on a date before the end of a month, the Salary for that month shall be in proportion to the number of days for which the Party B was employed
that month.

Article 8.

Party B’s contribution to Income Tax and Social Insurance shall be deducted by Party A from total remuneration.
Party B hereby authorizes Party A to deduct from any remuneration accrued and due to him under the terms of this Contract (whether or not
actually paid during the Appointment) or from any pay in lieu of notice:
- any overpayment of salary or expenses or payment made to the Party B by mistake
or through any misrepresentation;
- any undisputed debt presently payable by the Party B to the Party A or any Group
Company; and
- any Party B’s contribution to pension fund or provident fund as adopted by the Party
A from time to time.

Article 9.

The Salary shall be reviewed by Party A not less than annually. Such review does not guarantee an increase in Salary. Party A may adjust the
Salary level, payment regulation or Party B’s title and job duties from time to time; under such conditions Party A may review and adjust the
total remuneration for Party B.

Article 10 .

If longer working hours or overtime during vacations and public holidays are required by Party A, Party B shall be entitled to compensatory time
off or such payments in lieu.

Article 11.

Party A shall repay to Party B all reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by the Party B in connection with the
performance of the duties of Party B under this Contract, subject to Party B having delivered to the Party A vouchers or evidence of payment of
such expenses as Party A may from time to time require.
Party B shall also be entitled to participate in or receive such benefits under Party A's employee benefit plans and policies and such other
benefits which may be made available as in effect from time to time and as are provided to similarly situated employees of Party A, subject in
each case to the generally applicable terms and conditions of the plans and policies in question.

Article 12.

5. Social Insurance
Article 13 .

Party A shall enroll Party B in social insurance in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations on social insurance.

Article 14 .

If Party B contracts an illness or sustains a non-work related injury, his/her wages, illness subsidy and medical benefits during sick leave shall be
handled in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations.

Article 15.

If Party B contracts an occupational disease or sustains a work related injury, his/her wages and occupational injury insurance benefits shall be
handled in accordance with relevant state and municipal regulations.

6. Labor Protection, Working Conditions and Prevention of Occupational Hazards
Article 16.

Party A has established a sound production process procedure, and formulated operational rules, work rules and a work safety and hygiene
system and the standards therefor. If the job could give rise to occupational hazards, Party A shall perform its obligation of informing Party B of
the same and duly carry out the work to prevent such occupational hazards arising in the course of work.

Article 17.

Party A shall provide Party B with the necessary working conditions and a safe and hygienic work environment and shall, in light of the
particularities of the enterprise’s production and operation and in accordance with relevant regulations, issue Party B labor protection articles and
heat stroke prevention and temperature reduction articles.

Article 18.

Party A shall, based on its own particularities, systematically educate and train Party B in political thought, professional ethics, vocational
technology, work safety and hygiene and relevant rules and regulations, so as to enhance Party B’s level of ideological consciousness and
professional ethics and his/her professional skills.
Party B shall earnestly participate in the necessary education and training organized by Party A.

7. Performance and Amendment of the Employment Contract
Article 19.

Party A shall provide Party B with an appropriate place of work, working conditions and job as agreed, and punctually pay Party B her work
remuneration. Party B shall conscientiously perform her work duties and personally complete her work tasks specified herein.

Article 20.

The Parties may amend the provisions hereof, if they reach a consensus thereon through consultations, and shall provide for the same in writing.

8. Termination of the Labour Contract
Article 21 .

Without prejudice to any other rights or causes of action available, this Contract can be terminated by either Party A or Party B in accordance
with the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China , the Detailed Implementing Rules for the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and relevant state and municipal regulations and without having to give any good cause on or after the Commencement Date
by either:
Party B shall be giving to the other party hereto three month's notice in writing, except (a) during the first month of employment, when either
party hereto may terminate this Contract without notice or payment in lieu of notice; and (b) during the second and third months of employment,
when termination will be subject to seven days' notice in writing given by either party hereto; or
Party B shall be giving to the other party hereto notice in writing less than that, if any, required by Company provided that the party serving the
notice shall pay to the other party a sum equal to the Salary in respect of that part of the period of notice required by Company which has not
been given to the other party; or
Party B shall be making payment to the other party hereto of a sum representing the Salary in lieu of the notice, if any, required by Company.

Article 22.

Without prejudice to any other rights or causes of action available to Party A, this Contract shall be subject to immediate termination by Party A
by summary notice in writing without compensation if:
- Party B shall be guilty of any gross misconduct or wilful neglect of her duties
hereunder;
- Party B shall commit any material breach or non-observance or, after having been given warning in writing, any repeated or continued breach
(after receipt of prior notification of the previous breach(es) from the Party A) or non-observance of any of her duties or any of her express or
implied obligations arising from the Appointment or otherwise;

- Party B shall be guilty of conduct or shall permit or suffer events, which, in the reasonable opinion of the Party A, is likely to bring the Party A
or any Group Company into disrepute;
- Party B shall commit any act of fraud or dishonesty (whether or not connected with the Appointment) or any act which, in the reasonable
opinion of the Party A, adversely affects her ability properly to carry out her duties;
- Party B is convicted of a criminal offence (other than an offence which in the reasonable opinion of Party A does not affect her position in the
Party A); or
- Party B persistently refuses to carry out any lawful order given to him in the course of her employment or persistently fails to diligently attend
to her duties under this Contract.
Article 23 .

Upon termination or ending of the Labour Contract, Party A shall issue Party B a proof of termination or ending of the Labour Contract and
carry out for Party B the procedures for the transfer of his/her file and social insurance relationship within 15 days.

Article 24 .

Party B shall carry out work handover procedures as agreed by the Parties. If severance pay is to be paid, the same shall be paid after completion
of the work handover procedures.

9. Supplementary Terms and Special Provisions
Article 25.

Party B’s period of service with Party A shall run from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2018.

Article 26 .

Party B’s non-compete term shall run from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019, unless this Agreement is terminated earlier and the noncompete term shall run for one-year following the date of termination. Scope of the non-compete restriction: internet media related positions.

10. Liability for Breach of Contract
Article 27.

If Party A violates the Labor Law, Labour Contract Law or other such relevant law in terminating or ending this Contract or if an invalid
contract is concluded due to a reason attributable to Party A, thereby causing damage to Party B, it shall be liable for damages to the extent of
the losses incurred.

Article 28.

If Party B violates the Labor Law, Labour Contract Law or other such relevant law in terminating this Contract or if an invalid contract is
concluded due to a reason attributable to Party B, thereby causing damage to Party A, she shall be liable for damages to the extent of the losses
incurred.

Article 29.

If Party B breaches the provision on the service term, the liquidated damages that he/she is required to bear shall be: determined based on the
service term.

Article 30.

If Party B breaches the non-compete provision, the liquidated damages that he/she is required to bear shall be: Five Hundred Thousand Yuan
Renminbi.

11. Handling of Labor Disputes
Article 31 .

In the event of a dispute arising from the performance of this Contract, the Parties may apply to Party A’s labor dispute mediation committee for
mediation. If mediation is unsuccessful, an application for arbitration may be made to the labor dispute arbitration commission.

12. Miscellaneous
Article 32 .

For matters not covered herein or if the provisions on labor standards are in conflict with future relevant state or municipal regulations, matters
shall be handled in accordance with relevant regulations.

Article 33.

This Contract is made in two counterparts, of which the Parties shall each hold one counterpart. This Contract shall enter into effect once signed
and sealed by the Parties.

Article 34.

The Appendices to this Contract are as set forth below:
(i) Non-Disclosure Agreement
(ii) Training Agreement
(iii) Employee Handbook

EMPLOYER (PARTY A)

By:
Title:
Date:

EMPLOYEE (PARTY B)

Vivian Hong

Date:

EXHIBIT A
The following schedule applies for calculating a Performance Bonus. As set forth in Article 2 of the Agreement, APAC consists of Travelzoo in China,
Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, Southeast Asia and Australia. Targets are set in the official operating budget as approved by the board of directors of
Travelzoo Inc.
Criteria

Amount

APAC revenue target for the quarter met AND there are no more than two
Significant Customers AND no Significant Customer accounts for 15% or
more of APAC revenue for the quarter AND Significant Customers
together do not account for more than 25% of APAC revenue.

If actual revenues are
100% or more of the
APAC revenue target,
the bonus is RMB
50,000.

If APAC operating
income is 100% or
APAC operating income target for the quarter met per the official annual more, the bonus is RMB
operating budget.
50,000.

APAC new members target for the quarter met.

If the actual APAC new
members target is met,
the bonus is RMB
50,000.

Discretionary.

Up to RMB 50,000.

Total max. Performance Bonus per quarter.

Up to RMB 200,000.

“Significant Customer” means, for any quarter, a customer that, together with its affiliates, accounts for 10% (round to the nearest 1%) or more of the Company’s
APAC consolidated revenue for the quarter.
Any bonus payments, if applicable, shall be made 45 days following a fiscal quarter of the Company and will be subject to the usual and applicable withholding
and payroll taxes. Party A reserves the right to amend or discontinue the Performance Bonus at any time. Party A shall notify Party B of any changes to the
Performance Bonus in writing. The Global Chief Executive Officer shall determine, in their sole discretion, if the criteria are met and whether, if any, Performance
Bonus shall be paid.

EXHIBIT 29

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made this day of March 7, 2016, by and between Travelzoo Inc. ("Company"), and Michael Stitt ("Optionee").
WHEREAS, Optionee serves as the Company’s President, North America, pursuant to an employment agreement dated September 30, 2015
(the “Employment”); and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to grant to Optionee the option to purchase certain shares of its stock, in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, which such option is intended to be a nonstatutory stock option that is not intended to be an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, it is covenanted and agreed as
follows:
1.
Grant and Terms of Option . Pursuant to action of the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board of Directors”), the Company grants,
effective March 7, 2016 (“Date of Grant”), to Optionee the option to purchase all or any part of One Hundred Thousand (100,000) shares of the common stock of
the Company ("Common Stock"), for a period of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, at the purchase price of $8.55 per share, which is the fair market value of
the Common Stock determined as the latest available closing price on the Date of Grant; provided, however, that the right to exercise such option shall be, and is
hereby, restricted as follows:
(a) No shares may be purchased prior to March 7, 2017. At any time during the term of this option on or after March 7, 2017,
Optionee may purchase up to 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates; that at any time during the term of this option on or after
March 7, 2018, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates; that at any time during the
term of this option on or after March 7, 2019, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates;
and that at any time on or after March 7, 2020, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates,
so that on or after March 7, 2020, during the term hereof, Optionee will have become entitled to purchase the entire number of shares to which this
option relates.
(b) In no event may this option or any part thereof be exercised after the expiration of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, which
shall be the term of the option.
(c) The purchase price of the shares subject to the option may be paid for (i) in cash, (ii) in the discretion of the Board of Directors,
by tender of shares of Common Stock already owned by Optionee, or (iii) in the discretion of the Board of Directors, by such other method as the Board
of Directors may determine.
(d)

The option may not be exercised for a fraction of a share.

(e)

The option may not be exercised if Optionee is no longer employed by the Company subject to the provisions of Section 4 of this

Agreement.
(f)

The option may not be exercised if shareholder approval is not received.

2. Anti-Dilution Provisions . In the event that, during the term of this Agreement, there is any change in the number of shares of outstanding
Common Stock of the Company by reason of stock dividends, recapitalizations, mergers, consolidations, split-ups, combinations or exchanges of shares and the
like, not including any issuances of shares for consideration or capital increases by the Company, the number of shares covered by this option agreement and the
price thereof shall be adjusted, to the same proportionate number of shares and price as in this original agreement.

3. Non-Transferability . Neither the option hereby granted nor any rights thereunder or under this Agreement may be assigned, transferred or
in any manner encumbered except (i) upon the prior written consent of the Company or (ii) by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Any attempted
assignment, transfer, mortgage, pledge or encumbrance except as herein authorized, shall be void and of no effect.
4. Termination of Employment . In the event of the termination of the Employment of Optionee, including upon death or disability,
Optionee’s (or, in the event of death, the legatee or legatees of Optionee under his last will, or his personal representatives or distributees) right to exercise the
option, only to the extent it was vested and he was entitled to exercise it on the date of termination of employment, shall continue for 90 days after such
termination but not after ten (10) years from the Date of Grant. If the Optionee (or, in the event of death, the legatee or legatees of Optionee under his last will, or
his personal
representatives or distributees) does not exercise the option within 90 days following
such termination of Employment, any unexercised vested option shall be null and void.
5. Method of Exercise/Shares Issued on Exercise of Option . The option may be exercised (in whole or in part) at any time during the period
specified in this Agreement, by delivering to the Secretary of the Company not less than 30 days prior to the date of exercise (or such shorter period as the
Company shall approve) (a) a written notice of exercise designating
the number of shares to be purchased, signed by Optionee, and (b) payment of the full amount of
the purchase price of the shares with respect to which the option is exercised. If the written notice of exercise is delivered by mail, or by any other means of
delivery, the date of delivery and the date of exercise shall be the date the written notice is actually received by the Secretary. It is the intention of the Company
that on any exercise of this option it will transfer to Optionee shares of its authorized but unissued stock or transfer treasury shares, or utilize any combination of
treasury shares and authorized but unissued shares, to satisfy its obligations to deliver shares on any exercise hereof. No rights of a shareholder shall exist with
respect to the Common Stock under this option as a result of the mere grant of this option.
6. Board Administration . The Board of Directors or any successor or committee authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the express
terms of this option, shall have plenary authority to interpret any provision of this option and to make any determinations necessary or advisable for the
administration of this option and the exercise of the rights herein granted, and may waive or amend any provisions hereof in any manner not adversely affecting
the rights granted to Optionee by the express terms hereof.
7. Option not an Incentive Stock Option . It is intended that this option shall not be treated as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, or otherwise qualify for any special tax benefits to Optionee.
8. No Contract of Employment . Nothing contained in this Agreement shall
be considered or construed as creating a contract of employment for any specified period of time.
9. Restrictions on Exercise . This option may not be exercised if the issuance of Common Stock upon Optionee’s exercise or the method of
payment of consideration for such Common Stock would constitute a violation of any applicable Federal or state securities law or other applicable law or
regulation. As a condition to the exercise of this option, the Company may require Optionee to make any representations and warranty to the Company as may be
required by any applicable law or regulation.
10. Termination of Option . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this option shall not be exercisable after the expiration of the
term of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, as set forth in Section 1(b) hereof.
11. Withholding upon Exercise . The Company reserves the right to withhold, in accordance with any applicable laws, from any
consideration payable to Optionee any taxes required to be withheld by Federal, state or local law as a result of the grant or exercise of this option. If the amount
of any consideration payable to Optionee is insufficient to pay such taxes or if no consideration is payable to Optionee, upon request of the Company, Optionee
shall pay to the Company in cash an amount sufficient for the Company to satisfy any Federal, state or local tax withholding requirements it may incur as a result
of the grant or exercise of this option.
12.

Severability . Any word, phrase, clause, sentence or other provision herein which violates or is

prohibited by any applicable law, court decree or public policy shall be modified as necessary to avoid the violation or prohibition and so as to make this
Agreement enforceable as fully as possible under applicable law, and if such cannot be so modified, the
same shall be ineffective to the extent of such violation or prohibition without invalidating or
affecting the remaining provisions herein.
13. Non-Waiver of Rights . The Company’s failure to enforce at any time any of the provisions of this agreement or to require at any time
performance by Optionee of any of the provisions hereof shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to affect either the validity of this
agreement, or any part hereof, or the right of the Company thereafter to enforce each and every provision in accordance with the terms of this agreement.
14. Entire Agreement; Amendments . No modification, amendment or waiver of any of the provisions of this agreement shall be effective
unless in writing specifically referring hereto, and signed by the parties hereto. This agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between
Optionee and the Company to the extent that any such agreements or understandings conflict with the terms of this agreement.
15. Assignment . This agreement shall be freely assignable by the Company to and shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the
Company, its successors and assigns and/or any other entity which shall succeed to the business presently being conducted by the Company.
16. Governing Law . To the extent that Federal laws do not otherwise control, all determinations made or actions taken pursuant hereto shall
be governed by the laws of the state of New York, without regard to the conflict of laws rules thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by the undersigned officer pursuant to due
authorization, and Optionee has signed this Agreement to evidence his acceptance of the option herein granted and of the terms hereof, all as of the date hereof.
TRAVELZOO INC.

Ralph Bartel
Title: Director

Michael Stitt
Title: President, North America

EXHIBIT 30
NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made this day of March 7, 2016, by and between Travelzoo Inc. ("Company"), and Richard Singer ("Optionee").
WHEREAS, Optionee serves as the Company’s President, Europe, pursuant to an employment agreement dated October 31, 2011, and
amendments thereto, (the “Employment”); and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to grant to Optionee the option to purchase certain shares of its stock, in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, which such option is intended to be a nonstatutory stock option that is not intended to be an incentive stock option within the meaning of Section 422
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, it is covenanted and agreed as
follows:
1. Grant and Terms of Option . Pursuant to action of the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board of Directors”), the Company grants,
effective March 7, 2016 (“Date of Grant”), to Optionee the option to purchase all or any part of Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares of the common stock of the
Company ("Common Stock"), for a period of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, at the purchase price of $8.55 per share, which is the fair market value of the
Common Stock determined as the latest available closing price on the Date of Grant; provided, however, that the right to exercise such option shall be, and is
hereby, restricted as follows:
(a) No shares may be purchased prior to March 7, 2017. At any time during the term of this option on or after March 7, 2017,
Optionee may purchase up to 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates; that at any time during the term of this option on or after
March 7, 2018, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates; that at any time during the
term of this option on or after March 7, 2019, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates;
and that at any time on or after March 7, 2020, Optionee may purchase up to an additional 25% of the total number of shares to which this option relates,
so that on or after March 7, 2020, during the term hereof, Optionee will have become entitled to purchase the entire number of shares to which this
option relates.
(b) In no event may this option or any part thereof be exercised after the expiration of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, which
shall be the term of the option.
(c) The purchase price of the shares subject to the option may be paid for (i) in cash, (ii) in the discretion of the Board of Directors,
by tender of shares of Common Stock already owned by Optionee, or (iii) in the discretion of the Board of Directors, by such other method as the Board
of Directors may determine.
(d)

The option may not be exercised for a fraction of a share.

(e)

The option may not be exercised if Optionee is no longer employed by the Company subject to the provisions of Section 4 of this

Agreement.
(f)

The option may not be exercised if shareholder approval is not received.

2. Anti-Dilution Provisions . In the event that, during the term of this Agreement, there is any change in the number of shares of outstanding
Common Stock of the Company by reason of stock dividends, recapitalizations, mergers, consolidations, split-ups, combinations or exchanges of shares and the
like, not including any issuances of shares for consideration or capital increases by the Company, the number of shares covered by this option agreement and the
price thereof shall be adjusted, to the same proportionate number of shares and price as in this original agreement.

3. Non-Transferability . Neither the option hereby granted nor any rights thereunder or under this Agreement may be assigned, transferred or
in any manner encumbered except (i) upon the prior written consent of the Company or (ii) by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Any attempted
assignment, transfer, mortgage, pledge or encumbrance except as herein authorized, shall be void and of no effect.
4. Termination of Employment . In the event of the termination of the Employment of Optionee, including upon death or disability,
Optionee’s (or, in the event of death, the legatee or legatees of Optionee under his last will, or his personal representatives or distributees) right to exercise the
option, only to the extent it was vested and he was entitled to exercise it on the date of termination of employment, shall continue for 90 days after such
termination but not after ten (10) years from the Date of Grant. If the Optionee (or, in the event of death, the legatee or legatees of Optionee under his last will, or
his personal representatives or distributees) does not exercise the option within 90 days following such termination of Employment, any unexercised vested option
shall be null and void.
5. Method of Exercise/Shares Issued on Exercise of Option . The option may be exercised (in whole or in part) at any time during the period
specified in this Agreement, by delivering to the Secretary of the Company not less than 30 days prior to the date of exercise (or such shorter period as the
Company shall approve) (a) a written notice of exercise designating
the number of shares to be purchased, signed by Optionee, and (b) payment of the full amount of
the purchase price of the shares with respect to which the option is exercised. If the written notice of exercise is delivered by mail, or by any other means of
delivery, the date of delivery and the date of exercise shall be the date the written notice is actually received by the Secretary. It is the intention of the Company
that on any exercise of this option it will transfer to Optionee shares of its authorized but unissued stock or transfer treasury shares, or utilize any combination of
treasury shares and authorized but unissued shares, to satisfy its obligations to deliver shares on any exercise hereof. No rights of a shareholder shall exist with
respect to the Common Stock under this option as a result of the mere grant of this option.
6. Board Administration . The Board of Directors or any successor or committee authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the express
terms of this option, shall have plenary authority to interpret any provision of this option and to make any determinations necessary or advisable for the
administration of this option and the exercise of the rights herein granted, and may waive or amend any provisions hereof in any manner not adversely affecting
the rights granted to Optionee by the express terms hereof.
7. Option not an Incentive Stock Option . It is intended that this option shall not be treated as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, or otherwise qualify for any special tax benefits to Optionee.
8. No Contract of Employment . Nothing contained in this Agreement shall
be considered or construed as creating a contract of employment for any specified period of time.
9. Restrictions on Exercise . This option may not be exercised if the issuance of Common Stock upon Optionee’s exercise or the method of
payment of consideration for such Common Stock would constitute a violation of any applicable Federal or state securities law or other applicable law or
regulation. As a condition to the exercise of this option, the Company may require Optionee to make any representations and warranty to the Company as may be
required by any applicable law or regulation.
10. Termination of Option . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this option shall not be exercisable after the expiration of the
term of ten (10) years from the Date of Grant, as set forth in Section 1(b) hereof.
11. Withholding upon Exercise . The Company reserves the right to withhold, in accordance with any applicable laws, from any
consideration payable to Optionee any taxes required to be withheld by Federal, state or local law as a result of the grant or exercise of this option. If the amount
of any consideration payable to Optionee is insufficient to pay such taxes or if no consideration is payable to Optionee, upon request of the Company, Optionee
shall pay to the Company in cash an amount sufficient for the Company to satisfy any Federal, state or local tax withholding requirements it may incur as a result
of the grant or exercise of this option.
12. Severability . Any word, phrase, clause, sentence or other provision herein which violates or is prohibited by any applicable law, court
decree or public policy shall be modified as necessary to avoid the violation or

prohibition and so as to make this Agreement enforceable as fully as possible under applicable law, and if such cannot be so modified, the
same shall be ineffective to the extent of such violation or prohibition without invalidating or
affecting the remaining provisions herein.
13. Non-Waiver of Rights . The Company’s failure to enforce at any time any of the provisions of this agreement or to require at any time
performance by Optionee of any of the provisions hereof shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to affect either the validity of this
agreement, or any part hereof, or the right of the Company thereafter to enforce each and every provision in accordance with the terms of this agreement.
14. Entire Agreement; Amendments . No modification, amendment or waiver of any of the provisions of this agreement shall be effective
unless in writing specifically referring hereto, and signed by the parties hereto. This agreement supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between
Optionee and the Company to the extent that any such agreements or understandings conflict with the terms of this agreement.
15. Assignment . This agreement shall be freely assignable by the Company to and shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the
Company, its successors and assigns and/or any other entity which shall succeed to the business presently being conducted by the Company.
16. Governing Law . To the extent that Federal laws do not otherwise control, all determinations made or actions taken pursuant hereto shall
be governed by the laws of the state of New York, without regard to the conflict of laws rules thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by the undersigned officer pursuant to due
authorization, and Optionee has signed this Agreement to evidence his acceptance of the option herein granted and of the terms hereof, all as of the date hereof.
TRAVELZOO INC.

Ralph Bartel
Title: Director

Richard Singer
Title: President, Europe

EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF TRAVELZOO INC.

Subsidiaries

Jurisdiction

Beijing Travelzoo Travel Information Technology Limited

China

Travelzoo (Asia Pacific) Limited

Hong Kong

Travelzoo (Australia) Pty Limited

Australia

Travelzoo (Canada) Inc.

Canada

Travelzoo (China) Limited

Hong Kong

Travelzoo (Europe) Limited

United Kingdom

Travelzoo (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

Travelzoo (Singapore) Pty Limited

Singapore

Travelzoo Kabushiki Kaisha

Japan

Travelzoo Local Inc.

Delaware

Travelzoo Local (Australia) Pty Limited

Australia

Travelzoo Local (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Travelzoo Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-121076 and No. 333-119700) and on Form S-8 (No. 333116093, No. 333-173175, and 333-182934) of Travelzoo Inc. and subsidiaries (Travelzoo) of our report dated March 14, 2016 , with respect to the consolidated
balance sheets of Travelzoo Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2015 , and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , which report appears in the December 31, 2015 annual report on Form 10-K of Travelzoo Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 14, 2016

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Holger Bartel, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Travelzoo Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ HOLGER BARTEL
Holger Bartel
Chairman of the board of directors
and Global CEO
Date: March 14, 2016

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Glen Ceremony, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Travelzoo Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ GLEN CEREMONY
Glen Ceremony
Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 14, 2016

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) of Travelzoo Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2015 , the
undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that (1) this
Report complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and (2) the information contained in this Report
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Date:

March 14, 2016

By: /s/ HOLGER BARTEL
Holger Bartel
Chairman of the board of directors
and Global CEO

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not being filed as part of this Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) of Travelzoo Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2015 , the
undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that (1) this
Report complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and (2) the information contained in this Report
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Date:

March 14, 2016

By: /s/ GLEN CEREMONY
Glen Ceremony
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not being filed as part of this Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

